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A Few Crusted Characters

INTRODUCTION

It is a Saturday afternoon of blue and yellow autumn time,
and the scene is the High Street of a well-known market-town. A
large carrier’s van stands in the court of the White Hart Inn. Upon
the sides of the van it is painted: ‘Burthen, Carrier to Longpuddle.’
These vans, so numerous here, are a respectable transport, pre-
ferred by decent travellers with not much money. The betteramong
them roughly ¢orrespond to the old French diligences'.

This van is timed to leave the town at four in the afternoon
precisely, and it is now half-past three. In a few seconds errand-
boys from the shops begin to arrive with packages, which they throw
into the vehicle, and turn away whistling, and care for the pack-
ages no more. At twenty minutes to four an elderly woman places
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her basket in the van, slowly gets in, takes up a seat inside, and
folds her hands and her lips. She has got her corner for the jour-
ney, though there is as yet no sign of a horse being put in, nor of a
carrier. At the three-quarters, two other women arrive, in whom
the first recognizes the postmistress of Upper Longpuddle and the
registrar’s wife, they recognizing her as the aged groceress of the
same village. At five minutes to the hour there approach Mr Profitt,
the schoolmaster, in a soft hat, and Christopher Twink, the mas-
ter-thatcher. At four o’clock sharp appear the parish clerk and his
wife, the seedsman and his aged father, and the registrar; also Mr
Day, the world-ignored local landscape-painter, an elderly man
who lives in his native place, and has never sold a picture outside
it, though his pretensions to art have been nobly supported by his
fellow-villagers. Their remarkable confidence in his genius has led
them to buy almost all his paintings (at the price of a few shillings
each, it is true) and now every house in the parish has three or four
of those admired productions on its walls.

Burthen, the carrier, is by this time seen near the vehicle;
the horses are put in, the carrier arranges the reins and springs up
into his seat.

‘Is everybody here?’ he asks over his shoulder to the passen-
gers in the van.

As those who were not there could not reply, the van with its
passengers started. It moved slowly till it reached the bridge. The
carrier pulled up suddenly.

‘Bless my soul!” he said, ‘I’ve forgot the curate!”’

All who could do so looked from the little back window of
the van, but the curate was not in sight.

‘Now I wonder where that there man is?’ continued the carrier.

‘Poor man, he ought to have a living at his time of life’.’

‘And he ought to be punctual,’ said the carrier. ““Four o’clock
sharp is my time for starting,” I said to him. And he said, “I’ll be
there.” Now he’s not here, and as a serious old church-minister
he ought to be as good as his word. Perhaps Mr Flaxton knows,
being in the same line of life’?” He turned to the parish clerk.
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‘I was talking a great deal with him, that’s true, half an hour
ago,’ replied the man. ‘But he didn’t say he would be late.’

The discussion was cut off by the appearance round the corner
of the van of rays from the curate’s spectacles, followed by his face
and white whiskers. Nobody reproached him, seeing how he was re-
proaching himself; and he entered breathlessly and took his seat.

‘Now be we all here?’ said the carrier again. They started a
second time, and moved on till they were about three hundred
yards out of the town, and had nearly reached the second bridge,
behind which the road takes a turn.

‘Well, as I’m alive!"’ cried the postmistress from the interior
of the van, looking through the little square back-window along
the road.

‘What?’ said the carrier. ‘Somebody else?’ he asked and
stopped.

‘Ay, sure!” All waited silently, while those who could look out
did so.

‘I just put it to ye, neighbours, can any man keep time in
such circumstances?’ said Burthen. ‘Bain’t we full a’ready?> Who
in the world can the man be?’

‘He’s a gentleman,’ said the schoolmaster. From his posi-
tion he could see the road better than his comrades.

The stranger, who had been holding up his umbrella to at-
tract their attention, was walking forward slowly, now that he found,
that the van had stopped. His clothes were decidedly not of a local
cut, though it was difficult to point out any particular mark of dif-
ference. In his left hand he carried a small leather travelling bag.
As soon as he had come to the van he glanced at the inscription on
its side, as if to assure himself that he had stopped the right ve-
hicle, and asked if they had room.

The carrier replied that though they were pretty full he sup-
posed they could carry one more. So the stranger got in and took
the seat cleared for him. And then the horses made another move,
this time for good, and went along with their burden of fourteen
souls.



“You bain’t one of these parts®, sir?” said the carrier. ‘I could
tell that as far as I could see 'ee.’

‘Yes, I am one of these parts,’ said the stranger. ‘1 was born
at Longpuddle, and lived at Longpuddle, and my father and grand-
father before me,’ said the passenger quietly.

‘Why, to be sure,’ said the aged groceress in the background,
‘it isn’t John Lackland’s son — never — it can’t be — he who went
to foreign parts thirty-five years ago with his wife and family? Yet —
what do | hear? — that’s his father’s voice!’

‘That’s the man,’ replied the stranger. ‘John Lackland was
my father, and 1 am John Lackland’s son. Thirty-five years ago,
when I was a boy of eleven, my parents emigrated across the seas,
taking me and my sister with them. Kytes’s boy Tony was the one
who drove us and our belongings to Casterbridge on the morning
we left: and his was the last Longpuddle face I saw. We sailed the
same week across the ocean, and there we’ve been ever since, and
there I’ve left those I went with — all three.’

‘Alive or dead?’

‘Dead,’ he replied in a low voice. ‘And | have come back to
the old place, having a thought — not a definite intention, but just
a thought — that I should like to return here in a year or two, to
spend the remainder of my days.’

‘Married man, Mr Lackland?’

‘No.’

‘In these rich new countries that we hear of so much, you’ve
got rich with the rest?’

‘[ am not very rich,” Mr Lackland said. ‘Even in new coun-
tries, you know, there are failures. The race is not always to the
swift, nor the battle to the strong; and even if it sometimes is,
you may be neither swift nor strong. However, that’s enough
about me. Now, having answered your questions, you must an-
swer mine. I've come down here entirely to discover what
Longpuddle is looking like, and who are living there. That was
why I preferred a seat in your van to hiring a carriage for driv-
ing across.’

‘Well, as for Longpuddle, we live there much as usual. Old fig-
ures have dropped out o’ their frames, so to speak it’, and new ones
have been put in their places. You mentioned Tony Kytes as having
been the one to drive your family and your goods to Casterbridge in
his father’s wagon when you left. Tony is, [ believe, living still, but not
at Longpuddle. He went away and settled at Lewgate, near Mellstock,
after his marriage. Ah, Tony was a sort 0’ man!’

“His character was not seen when | knew him.’

‘No. But ’twas well enough, as far as that goes — except as to
women. | shall never forget his courting — never!’

The returned villager waited silently, and the carrier went on.

Vocabulary

carrier nepeBO341K, BO3YHUK

errand-boys nocel/IbHbIE

postmistress 3d. XeHa noyrMmerncrepa

registrar 30. IpUXOACKUI NUCapb

master-thatcher KpoBeJIbIIIMK, U3TOTABIUBAIOIINI COJIOMEHHbIC
KpBILIH

reins BOXCKH

curate BUKapuii, MJIaAIIWI TPUXOICKHH CBSLIEHHUK
church-minister cBsiLLIEHHOCIYXUTENb

cut 30. TOKPOM ONEXbl

failure 30. HeynayHMK

courting yxaxuBaHus

Notes

1. diligences — ¢p. IMNMKAHCHI; 3aMpsKEHHBIE JIOLIAbMHU
MHOTOMECTHBIE KPbIThIE (DYProOHbI, UCII0/Ib30BaBILIMECS 115
e peBO3KH TOYThI, MACCAXUPOB U 6araxa 10 pa3sBUTHS CETH
KeJIe3HbIX OPOT U APYTUX BUAOB TPAHCIIOPTA

7



B

&

he ought to have a living at his time of life — B ero roxst
JIABHO yXe mopa 06l UMeTh CBOM COOCTBEHHBIHN ITPUX0/
being in the same line of life — BbI ke ¢ HUM 110 OHOM YacCTH
Well, as I’m alive! — Hy u ny!

Bain’t we full a’ready? — [da u BCce MecTa y Hac Bpole
3aHSATHI.

one of these parts — ponoM U3 3ACIHUX MECT

The race is not always to the swift, nor the battle to the
strong — B roHkax He Bcerna nodexmnaer caMbif OBICTpBIIA,
a B OMTBE caMblii CUJIBHBIA

Old figures have dropped out o’ their frames, so to speak it —
M3 npeXHUX KOe-KOro yKe HeT — BBIHYJIHW, TaK CKa3aTh,
cTaphbie MOPTPETHl U3 paM

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) What was the destination of the van?

2) When was the van timed to leave the town?
3) Why was the carrier angry with the curate?
4) How many people were travelling in the van?
5) What did the last passenger look like?

6) Who recognized the newcomer?

7) Who told the story of Tony Kytes?

Who said these words?

1) TI’ve forgot the curate!

2) Well, as I'm alive!

3) He’sagentleman.

4) 1 am one of these parts.

5) Ah, Tony was a sort 0’ man!

Find in the text the English for:

1) mpeTeH3uM Ha UCKYCCTBO;
2) OTBETUTH OTPULIATEIBHO;
3) nuckyccus Obla MpepBaHa;
4) yyxue Kpasi;

5) TBepmoe HaMEPEHMUE.

Complete the sentences using nouns from the text.

1) The painter had lived all his life in his native

2) The passengers looked from the little back window, but
the curate was not in

3) Asaserious old church-minister, the curate ought to be
asgoodashis

4) The clothes of the stranger were decidedly not of a local

5) Even in new countries there are

Explain in English what these people do.

1) seedsman
2) errand-boy

3) grocer

4) landscape-painter
5) carrier

6) schoolmaster

7) curate

8) master-thatcher

Say why:

1) the villagers bought the pictures of the landscape-
painter.
2) the stranger returned to his native village.



3) the stranger preferred a seat in the van to hiring a carriage.
4) nobody reproached the curate when he appeared.

7 What do you think?

1)  Why and where do you think the parents of the stranger
emigrated? Did they manage to get rich there? Do
people often get rich when they emigrate to other coun-
tries? What are the difficulties of living in a foreign
country?

2) Why did the stranger prefer to spend the remainder of
his days in England? What do you think he hoped to
find there?

3) What do you think of punctuality? Why is it necessary
to be punctual? Is it difficult to be punctual?

8 Agree or disagree with the following statements. Give your
reasons.

1) Any serious person ought to be as good as his word.
2) The race is not always to the swift, nor the battle to the
strong.

Tony Kytes, the Arch-Deceiver

‘I shall never forget Tony’s face. "Twas a little, round, firm,
face, with a spot here and there left by the smallpox, but not enough
to hurt his looks in a woman’s eye. So very serious looking and
unsmiling he was, that young man, that it really seemed as if he
couldn’t laugh at all without great pain to his conscience. And
there was no more sign of a whisker or beard on Tony Kytes’s face
than on the palm of my hand. But he was quite the women’s
favourite, and in return for their likings he loved ’em all.
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‘But in course of time Tony got fixed down to one in par-
ticular, Milly Richards, a nice, light, small, tender little thing; and
it was soon said that they were engaged to be married. One Satur-
day he had been to market to do business for his father, and was
driving home the wagon in the afternoon. When he reached the
foot of the very hill we shall be going over in ten minutes who should
he see waiting for him at the top but Unity Sallet, a handsome girl,
one of the young women he’d been very tender with before he’d
got engaged to Milly.

‘As soon as Tony came up to her she said, “My dear Tony,
will you give me a lift home?”

‘““That I will, darling,” said Tony. *“You don’t suppose I could
refuse ’ee?”

‘She smiled a smile, and up she got, and on drove Tony.

“Tony,” she says, in a sort of tender voice, “why did ye desert
me for that other one? In what is she better than 1? | should have
made ’ee a finer wife, and a more loving one too. Think how long
we’ve known each other — ever since we were children almost —
now haven’t we, Tony?”

““Yes, that we have,” says Tony, struck with the truth of it.

““And you’ve never seen anything in me to complain of, have
ve, Tony? Now tell the truth to me.”

““‘I never have, upon my life,” says Tony. :

*“And — can you say I'm not pretty, Tony? Now look at me!”

‘He let his eyes look at her for a long while. “I really can’t,”
says he. “In fact, I've never seen you were so pretty before!”

““Prettier than she?”

‘What Tony would have said to that nobody knows, but be-
fore he could speak, what should he see ahead, over the hedge past
the turning, but a feather he knew well — the feather in Milly’s
hat — she whom he had been thinking of marrying.

““Unity,” says he, as mild as he could, “here’s Milly com-
ing. She’ll be angry if she sees you riding here with me; and if you
get down she’ll be turning the corner in a moment, and, seeing
you in the road, she’ll know we’ve been coming on together. Now,
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dearest Unity, will ye, to avoid all unpleasantness, will ye lie down
in the back part of the wagon, and let me cover you over with the
tarpaulin till Milly has passed? It will all be done in a minute. Do! —
and I’ll think over what we’ve said; and perhaps I shall put a loving
question to you after all, instead of to Milly. "Tisn’t true that it is
all settled between her and me.”

‘Well, Unity Sallet agreed, and lay down at the back end of
the wagon, and Tony covered her over, so that the wagon seemed
to be empty except but for the loose tarpaulin'; and then he drove
on to meet Milly.

*“My dear Tony!” cried Milly, as he came near. “How long
you’ve been coming home! And I’ve come to meet you as you asked
me to do, and to ride back with you, and talk over our future
home — since you asked me, and I promised.”

““Ay, my dear, I did ask ’ee, now I think of it — but I had
quite forgot it. To ride back with me, did you say, dear Milly?”

““Well, of course! What can I do else? Surely you don’t want
me to walk, now [’ve come all this way?”

““*0O no, no! I was thinking you might be going on to town to
meet your mother. I saw her there — and she looked as if she might
be expecting 'ee.”

““O no; she’s just home. She came across the fields, and so
got back before you.”

““Ah! I didn’t know that,” says Tony. And he had to take her
up beside him.

‘They talked on very pleasantly, and looked at the trees, and
birds, and insects, and at the people at work in the fields, till who
should they see looking out of the upper window of a house that
stood beside the road they were following, but Hannah Jolliver,
another young beauty of the place at that time, and the very first
woman that Tony had fallen in love with — before Milly and be-
fore Unity, in fact — the one that he had almost arranged to marry
instead of Milly. She was a much more dashing girl than Milly
Richards, though he’d not thought much of her lately. The house
Hannah was looking from was her aunt’s.

1"

12

““My dear Milly — my coming wife, as 1 may call ’ee,” says
Tony in his modest way, and not so loud that Unity could overhear, “I
see a young woman looking out of window, who I think may talk to
me. The fact is, Milly, she imagined that I was wishing to marry her,
and since she’s discovered I’ve promised another, and a prettier than
she, I'm rather afraid of her temper if she sees us together. Now, Milly,
would you do me a favour — my coming wife, as I may say?”

‘““Certainly, dearest Tony,” says she.

““Then would ye creep under the empty sacks just here in
the front of the wagon, and hide there out of sight till we’ve passed
the house? She hasn’t seen us yet. You see, we ought to live in
peace and goodwill.”

““] don’t mind, to oblige you, Tony,” Milly said; and though
she didn’t like it, she crept under the tarpaulin just behind the
seat. Unity was at the other end. So they drove on till they got near
the road-side cottage. Hannah had soon seen him coming, and
waited at the window, looking down upon him.

““Well, aren’t you going to be polite enough to ask me to
ride home with you?” she says, seeing that he was driving past with
a nod and a smile.

““Ah, to be sure! What was I thinking of?” said Tony, in a
flutter2. “But you seem as if you was staying at your aunt’s?”

““No, I am not,” she said. “Don’t you see 1 have my bonnet
and jacket on? I have only called to see her on my way home. How
can you be so stupid, Tony?”

““In that case — ah — of course you must come along wi’
me,” says Tony, feeling sweat rising up inside his clothes. He
stopped the horse, and waited till she’d come downstairs, and then
helped her up beside him. He drove on again, his face as long asa
face that was a round one by nature well could be.

‘Hannah looked into his eyes. “This is nice, isn’t it, Tony?”
she says. “I like riding with you.”

“Tony looked back into her eyes. “And I with you,” he said
after a while. The more he looked at her the more he liked her, till
he couldn’t think why he had ever said a word about marriage to
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Milly or Unity while Hannah Jolliver was in question’. So theysat a
little closer and closer, and Tony thought over and over again how
handsome Hannah was. He spoke tenderer and tenderer, and called
her “dear Hannah” in a whisper at last.

““You've settled it with Milly by this time, I suppose,” said she.

*“N — no, not exactly.”

““What? How low you talk, Tony.”

“Yes — I've a kind of hoarseness*. | said, not exactly.”

““I suppose you mean to?” :

“Well, as to that — * His eyes rested on her face, and hers
on his. He wondered how he cotuild have been such a fool as not to
follow up Hannah. “My sweet Hannah!” he bursts out, taking her
hand, not being really able to help it, and forgetting Milly and
Unity, and all the world besides. “Settled it? I don’t think I have!”

‘“Listen!” says Hannah.

““What?” says Tony, letting go her hand. -

*““Surely I heard a little squeak under those sacks! Why, you’ve
been carrying corn, and there’s mice in this wagon, I think!” She
began to pick up her skirts.

““Oh no; 'tis the wheel,” said Tony in an assuring way. “It
goes like that sometimes in dry weather.”

‘“Perhaps it was ... Well, now, to be quite honest, dear Tony,
do you like her better than me? Because — because I do like ’ee,
Tony, to tell the truth; and 1 wouldn’t say no if you asked me —
you know what.” ;

“Tony was so won over by this pretty offering mood of a girl
who had been quite the opposite (Hannah was shy at times) that
he just glanced behind, and then whispered very soft, “I haven’t
quite promised her, and I think I can get out of it, and ask you that
question you speak of.”

‘““Leave Milly? — all to marry me! How delightful!” broke
out Hannah, quite loud, clapping her hands.

‘At this there was a real squeak — an angry squeak, and af-
terward a long moan, as if something had broke its heart, and a
movement of the empty sacks.
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““Something’s there!” said Hannah, starting up.,

““It’s nothing, really,” says Tony, trying to find a way out of
this. “I didn’t tell *ee at first, because I didn’t want to frighten ’ee.
But, Hannah, I’ve really a couple of ferrets in a bag under there,
for rabbiting, and they quarrel sometimes. 1 don’t wish it known,
as *twould be called poaching. Oh, they can’t get out, bless ye —
you are quite safe! And — and — what a fine day it is, isn’t it,
Hannah, for this time of year? Are you going to market next Sat-
urday? How is your aunt now?” And so on, says Tony, to keep her
from talking any more about love in Milly’s hearing.

“Wondering again how he should get out of this ticklish busi-
ness’, he looked about for a chance. Not far from home he saw his
father in a field, holding up his hand as if he wished to speak to Tony.

““Would you mind taking the reins a moment, Hannah,” he
said, “while I go and find out what father wants?”

‘She agreed, and away he hastened into the field, only too
glad to get breathing time®. ‘“Come, come, Tony,” says old Mr
Kytes, as soon as his son was near him, “this won’t do, you know.”

‘““What?” says Tony.

““Why, if you mean to marry Milly Richards, do it. But don’t
go driving about the country with Jolliver’s daughter and making
a scandal.”

““T only asked her — that is, she asked me, to ride home.”

““She? Why, now, if it had been Milly, it would have been
quite proper; but you and Hannah Jolliver going about by your-
selves —

“Milly’s there too, father.”

‘““Milly? Where?”

““Under the corn-sacks! Yes, the truth is, father, 've got a
problem, I’'m afraid! Unity Sallet is there too — yes, at the other
end, under the tarpaulin. All three are in that wagon, and what to
do with em I do not know! The best plan is, as I’ thinking, to speak
out loud and clear to one of ’em before the rest, and that will settle
it. Now which would you marry, father, if you were in my place?”

‘““Whichever of em did not ask to ride with you?”
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““That was Milly. But Milly —

““Then stick to Milly, she’s the best ... But look at that!”

‘His father pointed toward the wagon. “She can’t hold that
horse in. You shouldn’t have left the reins in her hands. Run on
and take the horse’s head, or there’ll be some accident to the girls!”

“Tony’s horse, in fact, in spite of all Hannah’s efforts, had
started on his way, as it was very anxious to get back to the stable
after a long day out. Without another word Tony rushed away from
his father to the horse.

‘It was, of course, Milly who had screamed under the sack-
bags. She had to let off her anger and shame in that way at what
Tony was saying. She moved and turned and what did she see but
. another woman’s foot and white stocking close to her head. It quite
frightened her, because she did not know that Unity Sallet was in
the wagon too. But after her fear was over she decided to get to the
bottom of all this, and she crept and crept under the tarpaulin,
like a snake, when she came face to face with Unity.

“Well, ifthis isn’t awful!” says Milly in a angry whisper to Unity.

«“ *Tig,” says Unity, “to see you hiding in a young man’s
wagon like this!”

““Mind what you are saying!” replied Milly, getting louder.
“I am engaged to be married to him, and haven’t I a right to be

“here? What right have you, I should like to know?”

‘““Don’t you be too sure!” says Unity. “He’s going to have
Hannah, and not you, nor me either; I could hear that.”

“‘Now at these strange voices sounding from under the cloth
Hannah got terrified, and it was just at this time that the horse
moved on. The horse went on, and, coming to the corner, turned
too quick, the wagon turned over and the three girls rolled out into
the road.

“When Tony came up, frightened and breathless, he saw that nei-
ther of his darlings was hurt, beyond a few scratches. But he was rather
alarmed when he heard how they were going on at one another.

‘““Don’t ye quarrel, my dears — don’ ye!” says he, taking off
his hat out of respect to em.
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*“Now I'll tell you the truth, because I ought to,” says Tony,
as soon as he could get heard. “And this is the truth,” says he. “I've
asked Hannah to be mine, and she is willing, and we are going to
get married — ©

“Tony had not noticed that Hannah'’s father was coming up
behind, nor had he noticed that Hannah’s face was beginning to
bleed from the scratch of a bramble. Hannah had seen her father,
and had run to him, crying worse than ever.

““My daughter is not willing, sir!” says Mr. Jolliver hot and
strong. “Are you willing, Hannah? I ask ye to have spirit enough to
refuse him.”

““I have spirit, and I do refuse him!” says Hannah, partly
because her father was there, and partly, too, in an anger because
of the discovery, and the scratch on her face. “I didn’t know that I
was talking to such a false deceiver!”

‘““What, you won’t have me, Hannah?” says Tony, not able
to believe her.

““Never — I would sooner marry no — nobody at all!” she
cried, though with her heart in her throat’. And having said that,
she walked away upon her father’s arm, though hoping he would
ask her again.

‘Tony didn’t know what to say next. Milly was sobbing her
heart out; but as his father had strongly recommended her Tony
was against this idea. So he turned to Unity.

“Well, will you, Unity dear, be mine?” he says.

‘“Take her leavings?® Not I!” says Unity. And away walks
Unity Sallet too, though she looked back when she’d gone some
way, to see if he was following her.

‘So there at last were left Milly and Tony by themselves, she
crying, and Tony looking like a tree struck by lightning.

“Well, Milly,” he says at last, going up to her, “it does seem
that it should be you and I, or nobody. And what must be must be,
I suppose. Hey, Milly?”

““If you like, Tony. You didn’t really mean what you said to
them?”



““Not a word of it!” declares Tony, bringing down his fist
upon his palm.

‘I was not able to go to their wedding, but it was a rare party.
Everybody in Longpuddle was there; you among the rest, I think,
Mr Flaxton?’ The speaker turned to the parish clerk.

‘I was,” said Mr. Flaxton. ‘And that party was the reason of a
very curious change in some other people’s affairs; I mean in Steve
Hardcome'’s and his cousin James’s.’

‘Ah! the Hardcomes,’ said the stranger. ‘How familiar that
name is to me! What of them?’

The clerk cleared his throat and began.

Yocabulary

smallpox ocrna

wagon I10BO3Ka

tarpaulin 6pe3eHT

dashing sipkuii, npusiekateTbHbII
overhear HeYasiHHO yCITBITIIATD
follow up noBoaUTH 10 KOHIIA
squeak nuck, BH3T

ferret xopex

rabbiting oxoTa Ha KpOITUKOB
poaching 6pakoHbepCTBO
stern cTrporui

bramble exxeBuka

Notes

1. but for the loose tarpaulin — kpome cMsTOro 6peseHTa

2.  ina flutter — B cMaTEHUM

3. while Hannah Jolliver was in question — xoria ectb Takas
neBylika, kak XanHa /Ixxonnusep
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I’ve a kind of hoarseness — Y10-T0 s oxpun

get out of this ticklish business — BbInyTaTLCs1 U3 HTOrO
LIEKOTAMUBOIO MOJTOXEHUA

to get breathing time — noaxy4uTH NEPEABILIKY

with her heart in her throat — y Hee niepexBaTU/IO B ropJie
Take her leavings? — ITonGupars uyxue o0benKu?

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) What did Tony Kytes look like?

2) How many girls did he meet?

3) Where did he ask the girls to hide?

4) How did he explain the squeaks to Hannah?

5) Which of the girls did Tony’s father recommend?
6) Why did Hannah and Unity refuse to marry Tony?

Who said these to whom?

1) I should have made ’ee a finer wife, and a more loving
one too.

2) °Tisn’t true that it is all settled between her and me.

3) I was thinking you might be going on to town to meet
your mother.

4) I've really a couple of ferrets in a bag under there, for
rabbiting, and they quarrel sometimes.

5) Task ye to have spirit to refuse him.

Put the sentences in the right order.

1) Hannah hears squeaks.

2) The wagon turns over.

3) Unity lies down at the back of the wagon.
4) Tony takes Hannah up into the wagon.
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5)
6)
7)
8)
9)

Driving home Tony sees Unity.

The girls quarrel.

Tony sees the feather in Milly’s hat.

Hannah’s father makes his daughter refuse Tony.
Muilly creeps under the tarpaulin behind the seat.

10) Tony proposes marriage to Milly.

Find in the text the English for:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

MMOABE3TH IO 1OMA;

BO M30eXaHWe HeTIPUSATHOCTEN;
0KazaTb YCJIYTY;

BBIITYTAaThCA U3 IEKOTIMBOM CUTYAIINH,
no0paThCs 10 CYTH [IeIa.

Fill in the gaps with the prepositions up, to, with, in, off, out.

1)
2)
3)

4)
5)

6)

Tony got fixed down a nice and tender girl.
Tony was struck the truth of Unity’s words.
Tony wondered why he had chosen Milly while Hannah
was ___ question.

Tony wished he had followed
Milly screamed under the sacks letting

and shame.

Milly was sobbing her heart

Hannah.
heranger

Paraphrase the italicized words.

1)
2)

3)

Perhaps 1 shall put a loving question to you, instead of to
Milly.

Tony was alarmed when he heard how the girls were go-
ing at one another.

We ought to live in peace and goodwill.

Imagine that you are:

1)

Unity. Say:
how you got acquainted with Tony.
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1)
2)
3)
4)

why Tony deserted you.

why you asked Tony to give you a lift.

what happened later.

why you refused to marry Tony.

whether you thought that Tony would propose to you
again.

Tony’s father. Say:

what you feel about your son.

whether your son listened to your advice.

what was your reaction when you saw him with Hannah.
which girl you recommended to him and why.

8 What do you think?

)

2)

3)

Why do you think Tony Kytes was a women’s favourite?
Was he polite and attentive to women? Did he treat his
girlfriends with respect? Give your reasons.

What do you feel about Tony? Do you like him? Can
such a man make a faithful husband? Do you know such
people as Tony?

Why do you think the girls agrccd to hide under the
sacks? Did his deception hurt them?

The History of the Hardcomes

‘Yes, Tony’s was the very best wedding-party that ever I was
at. It was on a frosty night in Christmas week, and among the people
invited were these Hardcomes of Climmerston — Steve and
James — cousins, both of them small farmers. With them came,
as a matter of course, their brides, two young women of the
neighbourhood, both very pretty and cheerful.

‘The kitchen was cleared of furniture for dancing. The top
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of the figure was by the large front window of the room, and there
‘were so many couples that you couldn’t see the end of the row at
all, and it was never known exactly how long that dance was.

‘Among those who danced most continually were the two
engaged couples, as was natural to their situation. Each pair was
very well matched, and very unlike the other. James’s bride was
called Emily Darth, and both she and James were gentle, nice, in-
door people, fond of a quiet life. Steve and his future wife, named
Olive Pawle, were different; they were of a more energetic nature,
fond of racketing about and seeing what was going on in the world.
The two couples had arranged to get married on the same day.

‘They danced with such a will as only young people in that
stage of courtship can dance; and it happened that once James
had for his partner Stephen’s bride, Olive, at the same time Stephen
was dancing with James’s Emily. It was noticed that in spite of the
exchange the young men seemed to enjoy the dance no less than
before.

‘After finishing a particularly warming dance with the
changed partners, as I’ve mentioned, the two young men looked
at one another, and in a moment or two went out into the porch
together.

““James,” says Steve, “what were you thinking of when you
were dancing with my Olive?”

“Well,” said James, “perhaps what you were thinking of
when you were dancing with my Emily.”

““1 was thinking,” said Steve, with some hesitation, “that |
wouldn’t mind changing for good and all'!”

““It was what | was feeling too,” said James.

““I willingly agree to it, if you think we could manage it.”

*“So do 1. But what would the girls say?”

““ "Tis my belief,” said Steve, “that they wouldn’t particu-
larly object. Your Emily clung as close to me as if she already be-
longed to me, dear girl.”

““And your Olive to me,” says James. “I could feel her heart
beating like a clock.”
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“Well, they agreed to put it to the girls when they were all
four walking home together. And they did so. When they parted
that night the exchange was decided on — all having been done
under the hot excitement of that evening’s dancing. As they had
decided, so they were married, each one to the other’s original
bride.

“Well, the two couples lived on for a year or two ordinarily
enough, till the time came when these young people began to grow
a little less warm to their wives, as is the rule of married life; and
the two cousins wondered more and more in their hearts what had
made ’em so mad at the last moment to marry crosswise as they
did, when they might have married straight, as was planned by
nature, and as they had fallen in love. James, being a quiet, fire-
side man?, felt at times a wide gap between himself and Olive, his
wife, who loved riding and driving and out door walks; while Steve,
who was always racketing about, had a very domestic wife, who
worked samplers, and made hearthrugs and only drove out with
him to please him.

‘However, they said very little about this mismating to any of
their acquaintances, though sometimes Steve would look at James’s
wife and sigh, and James would look at Steve’s wife and do the
same. Indeed, at last the two men were frank enough towards each
other and admitted their foolishness in upsetting a well-considered
choice on the strength of an hour’s fancy in the wildness of a dance”.
Still, they were reasonable and honest young fellows, and did their
best to make shift with their lot* as they had arranged it, and not to
complain about something that could not be changed.

‘So things remained till one fine summer day they went for
their yearly little outing together, as they had made it their custom
to do for a long while past. This year they chose Budmouth-Regis
as the place to spend their holiday in; and off they went in their
best clothes at nine o’clock in the morning.

‘When they had reached Budmouth-Regis they walked two
and two along the shore. Then they looked at the ships in the
harbour, then had dinner at an inn, and then again walked two
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and two. In the evening they sat on one of the public seats upon
the Esplanade’, and listened to the band; and then they said, “What
shall we do next?”

‘“Of all things,” said Olive (Mrs James Hardcome, that is),
“I should like to row in the bay! We could listen to the music from
the water as well as from here, and have the fun of rowing besides.”

““The very thing; so should 1,” says Stephen. His tastes were
always like hers.

Here the clerk turned to the curate.

‘But you, sir, know the rest of the strange particulars of that
strange evening of their lives better than anybody else. You have
had much of it from their own lips, which I had not; and perhaps
you’ll tell them to the gentleman?’

‘Certainly, if it is wished,’ said the curate. And he took up
the clerk’s story:

‘Stephen’s wife hated the sea, except from land, and couldn’t
bear the thought of going into a boat. James, too, disliked the water,
and said that for his part he would prefer to stay on and listen to the
band in the seat they occupied. The end of the discussion was that
James and his cousin’s wife Emily agreed to remain where they were
sitting and enjoy the music, while they watched the other two hire a
boat and take their water-excursion of half an hour or so.

‘Stephen and Olive were very pleased with this arrangement;
and Emily and James watched them go down to the boatman be-
low and choose one of the little yellow boats. When they were
settled in the boat they waved their hands to the couple watching
them.

““How pretty they look moving on, don’t they?” said Emily
to James. “They both enjoy it. In everything their likings are the
same.” _

““That’s true,” said James. “It is a pity we have parted them.”

“Don’t talk of that, James,” said Emily. “For better or for
worse we decided to do as we did, and there’s an end of it.”

‘They sat on after that without speaking, side by side, and
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the band played as before; the people walked up and down; and
Stephen and Olive got smaller and smaller as they went straight
out to sea.

‘The two on the shore talked on. “ “Twas very curious — our
changing partners at Tony Kytes’s wedding,” Emily declared.
“Which of you two was it that first proposed not to marry as we
were engaged?”

“H’m — I can’t remember at this moment,” says James.
“We talked it over, you know; and no sooner said than done.”

**“Twas the dancing,” said she. “People get quite crazy some-
times in a dance.”

‘““They do,” he agreed.

*“l sometimes think that Olive is in Steve’s mind a good
deal,” says Mrs Stephen; “particularly when she rides past our
window at a gallop on one of those horses ... [ never could do any-
thing of that sort; I could never get over my fear of a horse.”

““And [ am no horseman, though I pretend to be on her ac-
count®,” said James Hardcome. “But isn’t it almost time for them
to turn round to the shore, as the other boating people have done?”

““No doubt they are talking, and don’t think of where they
are going,” suggests Stephen’s wife.

““Perhaps so,” said James. “I didn’t know Steve could row
like that.”

““O yes,” says she. “He often comes here on business, and
generally goes for a row round the bay.”

*“I can hardly see the boat or them,” says James again; “and
it is getting dark.”

“The two in the boat were following same straight course away
from the world of land-livers, as if they wanted to drop over the
sea-edge into space, and never return to earth again.

‘The two on the shore continued to sit on, punctually keep-
ing their agreement to remain on the same spot till the others re-
turned. The Esplanade lamps were lit one by one, the bandsmen
departed and the little boats came back to shore one after another,
but among these Stephen and Olive did not appear.
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““What a time they are!” said Emily. “1 am getting quite cold.
[ did not expect to have to sit so long in the evening air.”

‘James Hardcome gave her his overcoat.

‘““Well, they are sure to be quite close at hand by this time,
though we can’t see ’em. The boats are not all in yet.”

““Shall we walk by the edge of the water,” said she, “to see if
we can discover them?” -

‘They walked a sentry beat’” up and down the sands immedi-
ately opposite the seat; and still the others did not come. James
Hardcome at last went to the boatman.

“All in?” asked James.

““All but one boat,” said the boatman.

‘Again Stephen’s wife and Olive’s husband waited, with more
and more anxiety. But no little yellow boat returned. Was it pos-
sible they could have landed further down the Esplanade?

““Tt may have been done to escape paying,” said the boat-
owner. “But they didn’t look like people who would do that.”

‘James Hardcome knew that he could found no hope on such
a reason as that. But now, remembering what had been discussed
between Steve and himself about their wives from time to time, he
admitted for the first time the possibility that their old tenderness
had been revived by their face-to-face row and that they had landed
at some place further down toward the pier, to be longer alone
together.

*Still he didn’t like this thought, and didn’t mention it to his
companion. He merely said to her, “Let us walk further on.”

“They did so, and walked for a long time between the boat-
stage and the pier. Emily was so tired that James felt it necessary to
conduct her home: there was, too, a small chance that Steve and
Olive had landed in the on the other side of the town and hastened
home.

‘However, he left a direction in the town that a lookout should
be kept®, and, full of misgivings, James and Emily hurried to catch
the last train out of Budmouth-Regis. However, Stephen and Ol-
ive had not entered the village since leaving it in the morning. Emily
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and James Hardcome went to their own houses to have a short
night’s rest, and at daylight the next morning they drove again to
Casterbridge to catch the first Budmouth train.

‘Nothing had been heard of the couple there during this
brief absence. Then some young men said that they had seen such
a man and woman rowing in a small boat. They had sat looking
in each other’s faces as if they were in a dream. Later that day
James learned that the boat had been found drifting bottom up-
ward in the sea. In the evening two bodies were found on the
shore several miles from the town. They were brought to
Budmouth, and inspection confirmed that it was the missing pair.
It was said that they had been found in each other’s arms, his lips
upon hers, their features still had the same calm and dream-like
expression.

‘Nothing was truly known. It had been their destiny to die in
such a way. The two halves, intended by Nature to make the perfect
whole, had failed in that result during their lives, though “in their
death they were not divided.”” Their bodies were brought home,
and buried on one day. I remember that, on looking round the
churchyard while I was reading the service, I observed nearly all
the parish at their funeral.’

‘It was so, sir,” said the clerk.

‘The remaining two,” continued the curate ‘were a more
thoughtful and far-seeing, though less romantic, couple than the
first. They were now both left without a companion, and found
themselves by this accident in a position to fulfil their destiny ac-
cording to Nature’s plan and their own original and calmly-formed
decision. James Hardcome married Emily a year after; and their
marriage proved in every respect a happy one. Hardcome told me
their story almost word for word as | have told it to you.’

‘And are they living in Longpuddle still?” asked the new-
comer.

‘O no, sir,” said the clerk. ‘They are both dead.’

‘ ‘A rather melancholy story,” observed the emigrant, after a
minute’s silence.
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“You don’t know, Mr Lackland, I suppose, what happened
between Andrey Satchel and Jane Vallens and the parson and clerk
of Scrimpton?’ said the master-thatcher. “This story will cheer you

up a little.’
Lackland said that he knew nothing of the history, and should

be happy to hear it, because he remembered the personality of the
man Satchel.

‘Ah no: this Andrey Satchel is the son of the Satchel that you
knew: this one married two or three years ago, and it was at the
time of the wedding that the accident happened.’

Vocabulary

figure 30. Bce TaHLyOLLKE

bride HeBecTa

racket about BecTu Becenbiii 00pa3 XKU3HU
courtship yxaxusanue

clung past om cling 1bHYTb, TPUIMIIATH
Crosswise KpecT-HaKkpecT

sampler 30. BbILLIMBKA

mismating 30. CynpyxXecKue TpeHUs
outing 3aropo/iHasi poryJjika

row IPOTYJIKA Ha JIOJKE; PECTH, KaTaThCs Ha BECENbHOM JIOAKE
likings npenmoyTeHNs, BKYCHI

revive BOCKpeIIaTh, BO3pPOXKIATh
misgivings He1oOpbIe [TPEAYYBCTBUSA

Notes

1. for good and all — HaBcerna
. fireside man — nomocen
3. admitted their foolishness in upsetting a well-considered choice
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on the strength of an hour’s fancy in the wildness of a dance —
MIPU3HAIIM, YTO CAEJIAJIH TTTYTIOCTh, OTKA3aBIITMCh OT CBOEIO
NpoayMaHHOTO BbuibOpa MO BAUSHUEM MHUMOJIETHOM
MPUXOTH, BOSHHUKILIEH B yrape TaHLla

to make shift with their lot — npumMupuTBCS CO CBOEH YHaCTBIO
Esplanade — scnunanana; mmMpokas yiauia ¢ auiesiMH, yo6-
Hasi [J1s TIPOTYJIOK

on her account — paau Hee

They walked a sentry beat — OHu cTaqu XOAMTh, KaK
MaTpyib

However, he left a direction in the town that a lookout should
be kept — Bce xe oH MONpOCHJI KOTro-TO U3 ropojia CJeAUTh,
HE CTAHET JIM Yero U3BECTHO O JIOIKE

The two halves, intended by Nature to make the perfect whole,
had failed in that result during their lives, though “in their death
they were not divided”. — JIBe no/soBHHBI, U3 KOTOPBIX
MPHUPOIa NIpeAnoiarajia CoCTaBUTh COBEPIIEHHOE LIEIOE, HE
JOCTHUIJIU 3TOTO ITPH XU3HU, XOTHI B CMEPTH CBOEN OCTAIUCH
HEpAa3TyYHHI.

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) Who told the story of the Hardcomes?

2) What did James and Steve Hardcome do for a living?

3) Who were their brides?

4) When and why did they exchange partners?

5) When did the cousins realize that they had made a
mistake?

6) Where did the Hardcomes go for an outing?

7)  What did Olive offer to do?

8) When and where were Steve and Olive found?
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Say whether the statement is true or false. If it is false, give the
right answer.

1) James and Emily were very well matched.

2) Olive was a gentle domestic wife.

3) James and Steve discussed the particulars of their
mismating with all their acquaintances.

4) The Hardcomes did their best to shift with their lot.

5) Olive and Emily went for a row in the bay.

6) James and Emily waited for Olive and Steve the whole
day and at night they returned home to have a short rest.

Find in the text the English for:

1) ob6ayMaHHBIH BbIOOD;

2) Yy HUX OJJMHAKOBbIE BKYCHI;

3) ckazaHO — clIeNaHo;

4) TIpeomoneTh CTpax;

5) yoOexarb, HE 3aIU1aTUB;

6) BbIMNOJHUTD NPeAHA3HAYEHHE CYABOBI.

Match the words in two columns according to the text.

1) toupset a) the agreement
2) tokeep b) the choice

3) tofeel C) crosswise

4) toleave d) the story

5) to marry ¢) a direction

6) totake up f) the gap

Complete the chart and describe the main characters.

Emily / pretty domestic / married first Steve then James /
gentle / liked to work samplers

James
Olive
Steve
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Put the verbs in brackets into the correct form.

1) The Hardcomes (come) to the wedding with their
brides.

2) Steve and Olive were active people, fond of (racket)

about.

3) Steve told James he (mind) changing partners
for good and all.

4) The Hardcomes married crosswise and not as they (fall)

in love.

5) James and Emily agreed to remain on the same spot on
the Esplanade till the others (return) I

6) The marriage of James and Emily (prove) a happy
one,

Say why:

1) the Hardcomes changed partners.

2) their marriages were not happy.

3) the Hardcomes did not think of a divorce.

What do you think?

1) What do you think of the Hardcomes’ idea to change
partners? Was it a well-considered decision? Can people
take the most important decisions of their life under the
influence of emotions? Why is it difficult to think things
over at once? Do you take spontaneous decisions?

2) What do you think happened to Steve and Olive at sea?
Was their decision to go for a row a spontaneous one?
Give your reasons.

3) Do you believe in saying “there is no escaping fate™ (ot
Ccyas0bl He yineis)? Give your reasons.

4) What do you think of the way the Hardcomes spent their
time? Do you share any of their likings? What other
hobbies can you suggest for present-day young people?

5) Is it important for a married couple to have the same

likings? Why?



Andrey Satchel and the Parson and Clerk

‘It all arose, you must know, from Andrey being fond of a
drop of drink at that time — though he’s a sober enough man now,
so much the better for him. Jane, his bride, you see, was some-
what older than Andrey; there were also other bodily circum-
stances — ’

(‘Ah, poor thing!’ sighed the women.)

“This made her very anxious to get the thing done before he
changed his mind; and ’twas with a joyful mood that she, with
Andrey and his brother and sister-in-law, went off to church one
November morning to get married.

“The church of Jane’s parish was a mile and more from the
houses, and, as it was a wonderful fine day for the time of year, the
plan was that as soon as they were married they would drive straight
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off to Port Bredy, to see the ships and the sea, instead of coming
back to a meal at the house of the distant relative she lived with,
and moping about there all the afternoon.

‘Well, some people noticed that Andrey walked with rather
wambling steps' to church that morning; the truth of it was that his
nearest neighbour’s child had been christened the day before, and
Andrey, as a good godfather, had stayed all night celebrating the
christening. So that when he started from home in the morning he
had not been in bed at all. The result was, as I say, that when he
and his bride walked up the church to get married, the parson
looked hard at Andrey, and said, very sharp:

““How’s this, my man? You are in liquor.> And so early, too.
I’m ashamed of you!”

““Well, that’s true, sir,” says Andrey. “But I can walk straight
enough for practical purposes. I can walk a chalk line,” he says,
getting hotter, “I think that if you, Parson Billy Toogood, had cel-
ebrated a christening all night so thoroughly as I have done, you
wouldn’t be able to stand at all!”

“This answer made Parson Billy — as they used to call him —
rather hot, because he was a warm-tempered man if provoked,
and he said, very decidedly:

““Well, I cannot marry you in this state; and [ will not! Go
home and get sober!” And he slapped the book together like a
mouse-trap.

“Then the bride burst out crying as if her heart would break.
She feared that she would lose Andrey after all her hard work to
get him. She begged and implored the parson to go on with the
ceremony. But no.

““I won’t do that,” says Mr Toogood. “It is not right and
decent. I am sorry for you, my young woman, but you’d better go
home again. | wonder how you could think of bringing him here
drunk like this!”

““But if — if he don’t come drunk he won’t come at all, sir!”
she says, through her sobs.

““I can’t help that,” says the parson.
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“Then she tried him in another way.

“*Well, then, if you’ll go home, sir, and leave us here, and
come back to the church in an hour or two, I’m sure he will be as
sober as a judge,” she cries. “We’ll stay here, with your permis-
sion; because if he once goes out of this here church unmarried,
nobody will drag him back again!”

“Very well,” says the parson. “I'll give you two hours, and
then I'll return.”

*“And please, sir, lock the door, so that we can’t escape!” says she.

““Yes,” says the parson. '

‘“And let nobody know that we are here.”

“The parson then went away. The witnesses, Andrey’s brother
and brother’s wife, neither one of which cared about Andrey’s mar-
rying Jane, and had come rather against their will, said they couldn’t
wait two hours in that hole of a place, wishing to get home to
Longpuddle before dinner-time. The clerk said there was no diffi-
culty in their doing as they wished. They could go home as if their
brother’s wedding had actually taken place and the married couple
had gone on to Port Bredy as intended. He, the clerk, and any ca-
sual passer-by would act as witnesses when the parson came back.

‘Andrey’s relatives went away, and the clerk shut the church
door and prepared to lock in the couple. The bride went up and
whispered to him.

*“My dear good clerk,” she says, “if we stay here in the
church, somebody may see us through the windows, and find out
what has happened; and it would cause such a talk and scandal
that dear Andrey might try to get out and leave me! Will ye lock us
up in the tower, my dear good clerk?” she says.

“The clerk had no objection to do this to help the poor young
woman, and they brought Andrey into the tower, and the clerk
locked them both up, and then went home, to return at the end of
the two hours.

At home Parson Toogood saw a gentleman in pink and top-boots?
ride past his windows, and suddenly remembered about the hunt that
day. The parson dearly loved the hunt, and he wanted to be there.
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“The clerk was the parson’s groom and gardener and general
manager, and had just got back to his work in the garden when he,
too, saw the hunting man pass, and then saw lots more of them,
and then he saw the dogs, the huntsman, Jim Treadhedge, and I
don’t know who besides. The clerk loved the hunt no less that the
parson, so much that whenever he saw or heard the pack he could
no more rule his feelings. Whatever he was doing — all was forgot-
ten. So he throws down his spade and rushes in to the parson, who
was by this time as eager to go as he. i

“The parson put on his riding-boots and breeches as quick as
he could, and rode off towards the meet, intending to be back in
an hour. The clerk was off after him. When the parson got to the
meet, he found a lot of friends, and was as cheerful as he could be.

‘So, forgetting that he had meant to go back at once, the
parson rides away with the rest of the hunt, all across the ground
that lies between Lippet Wood and Green’s Copse; and as he gal-
loped he looked behind for a moment, and there was the clerk.

‘““Ha, ha, clerk — you here?” he says.

““Yes, sir, here am [,” says the other.

““Fine exercise for the horses!”

‘“Ay, sir — hee hee!” says the clerk.

‘So they went on and on, into Green’s Copse, then across to
Higher Jirton; then on across this very road to Waterson Ridge,
then away towards Yalbury Wood, like the very wind, the clerk close
to the parson, and the parson not far from the dogs. Neither par-
son nor clerk thought one word about the unmarried couple locked
up in the church tower waiting to get joined. |

‘Well, it was quite dark when they entered the parsonage gate.
And as they were so dog-tired, and so anxious about the horses,
never once did they think of the unmarried couple. As soon as the
horses had been stabled and fed, and the parson and clerk had had
a bit and a sup themselves*, they went to bed.

“Next morning when Parson Toogood was at breakfast, think-
ing of the wonderful hunt he’d had the day before, the clerk came
in a hurry to the door and asked to see him.
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*“It has just come into my mind, sir, that we’ve forgot all
about the couple that wanted to be married yesterday!”

“The food dropped from the parson’s mouth as if he’d been
shot. “Bless my soul,” says he, “so we have! How very awkward!”

““It is, sir; very. Perhaps we’ve ruined the woman!”

‘““Ah — | remember! She ought to have been married be-
fore.”

““If anything has happened to her up in that tower, and no
doctor or nurse — “

(“Ah — poor thing!’ sighed the women.)

““ — it will be a trial for us, not to speak of the disgrace to the
Church!”

*““Good God, clerk, don’t drive me wild!” says the parson.
“Why didn’t I marry them, drunk or sober! Have you been to the
church to see what happened to them, or asked in the village?”

““Not I, sir! It only came into my head a moment ago.”

‘Well, the parson jumped up from his breakfast, and they went
off together to the church.

““It is not at all likely that they are there now,” says Mr
Toogood, as they went; “and indeed I hope they are not. I am sure
they have escaped and gone home.”

‘However, they entered the churchyard, and looking up at
the tower, there they saw a little small white face and a little small
hand waving. It was the bride.

“They went on into the church, and unlocked the tower stairs,
and immediately poor Jane and Andrey busted out like starved
mice from a cupboard. Andrey was sober enough now, and his bride
pale and cold, but otherwise as usual.

““What,” says the parson, with a great breath of relief, “you
haven’t been here ever since?”

“Yes, we have, sir!” says the bride, sinking down upon a seat
in her weakness. “Not a morsel, wet or dry, have we had since! It
was impossible to get out without help, and here we’ve stayed!”

““But why didn’t you shout, good souls?” said the parson.

““She didn’t let me,” says Andrey.
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““Because we were so ashamed at what had led to it,” sobs
Jane. “We felt that if it were noised abroad it would cling to us all
our lives®! So we waited and waited, and walked round and round;
but never did you come till now!”

““To my regret!” says the parson. “Now, then, we will soon
get it over.”

‘The clerk called in a second witness — a reliable person —
and soon the knot was tied, and the bride looked smiling and calm.

““Now,” said Parson Toogood, “you two must come to my
house, and have a good lining put to your insides® before you go a
step further.”

“They were very glad of the offer, and went out of the church-
yard by one path while the parson and clerk went out by the other.
It did not attract attention because it was still early. They entered
the rectory as if they’d just come back from their trip to Port Bredy;
and then ate and drank until they could hold no more.

‘It was a long while before the story of what they had gone
through was known, and they themselves laugh over it now; though
what Jane got for her pains was no great bargain’ after all. But she
saved her name.’

“Was that the same Andrey who went to the squire’s house as
one of the Christmas fiddlers?’ asked the seedsman.

‘No, no,” replied Mr Profitt, the schoolmaster. ‘It was his
father. Ay, it was because he was fond of eating and drinking.” Find-
ing that he had the ear of the audience, the schoolmaster contin-
ued without delay.

Vocabulary

sober Tpe3BbIil

mope about ckyyaTth, XaHIPUTh
thoroughly ocHoBaTe/ 1bHO
warm-tempered BCIbL1bYHBBIi

37



groom KOHIOX

pack 30. cBopa roHuyux

meet 30. MeCTO cO0pa OXOTHUKOB
trial cyne®HbIIi Tporiece

bust out BEIOexaTE

morsel Kycouek

Notes

l.  with rather wambling steps — 10BoJIbHO HEeTBEepaoM
ITOXOIKOM

2. You are in liquor. — TblI nbgH.

3. in pink and top-boots — B KpacHOIi KYPTKe U BBICOKMX
OXOTHMYBHX carorax

4. the parson and clerk had had a bit and a sup themselves —
NacTop ¥ MPUYETHUK CAMH HEMHOTO MEPEKYCUIH

5. ifit were noised abroad it would cling to us all out lives — ec1u
ObI 00 3TOM CTaJI0 U3BECTHO, HAC OBl OCJIABWJIM Ha BCIO KU3Hb

6. have a good lining put to your insides — XOPOULIEHBKO
MOAKPENUTLCS

7. no great bargain — He 60r BecTh 4TO

Exercises

1 Answer the questions.

1) What are the main characters of this story?

2) Who accompanied Jane and Andrey to the church?

3) How did Jane and Andrey decide to celebrate their
wedding?

4) Why did the parson refuse to marry Andrey and Jane?

5) When did the parson promise to return to the church?

6) Why did Jane ask the clerk to lock them in the tower?
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7) Where did the parson and the clerk spend the whole day?
8) When did they marry the couple?

Say if the statement is true or false. If it is false, give the right
answer.

1) Jane wanted to get married as soon as possible because
she was expecting a baby.

2) The parson asked Andrey to come back another day.

3) The parson and the clerk passionately loved the hunt

and could not stay away from it.
4) The parson remembered about the unmarried couple

late at night.
5) After the marriage service the clerk invited everyone to

his house for breakfast.

Complete the sentences.

1) Andrey was in liquor on the day of his wedding because

2) Jane asked the parson to leave them in the church be-

cause
3) The witnesses refused to wait two hours longer because

4) The parson and the clerk forgot about the couple locked
up in the church because :

5) Andrey and Jane did not shout for help because

6) The newly-weds agreed to go to the rectory after the
ceremony because '

Find in the text the English for:

1) nmaJTbHUM POACTBEHHHK,
2) MBIIIEIOBKA,;

3) caydaifHbIA IPOXOXU,
4) ycranblif Kak cobaka,
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5) 1Mo30p IS LEPKBH;
6) OpauHbie y3bl OBITH 3aBsI3aHbL.

Match the words and phrases, which have the same meaning.

1) to bust out

2) warm-tempered
3) to rule feelings
4) to mope about
5) to be in liquor

a) to control emotions
b) hungry to death

¢) to feel sad

d) to be drunk

¢) to run away

6) starved f) too emotional
Prove that:
1) Jane was anxious to get married.

2)
3)
4)

S)
6)

Andrey came to the church drunk. -

the parson was a hot-tempered man.

Andrey’s brother and brother’s wife did not care about
Andrey’s marrying Jane.

the parson and the clerk dearly loved the hunt.

the story with his marriage changed Andrey’s life.

Imagine that you are:

1y
2)
3)
4)
)]
1
2)
3)

4)

Andrey’s brother. Say:

why you were against Andrey’s marriage to Jane.
why you agreed to come to the wedding.

why the wedding was delayed.

why you refused to stay for the ceremony.

what Andrey and Jane told you about their wedding.

the parson. Say:

why you refused to marry Andrey and Jane.

why you did not return two hours later as you had promised.
what was your reaction when the clerk reminded you of
the unmarried couple.

whether you felt relief when the ceremony was over.
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8 What do you think?

1) What was more important to Andrey: the christening of
the neighbour’s child or his own marriage? Do you think
that he realized the consequences of his celebration?

2) In what way do you celebrate special occasions (oco-
GenHble codprTust) in your life? People say that if you
don’t want to spoil the celebration you should know
when to stop. Do you agree? Give your reasons.

3) What do you think of the traditional British hunt? Why
is it called sport?

Old Andrey’s Experience as a Musician

‘I was one of the choir-boys at that time, and we and the
players were to appear at the manor-house as usual that Christmas
week, to play and sing in the hall to the squire’s people and visi-
tors. Afterwards we always had a good supper in the servants’ hall.
Andrey knew this was the custom, and meeting us when we were
starting to go, he said to us: “Lord, how I should like to join in that
meal of beef, and turkey, and plum-pudding'! One more or less will
make no difference to the squire. I am too old to pass as a singing
boy, and too bearded to pass as a singing girl; can ye lend me a
fiddle, neighbours, that I may come with ye asa bandsman?”

“Well, we didn’t want to upset him, and lent him an old one,
though Andrey knew no more of music than the Giant of Cernel’;
and armed with the instrument he walked up to the squire’s house
with the others of us at the time appointed, and went in boldly, his
fiddle under his arm. He made himself as natural as he could in
opening the music-books and moving the candles to the best points
for throwing light upon the notes; and all went well till we had played
and sung two or three songs. Then the squire’s mother, a tall old
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lady, who was much interested in church-music, said quite unex-
pectedly to Andrey: “My man, I see you don’t play your instrument
with the rest. How is that?”

‘Every one of the choir was ready to sink into the earth. We
could see that he had fallen into a cold sweat, and how he would
get out of it we did not know.

““I’ve had a misfortune, mem,” he says. “Coming along the
road I fell down and broke my bow.”

*“Oh, I amssorry to hear that,” says she. “Can’t it be mended?”

““Oh no, mem,” says Andrey. “ "Twas broke all to splinters’.”

““I’ll see what I can do for you,” says she.

‘And then it seemed all over, and we played another song.
But no sooner had we got through it than she says to Andrey: “I've
sent up into the attic, where we have some old musical instruments,
and found a bow for you.” And she hands the bow to poor Andrey,
who didn’t even know which end to hold it. “Now we shall have
the full accompaniment,” says she.

‘Andrey’s face looked as if it were made of rotten apple as he
stood in the circle of players in front of his book; because if there
was one person in the parish that everybody was afraid of, it was
this hook-nosed old lady. However, by keeping a little behind the
next man he managed to make pretence of beginning, moving his
bow without letting it touch the strings, so that it looked as if he
were driving into the tune with heart and soul‘. But unfortunately
one of the squire’s visitors noticed that he was holding the fiddle
upside down; and they began to crowd round him, thinking 'twas
some new way of performing.

‘This revealed everything; the squire’s mother had Andrey
turned out of the house as an impostor. The squire declared that
Andrey should have to leave his cottage in two weeks. However,
when we got to the servants’ hall there sat Andrey, who had been
let in at the back door by the orders of the squire’s wife, after being
turned out at the front by the orders of the squire, and nothing
more was heard about his leaving his cottage. But Andrey never
performed in public as a musician after that night.’
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‘] had quite forgotten the old choir, with their instruments,’
said the home-comer. ‘Are they still playing as before?’

‘No,’ said Christopher Twink, the master-thatcher; ‘A young
teetotaler plays the organ in church now, and plays it very well;
though it is not quite such good music as in old times.’

‘Why did they make the change, then?’

‘Well, partly because of fashion, partly because the old mu-
sicians got into a sort of fix. A terrible fix it was too — wasn’t it,
John? I shall never forget it! They lost their character as officers of
the church as complete as if they’d never had any characterat all.”

‘That was very bad for them.’

‘Yes.” The master-thatcher attentively regarded past times
as if they lay about a mile off, and went on.

Vocabulary

choir-boys XopHCTBI, y4aCTHUKH LIEPKOBHOTO X0Opa
manor-house 10M nmoMerunkKa

squire CKBaiip, NOMEILINK

fix HenpUATHAsE UCTOPUA

misfortune 6¢1a, HENPUATHOCTD

bow cMBIHOK

attic yepnak

impostor camMmo3BaHell

teetotaler Tpe3BeHHUK

character 3d. penyraums

Notes

1.  plum-pudding — poXmecTBEHCKHUI MyAUHT; CIIANKOE O/110/10
C U3I0MOM, LyKaTaMW W NPSIHOCTAMU, KOTOpOe IIo
AHTIMICKOW TpaaMuMy nmomaetcsi K obeny Ha PoxnecTBo

2. Giant of Cernel — CepHCKMIT MCTIOJIMH; OTpOMHast hUrypa
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YyesIoBeKa ¢ MYOMHKOM B pyKe IPEBHEro MPOUCXOXICHUS,
MPEeATIONOXUTENbHO H300paxatowas [epkyseca; Belpe3aHa
Ha MEJIOBOM X0J1Me 0K0J10 iepeBHU CepH-Abbac B rpagcTee
HopceTtmup

all to splinters — Ha MeTK¥e KyCOYKHU

as if he were driving into the tune with heart and soul — c1oBHO
OH BCIO ALY BKJIABIBAET B UTPY

Exercises
Answer the questions.

1)  When did the story happen?

2) What was the custom in the squire’s house?

3) Who noticed that Andrey was not playing the fiddle?

4) Where did the old lady find a bow for Andrey?

5) When did the squire’s mother turn Andrey out of the
manor-house?

6) Who permitted Andrey to return to the house?

Complete the sentences.

1) Andrey asked the musicians to take him to the manor-
house because

2) Andrey did not try to pass as a choir-boy because

3) The musicians gave Andrey on old fiddle because

4) Andrey kept behind other musicians because

5) The squire’s mother sent up into the attic because

6) The squire’s visitors thought that Andrey was perform-
ing in a new way because

Find in the text the English for:

1) Tpanuum4;
2) uMHOeHKa;
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3) TPOBATUTHLCS CKBO3b 3EMJIIO;
4) YMHUTH [TO IPUKA3y CKBaipa;
5) Tpe3BEHHHK.

Fill in the gaps with prepositions as, in, into, by.

1) Andrey was too old to pass a singing boy and de-
cided to go a bandsman.

2) Inthe manor-house Andrey got a terrible fix.

3) Andrey was turned out of the house the orders of
the squire.

4) The squire’s wife allowed to let him at the back
door.

5) Since that incident Andrey never performed
public.

Prove that:

1) Andrey knew nothing about music.

2) the performance in the manor-house was followed by a
good supper.

3) at first Andrey managed to look as a real musician.

4) the squire’s mother was interested in church-music.

5) Andrey was afraid of the squire’s mother.

Do you agree with the statements? Give your reasons.

1) Andrey did not manage topassasa musician because of

bad luck.
2) The squire did not like to argue with his wife.
3) Andrey finally got what he wanted.

What do you think?

1) What do you feel about old Andrey? Do you think that
he was a resourceful (n306peTaTenbHBIi) man?
2) Why do you think the squire’s wife let Andrey in the
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house? Did she feel sorry for him or did she want to
challenge (ocrioputb) her mother-in-law’s decision?
Why didn’t she defend him in the hall?

3) Why do you think people pretend? Do they always man-
age to get what they want?

4) What were the conclusions Andrey made after the inci-
dent? Do we often keep promises that we make to our-
selves? Give you reasons.

Absent-Mindedness in a Parish Choir

‘It happened on Sunday after Christmas — the last Sunday
ever they played.in Longpuddle church gallery, as it turned out,
though they didn’t know it then. As you may know, sir, the players
formed a very good band. There was Nicholas Puddingcome, the
leader, with the first fiddle; there was Timothy Thomas, the bass-
viol man; John Biles, the tenor fiddler': Daniel Hornhead, with
the serpent?; Robert Dowdle, with the clarionet; and Mr Nicks,
with the oboe — all sound and powerful musicians. For that rea-
son they were very much in demand during Christmas week for
dancing parties; for they could play a jig or a hornpipe out of hand?
as well as ever they could play a psalm.

‘Well, this Christmas they’d been out to one party after an-
other every night, and had got next to no sleep at all. Then came
the Sunday after Christmas, their fatal day. It was so cold that
year that they could hardly sit in the gallery. The congregation
down in the church had a stove to keep off the frost, but the play-
ers in the gallery had nothing at all. So Nicholas said at morning
service, when it was freezing an inch an hour®, “I won’t stand this
weather no longer: this afternoon we’ll have something in our
insides to make us warm, if it cost a king’s ransom®.”
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‘So he brought a gallon of hot brandy and beer, ready mixed,
to church with him in the afternoon, and by keeping the jar well
wrapped up in Timothy Thomas’s bass-viol bag it kept drinkably
warm till they wanted it. When they’d had the last pull they felt
quite comfortable and warm, and as the sermon went on — most
unfortunately for them it was a long one that afternoon — they fell
asleep, every man jack of them®.

‘It was a very dark afternoon, and by the end of the sermon
all you could see of the inside of the church were the parson’s two
candles alongside of him in the pulpit. The sermon had ended at
last, but the choir did not play the necessary tune, and the people
began to turn their heads to learn the reason why, and then Levi
Limpet, a boy who sat in the gallery, nudged Timothy and Nicho-
las, and said, “Begin! Begin!”

“Hey? What?” says Nicholas, confused. The church was very
dark and he thought that he was at the party they had played at all
the night before, and he started to play a cheerful jig. The rest of
the band, being in the same state of mind and nothing doubting,
followed their leader with all their strength, according to custom.
Then Nicholas, seeing nobody moved, shouted out (in his usual
commanding way at dances when the dancers didn’t know the fig-
ures), “Top couples cross hands! And when 1 give a sign, every
man kiss his partner under the mistletoe!”

“The boy Levi was so frightened that he bolted down the gallery
stairs and then home like lightning. The parson’s hair stood on end
when he heard the evil tune raging through the church. He thought
that the choir had gone crazy and held up his hand and said: “Stop,
stop, stop! What’s this?” But they didn’t hear him for the noise of
their own playing, and the more he called the louder they played.

‘Then the people came out of their pews, saying: “What do
they mean by this! We shall be punished!”

‘And the squire came out of his pew, where lots of lords and
ladies visiting at the house were sitting with him, and went and
stood in front of the gallery, and shook his fist in the musicians’
faces, saying, “What! In this church! What!”
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‘And at last they heard him through their playing, and
stopped.

““Never such an insulting, disgraceful thing — never!” says
the squire, who couldn’t rule his passion.

“Never!” says the parson, who had come down and stood
beside him.

“Not if the Angels of Heaven come down,” says the squire
“shall one of you ever play a note in this church again. It is the
insult to me, and my family, and my visitors, and God that you’ve
done this afternoon!”

“Then the unfortunate church band came to their senses, and
remembered where they were; and it was a sight to see Nicholas
Puddingcome and Timothy Thomas and John Biles creep down
the gallery stairs with their fiddles under their arms, and poor
Daniel Hornhead with his serpent, and Robert Dowdle with his
clarionet; and out they went. The parson might have forgiven them
when he learned the truth of it, but the squire refused. That very
week he sent for a barrel-organ that could play twenty-two new
psalm-tunes. He found a really respectable man to play the in-
strument though you could play nothing but psalm-tunes. And the
old players played no more.’

‘And, of course, my old acquaintance, Mrs Winter, who al-
ways seemed to have something on her mind, is dead and gone?’
said the home-comer, after a long silence.

“Yes, she’sbeen dead at least twenty-five years,” said the aged
groceress. ‘I remember Mrs Winter very well. You knew what it
was upon her mind, sir, that gave her that sad look, I suppose?’

‘It had something to do with her son, I think 1 once was told.
But I was too young to know particulars.’

The groceress sighed.

“Yes,” she said, ‘it had all to do with her son.’ Finding that
the van was still in a listening mood, she spoke on.
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Vocabulary

pass-viol BUO1OHYE B

jig xura (CTapMHHBIH aHTJIMACKUNA BeCEbIN TaHell)
hornpipe xopHnaiin (aHTIMICKWIT MATPOCCKUI TaHell)
next to nouTu

pull 30. rnorok

Sermon IMporoBelb

nudge clleTKa NMOATAIKUBATb JIOKTEM

pew LIepKOBHas CKaMbsl C BBICOKOH CITUHKOM
barrel-organ miapmanka

Notes

1.  tenor fiddler — BTOpas ckpuIika

2. serpent — CEPIICHT; CTAPUHHBINA TYXOBOW MY3bIKaJlbHbIH
MHCTPYMEHT U30THYTOM 3MEeBUIAHOMN (DOPMBI

3.  out of hand — >kcripomToM

4. when it was freezing an inch an hour — xoraa Mopo3 G5Bl
OCODEHHO CHJIBHBIM

5. ifit cost a king’s ransom — 4yero ObI HaM 3TO HU CTOMIIO

6.  every man jack of them — Bce 10 ennMHOro

7. every man kiss his partner under the mistletoe — rycts KaxmpIii
MTOLIE/TYET CBOIO Iapy noja omenoii (ITo anrmitickoMy Hapoa-
HOMY 00BbIYal0, My>XUMHA UMEET TIPABO IMOLIE/IOBATH 1€ BYLIIKY,
€C/IM OHU BIBOEM OKaXKYTCS 1O BETKOH OMeJIbl, KOTOPYIO Ha
PoxnectBo BemaroT rae-Huoyab B KOMHATe. )

Exercises

1 Answer the questions.

1) Who are the main characters of this story?
2)  What instruments did the musicians play?
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3) What was the weather like that Sunday morning?

4) What did Nicholas decide to do in the afternoon?
5) How did they keep the drink warm?

6) What kind of tune did the band play?

7) What was the reaction of the parson and the squire?

Complete the sentences.

1) The musicians were much in demand during Christmas
week for dancing parties because
2) The congregation did not suffer from the frost because

3) Nicholasbrought brandy and beer to the church because

4) The musicians fell asleep during the service because

5) Nicholas began to play the jig because
6) The boy Levi ran home frightened because
7) The squire bought a barrel-organ for the church because

Find in the text the English for:

1) 3KCIpOMTOM;

2) Tmevka;

3) ymacTtopa BOJOCHI BCTAIH ABIOOM;
4) ockopbieHue;

5) 3HaTh NOAPOOHOCTH.

Fill in the gaps with the words from the box.

passion demand figure lightning
senses ransom  frost  hand

1) The band came to their when they heard the
squire.
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2) The players had no other way to keep off the as
to warm themselves from inside.

3) The musicians could play any tune out of

4) The boy was frightened by merry music and ran home
like ;

5) An experienced band was always in for dancing
parties.

6) The frozen men wanted to have a warm drink even if it
cost them a king’s

7) The leader of the band reminded the dancing pairs nec-
essary

8) The squire was too angry to rule his

Say in a different way.

1) aking’s ransom

2) it was freezing an inch an hour
3) outof hand

4) congregation

5) every man jack of them

Prove that:

1) the musicians were very much in demand for dancing
parties. '

2) Sunday after Christmas was a fatal day for the band.

3) the squire felt deeply insulted by this incident.

Imagine that you are:

®  the leader of the band. Say:

1) what instrument you play.

2) how you managed to play at the parties and in the
church.

3) why you brought brandy and beer to church on fatal
Sunday.
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4) why you fell asleep.

5) why you thought that it was the party.

6) when you realized that you had made a terrible mistake.

7) what you felt when you were forbidden to play in the
church.

8) what you do for your living now.

® the parson. Say:

1) why you invited this band to play in your church.

2) why it was cold in the church.

3) how you kept the congregation off the frost.

4) why you did not care about the musicians.

5) what you felt when you heard a merry jig in the church.
6) how you tried to stop the music.

7) what you did when you learned the reason of this incident.
8) what you think of the barrel-organ.

8 What do you think?

1) Why do you think the musicians played both in church
and at the dancing parties? Was it easy to combine two
things?

2) The players got into trouble because they kept them-
selves warm with liquor. What other ways to keep warm
can you name?

3) Why do you think the squire did not forgive the band?
Give your reasons.

The Winters and the Palmleys

“There were two women in the parish when [ was a child,
who were rivals in good looks. In consequence of this they were at
daggers-drawn', and they did not love each other any better when
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one of them won the other’s lover away from her and married him.
He was a young man of the name of Winter, and soon they had a
son.

‘The other woman did not marry for many years: but when
she was about thirty a quiet man named Palmley asked her to be
his wife, and she accepted him. She had a son also, who was, of
course, nine or ten years younger than the son of the first. The
child proved to be of rather weak intellect, though his mother loved
him as the apple of her eye’.

‘This woman’s husband died when the child was eight years
old, and left his widow and boy in poverty. Her former rival, also a
widow now, but fairly well provided for, offered for pity’s sake to
take the child as errand-boy, small as he was. Her own son, Jack
was seventeen then. Her poor neighbour had to let the child go
there. And little Palmley went to the richer woman’s house.

‘Well, in some way or other — how, it was never exactly
known — the thriving woman, Mrs Winter, sent the little boy with
a message to the next village one December day, much against his
will. It was getting dark, and the child prayed to be allowed not to
go, because he would be afraid coming home. But the mistress
insisted, more out of thoughtlessness than cruelty, and the child
went. On his way back he had to pass through Yalbury Wood, and
something came out from behind a tree and frightened him to
death. The child was quite ruined by it; he became an idiot, and
soon died.

‘Then the other woman had nothing left to live for, and vowed.
vengeance against that rival who had first won away her lover, and
now had been the cause of her loss. Mrs Winter certainly didn’t do
it on purpose, but when it happened, she was not upset. Whatever
vengeance poor Mrs Palmley felt, she had no opportunity of car-
rying it out. She lead a lonely life, and then a year after the death
of the child, Mrs Palmley’s niece, who had been born in the city
of Exonbury, came to live with her.

‘This young woman — Miss Harriet Palmley — was a proud
and handsome girl, very well brought up, and more stylish and
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genteel than the people of our village. She regarded herselfas much
above Mrs Winter and her son in position as Mrs Winter and her
son considered themselves above poor Mrs Palmley. But love is an
unceremonious thing, and what in the world should happen but
that young Jack Winter must fall wildly in love with Harriet Paimley
almost as soon as he saw her.

‘She was better educated than he and did not encourage him.
But Longpuddle was a small world, and the two could not help
seeing a good deal of each other while she was staying there. She
was a disdainful young woman, but she did seem to take a little
pleasure in his attentions.

‘One day when they were picking apples together, he asked
her to marry him. She had not expected anything so practical as
that so early, and did not absolutely refuse him, and accepted some
little presents that he made her.

‘But he saw that in her eyes he was a simple village lad, and
he felt that he must do something bold to win her. So he said one
day, “I am going away, to try to get into a better position than I can
get here.” In two or three weeks he wished her goodbye, and went
away to Monksbury, to work at a farm, with a view to start as a
farmer himself; and from there he wrote regularly to her, as if their
marriage were an understood thing.

‘Harriet liked the young man’s presents and the admiration
of his eyes; but on paper he was less attractive to her. Jack Winter’s
performances in the shape of love-letters jarred her city nerves and
her finer taste, and when she answered one of them, she very strictly
asked him to practise with a pen and spelling-book if he wished to
please her. Whether he listened to her request or not nobody knows,
but his letters did not improve. He tried to tell her in his clumsy
way that if her heart were more warm towards him she would not
be so strict about his handwriting and spelling; which indeed was
true enough.

‘Well, in Jack’s absence the weak flame of interest to him in
Harriet’s heart soon sank low, and at last went out altogether. He
wrote and wrote, and begged and prayed her to give a reason for
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her coldness; and then she told him plainly that she was town born,
and he was not educated enough to please her.

‘Jack Winter’s want of good education did not make him
Jess thin-skinned than others; in fact, he was terribly touchy about
anything. Jack replied to her with an angry note, and then she hit
back, telling him how many words he had misspelt in his last let-
ter, and declaring again that this alone was enough for any woman
to throw him over®. Her husband must be an educated man.

‘He bore her rejection of him in silence, but his suffering
was sharp. She communicated with Jack no more; and as his rea-
son for going out into the world had been only to provide a good
home for her, he had no further object in planning such a home
now that she was lost to him. So he gave up the farming occupa-
tion by which he had hoped to make himself a good farmer, and
returned to his mother.

‘As soon as he got back to Longpuddle he found that Harriet
had already had another lover. He was a young road-contractor,
and Jack admitted that his rival was educated and had good man-
ners. Indeed he was a more sensible match for the beauty than
Jack with his poor education and uncertain future. The fact was so
clear to him that he could hardly blame her.

‘One day by accident Jack saw on a piece of paper the hand-
writing of Harriet’s new lover. It was the work of a man accus-
tomed to the ink-bottle and the dictionary. And then it came all of
asudden into Jack’s mind what a contrast the letters of this young
man must make to his own miserable old letters, and how ridicu-
lous they must make his lines appear. He wished he had never writ-
ten to her, and wondered if she had ever kept his poor performances.
Possibly she had kept them, because women often do that, he
thought, and while they were in her hands there was always a chance
that Harriet or her new lover or somebody else could joke over his
honest, stupid love letters.

“The nervous, touchy young man could not bear the thought
int, and decided to ask her to return them. He wrote a short note
In which he made his request, and having finished it he sent it to
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her house. His messenger came back with the answer, by word of
mouth, that Miss Palmley refused to part with what was hers.

‘Jack was insulted, and determined to go for his letters him-
self. He chose a time when he knew she was at home. It was the
first time they had met since she had threw him over. He asked for
his letters with a bitter look at her.

‘At first she said he might have them, and took them out of
the bureau where she kept them. Then she looked at one of the
pages, and suddenly changed her mind. She told him shortly that
his request was a silly one, and slipped the letters into her aunt’s
work-box, which stood open on the table. Then she locked it and
said with a laugh that of course she thought it best to keep them,
since they might be useful to produce as evidence that she had
good reason for refusing to marry him.

‘He said angrily. “Give me those letters!” he said. “They are
mine!” '

““No, they are not,” she replied; “they are mine.”

““I want them back,” says he. “I don’t want to be made a
laughing-stock. You've another young man now! You’ll be show-
ing them to him!”

““Perhaps,” said my lady Harriet, with calm coolness, like
the heartless woman that she was.

“Her manner so maddened him that he made a step towards
the work-box, but she snatched it up, locked it in the bureau, and
turned upon him triumphant. For a moment he seemed to be go-
ing to wrench the key of the bureau out of her hand; but he stopped
himself, and turned round and went away.

‘He was suffering from the sense of being beaten by her. He
imagined how she would tell her new lover or her acquaintances
of this scene with himself, and laugh with them over those poor,
crooked lines of his that he had been so anxious to obtain. Finally
he decided to have the letters back at any price.

‘Late at night he came out of his mother’s house by the back
door, and creeping through the garden hedge went along the field
till he reached the back of her aunt’s house. The moon was full
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and bright. Jack knew the arrangement and position of everything
in Mrs Palmley’s house as well as in his own mother’s. Well, he
took out his pocket-knife, and without noise lifted the leading of
one of the panes*, took out the glass, and putting his hand through
the hole he opened the window and climbed in the room. Every-
one in the house was asleep. Jack went straight to the bureau, so
he said, hoping that it would be unlocked. But it wasn’t. He thought
of Harriet asleep upstairs, caring nothing for him, and of the way
she had made fun of him and his letters. Having advanced so far,
he was not going to return home without the letters. With the help
of his knife Jack burst the weak lock of the bureau; within was the
rosewood work-box just as she had placed it in her hurry to keep it
from him. As he had no time to get the letters out of it then, he
took it under his arm, shut the bureau, and left the house, refixing
the pane of glass in its place.

‘Winter returned to his mother’s house, and as he was dog-
tired, he crept upstairs to bed, hiding the box till he could destroy
its contents. The next morning he carried it to the linhay at the
back of his mother’s house. Here he opened the box, and began
burning one by one the letters that had cost him so much labour to
write and shame to think of. He wanted to return the box to Harriet,
after repairing the slight damage he had caused it by opening it
without a key, with a note — the last she would ever receive from
him — telling her triumphantly that he was not the one to submit
to her whims”.

‘But when he removed the last letter from the box he re-
ceived a shock; under the letters, at the very bottom, lay money —
several golden coins — “It is Harriet’s pocket-money,” he said to
himself; though it was not, but Mrs Palmley’s. At this monent he
heard footsteps close to the linhay. In haste he pushed the box and
what was in it under some firewood which lay in the linhay; but
Jack had been already seen. Two constables entered the linhay,
and seized him with the work-box.

‘Jack was accused of night burglary — though he had never
thought of it — and burglary was a capital offence® in those days.
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His figure had been seen by someone in the moonlight as he came
away from Mrs Palmley’s back window. The box and money were
found in his possession, the lock of the bureau was broken and the
window-pane opened. Jack protested that he had gone only for
his letters. Harriet was the only one who could support his words,
but she acted entirely under the sway of her aunt’. That aunt was
deadly against Jack Winter. Mrs. Palmley’s time had come. Here
was her revenge upon the woman who had first won away her lover,
and next ruined her little son.

‘Harriet did not appear in court at all, and Mrs Palmley sup-
ported the theory of the burglary. Possibly Harriet would have come
for pity’s sake; but Jack was too proud to ask a favour of a girl who
had made fun of his feelings; and he let her alone. The trial was a
short one, and Jack was sentenced to death.

“Young Jack was executed on a cold Saturday in March. The
government allowed his poor mother to take the body of her son
home. All the parish waited at their cottage doors in the evening
for its arrival: 1 remember how, as a very little girl, I stood by my
mother’sside. The next day, Sunday, between the services, we bur-
ied him. For the funeral service the parson chose the text “He was
the only son of his mother, and she was a widow” ... Yes, they were
cruel times!

‘As for Harriet, she and her lover were soon married; but her
life was not happy. She and her husband found that they could not
live comfortably at Longpuddle, by reason of her connection with
Jack’s misfortunes, and they moved to a distant town, and were
no more heard of by us; Mrs Palmley, too, joined them. The dark-
eyed, sad old Mrs Winter, remembered by the emigrant gentle-
man here, was, of course, the Mrs Winter of this story; and I re-
member how lonely she was, how afraid the children were of her,
and how she kept herself as a stranger among us, though she lived
so long.’

‘Longpuddle has had her sad experiences as well as her sunny
ones,’ said Mr Lackland.
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“Yes, yes. But I am thankful to say not many like that, though
good and bad have lived among us.’

‘There was Georgy Crookhill — he was one of the shady sort3,’
observed the registrar, with the manner of a man who would like
to have his say also. |

‘I used to hear what he was as a boy at school.’

‘Well, as he began so he went on. It never got so far as a
hanging matter with him, to be sure; but he had some narrow es-
capes of penal servitude; and once it was a case of the biter bit.”’

Vocabulary

vengeance MecTh
to vow vengeance nokKJsiCTbCsi OTOMCTUTD
encourage rnoouipsiTh
disdainful BbicokoMepHbIit
attentions yxaxxuBaHue
jar pasapaxarb
touchy oOMIYMBLII, pa3sapakUTEIbHbINA
road-contractor 1OpOXHbBINI [MOAPSIIYUK
laughing-stock mocMeruiue
wrench BbIXBaTBIBaTh, BLIPLIBATH
linhay capaii
burglary Kpaxa co B3oMOM
revenge MecThb

Notes

I. atdaggers-drawn — Ha HOXax

2. his mother loved him as the apple of her eye — ero mMathb z1yiiiu

B HEM HeE yasiia

to throw him over — GpocuTh ero

4. lifted the leading of one of the panes — OTKOBBIPHY/T CBHH-
LLOBBII MEPEIJIET OAHOI U3 pam
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39



Lh

o

to submit to her whims — rMoIUYMHATHLCA €€ Kanpu3aMm
capital offence — npecTtyriieHue, Haka3yeMoe CMEPTHOM
Ka3HBIO

under the sway of her aunt — no ykaske CBOei TeTKu

one of the shady sort — reMHas TUYHOCTH

It never got so far as a hanging matter with him, to be sure;
but he had some narrow escapes of penal servitude; and once
it was a case of the biter bit. — IpaBna, Bucenuua emy H4
pa3y He Tpo3HJia, HO OT KaTOPT¥ OH ObiBaJl Ha BOJIOCOK, a
OIHAXIIbI CaM YTOIMI B SIMY, KOTOPYIO PbiJl IPYrOMY.

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) What were the relations between Mrs Winter and Mrs
Palmley?

2) How did Mrs Winter take the death of Mrs Palmley’s son?

3) Who was Harriet?

4) In what way did Jack try to win Harriet’s heart?

5) Why did Harriet throw him over?

6) When did Jack ask Harriet to return his letters?

7) What did Jack do when Harriet refused to give him his
letters back?

8) What was Jack accused of?

Complete the sentences.

1) Mrs Winter and Mrs Palmley were at daggers-drawn
because

2) Mrs Palmley’s son died because

3) Jack went to work at a farm because

4) Jack gave up the farming because

5) Jack asked Harriet to return his letters because

6) Harriet and her husband moved to another town because
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Find in the text the English for:

1) conepHuna; 4) nmouepk;
2) W3 XanocTtu; 5) KpUBBIE CTPOYKH;
3) peuleHHOE [€NO; 6) MecTtb (2 BapuaHTa).

Fill in the gaps with the verbs from the box in the right form.

tosubmit toinsult tojar towrench
toaccept toobtain over  to win away
to throw

1) Mrs Winter the lover of Mrs Palmley.
2) Jack proposed marriage to Harriet, but she did not
his proposal.

3) Jack’s bad spelling Harriet’s fine taste.

4) Harriet Jack because he was not educated
enough to be her husband.

5) Harriet Jack when she refused to give him his
letters back.

6) Jack felt so angry that he seemed to be going to
the key out of Harriet’s hand.

7) Jack decided to his letters at any cost.

8) Jack was not going to to Harriet’s whims.

Choose the appropriate attributes from the box and give character
sketches of:

Mrs Palmley  Jack Winter  Harriet Palmley

poor nice friendly

proud respectful charming
rich heartless disdainful
lonely cruel miserable
weak nervous educated
selfish stylish revengeful
touchy lonely thin-skinned
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Prove that:

1) Jack was wildly in love with Harriet.

2) Harriet regarded herself above Mrs Winter and her son.

3) Jack was touchy about evervthing.

4) the villagers did not forgive Mrs Palmley and Hamet
their connection with Jack’s misfortunes.

Say why:

1) Mrs Palmley vowed vengeance against her rival.

2) Harriet accepted Jack’s attentions and presents.

3) Jack’s spelling did not improve.

4) Harriet kept Jack’s letters.

5) Jack stole the letters.

6) Mrs Palmley supported the theory of burglary.

7) Harriet did not come to court to defend Jack.

What do you think?

1) What kind of girl was Harriet? Did she feel remorse
(packasinue) at what she had done to Jack? Give your
reasons.

2) Was Harriet a match for Jack? Can people of different
background and education have a happy marriage? Do
you know such examples?

3) What do you think of Mrs Palmley’s actions? Did she

realize that she was punishing an innocent person? Do
you think that her revenge made her happy?
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Incident in the Life of Mr George Crookhill

‘One day,’ the registrar continued, ‘Georgy was returning from
the fair in Melchester on a miserable jade, when he saw in front of
him a fine-looking young farmer riding out of the town in the same
direction. He was sitting on a good strong handsome animal. When
they were going up Bissett Hill, Georgy made it his business to over-
take the young farmer. They passed the time of day to one another.
Georgy spoke of the state of the roads, and jogged alongside the
stranger in a very friendly conversation. The farmer had not been
eager to say much to Georgy at first, but by degrees he grew quite
affable too — as friendly as Georgy was toward him. He told
Crookhill that he had been doing business at Melchester fair, and
was going on as far as Shottsford-Forum that night, so as to reach
Casterbridge market the next day. When they came to Woodyates
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Inn they stopped to feed their horses, and agreed to drink together;
with this they got more friendly than ever, and on they went again.
Before they had nearly reached Shottsford it began to rain, and as
they were now passing through the village of Trantridge, and it was
quite dark, Georgy persuaded the young farmer to go no further
that night, because in the rainy weather they could catch a chill>. He
said he had heard that the little inn here was comfortable, and he
meant to stay. At last the young farmer agreed to stay there also; and
they stopped at the inn, and had a good supper together, and tal ked
over their affairs like men who had known each other for a long
time. When it was the hour to go to bed they went upstairs to a
double-bedded room which Georgy Crookhill had asked the land-
lord to let them share, so sociable were they’.

‘Before they fell asleep they talked across the room about
one thing and another, running from this to that till the conversa-
tion turned upon disguises, and changing clothes for particular
purposes. The farmer told Georgy that he had often heard tales of
people doing it; but Crookhill pretended to be very ignorant of all
such tricks; and soon the young farmer fell asleep.

‘Early in the morning, while the tall young farmer was still
asleep, Georgy crept out of his bed by stealth®, and dressed himself
in the farmer’s clothes. In the pockets of his clothes he found the
farmer’s money. Georgy particularly wanted the farmer’s nice clothes
and nice horse, because he had had a little transaction at the fair
which made it desirable that he should not be too easily recognized.
But his desires had their limits: he did not wish to take his young
friend’s money, at any rate more of it than was necessary for paying
his bill. This he took, and leaving the farmer’s purse containing the
rest on the bedroom table, went downstairs. The inn people had not
particularly noticed the faces of their customers, and the one or two
who were up at this hour thought that Georgy was the farmer; so
when he had paid the bill, the farmer’s horse was saddled for him;
and he rode away upon it as if it were his own.

‘About half an hour later the young farmer awoke. He looked
across the room and saw that his friend Georgy had gone away in
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clothes which didn’t belong to him, and had kindly left for him-
self his old ones. The farmer sat up in a deep thought for some
time, in no hurry to give an alarm. “The money, the money is
gone,” he said to himself, “and that’s bad. But so are the clothes.”

‘He then looked upon the table and saw that the money, or
most of it, had been left behind.

‘“Ha, ha, ha!” he cried, and began to dance about the room.
“Ha, ha, ha!” he said again, and made beautiful smiles to himself
in the mirror and in the brass candlestick.

‘When he had dressed himself in Georgy’s clothes and gone
downstairs, he did not seem to mind at all that they took him for
the other; and even when he saw that he had been left a bad horse
for a good one, he did not cry out. They told him his friend had
paid the bill, at which he seemed much pleased, and without wait-
ing for breakfast he mounted Georgy’s horse and rode away, choos-
ing the nearest by-lane in preference to the main road, without
knowing that Georgy had chosen that by-lane too.

‘He had not covered more than two miles in the personal
character’® of Georgy Crookhill when, suddenly, he came upon a
man struggling in the hands of two village constables. It was his
friend Georgy, the borrower of his clothes and horse.

“Help, help, help!” cried the constables. “Assistance in the
name of the Crown!”

‘The young farmer could do nothing but ride forward.
“What’s the matter?” he asked, as coolly as he could.

‘““A deserter — a deserter!” said they. “One who’s to be tried
by court-martial and shot.® He deserted from the Dragoons at
Cheltenham some days ago. The search-party can’t find him any-
where, and we told them if we met him we’d hand him on to them.
The day after he left the barracks he met a respectable farmer and
made him drunk at an inn, and told him what a fine soldier he
would make, and persuaded him to change clothes, to see how
well he would look in a military uniform. This the simple farmer
did; when our deserter said that for a joke he would leave the room
and go to the landlady, to see if she would know him in that dress.
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He never came back, and Farmer Jollice found himselfin soldier’s
clothes, with no money, and, when he got to the stable, his horse
was gone t0o.”

‘“A scoundrel!” says the young man in Georgy’s clothes. “Is
it him? (pointing to Georgy).”

““No, no!” cries Georgy, as innocent as a babe of this matter of
the soldier’s desertion’. “He’s the man! He was wearing Farmer
Jollice’s suit o’ clothes, and he slept in the same room wi’ me, and
brought up the subject of changing clothes, which put it into my head
to dress myself in his suit before he was awake. He’s got on mine!”

““Do you hear him?” says the tall young man to the con-
stables. “Trying to get out of his crime by charging with it the first
innocent man that he sees! No, soldier — that won’t do!”

““No, no! That won’ do!” the constables agreed. “But, thank
God, we’ve got the handcuffs on him at last.”

““Well, I must move on,” said the tall young man. “Good
luck to ye with your prisoner!” And off he went, as fast as his poor
jade would carry him.

‘The constables then, with Georgy handcuffed between
them, and leading the horse, marched off in the other direction,
toward the village where they met the soldiers sent to bring the
deserter back.

““We’ve got your man,” says the constable.

““Where?” says the corporal.

‘““Here, between us,” said the constable. “Only you don’t
recognize him out of his uniform.”

‘The corporal looked at Georgy attentively; then shook his
head and said he was not the deserter.

““But the deserter changed clothes with Farmer Jollice, and
took his horse; and this man has them, do you see!”

““It is not our man,” said the soldiers. “He’s a tall young
fellow with amole on his right cheek, and a military bearing, which
this man does not have.”

] told the two officers of justice that ’twas the other!” cried
Georgy. “But they didn’t believe me.”
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‘And so it became clear that the missing dragoon was the tall
young farmer, and not Georgy Crookhill — a fact which Farmer
Jollice himself confirmed when he arrived on the scene. As Georgy
had only robbed the robber, his punishment was comparatively
light. The deserter from the Dragoons was never found, though he
left Georgy’s horse behind him a few miles ahead, because the
poor animal was more an obstacle than a help.’

The man from abroad seemed to be less interested in the
characters with bad reputation and their strange adventures than
in the ordinary people and the ordinary events. He now for the
first time asked about young persons of the opposite sex — or rather
those who had been young when he left his native land. They asked
him if he remembered Netty Sargent.

‘Netty Sargent — [ do remember her. She was a young woman
living with her uncle when I left, if I am right.’

‘That’s her. She was a one-er, if you like, sir. Not any harm in
her, you know, but up to everything.* You ought to hear how she got
the copyhold® of her house extended. Oughtn’t he, Mr Day?’

‘He ought,’ replied the world-ignored old painter.

“Tell him, Mr Day. Nobody can do it better than you, and
you know the legal part better than some of us.’

Day apologized, and began.

Vocabulary

jade xnsua
overtake qorHare, o060orHaThb
affable npuBeT/1MBbI
disguises nepeoneBaHUs
tricks nponenku
transaction 1eno, cienka
mount 3a0upaTtbc
to mount a horse caauThCsT BepXoM (Ha JIOLLAb)
by-lane mpocenouHas nopora
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come upon cy4aitHO HaTOJIKHYThCS Ha KOrO-JI., YTO-J1.
scoundrel Mep3aBell, HEroaal

charge (with) 06BuHATD (B)

handcuffs HapyuHMKU

mole ponuHKa

Notes

1. They passed the time of day to one another. — OHu mo3opo-
BaJIMCh APYT C APYIOM.

2. catch a chill — npoctyauThCA

3.  so sociable were they — BOT 110 Y€TO OHU K 3TOMY BPEMEHH
yXe NoJApPYXHWIHCh

4. by stealth — ykpankoii

5.  in the personal character — B 00M4uu

6.  One who’s to be tried by court-martial and shot. — Ero OynyT
CYIMTh U PaCCTPEISIIOT.

7.  as innocent as a babe of this matter of the soldier’s deser-
tion — TIpUYACTHBI K 3TOH MCTOPHHU AE3EPTUPCTBA HE
6oblile, YeM HOBOPOXICHHBLI MJIaJCHELL

8.  She was a one-er, if you like, sir. Not any harm in her, you
know, but up to everything. — Hy, 370, 51 Bam cKaxy, cap,
obu1a aesuua!l He To 4ToObl ¢ HEW ObLIO YTO-TO HE TaK,
MPOCTO HUKOTA HeJlb3s1 ObLIO yraflaTh, YTO OHA IPUAYMAET.

9.  copyhold — xKomuroaba; BUI apeHIbl 3¢MJd B CPEHE-
BEKOBOW AHIIMU

Exercises

1 Answer the questions.

1) What sort of a horse did Georgy have?
2) Where was the farmer going?
3) Where did they stay for the night?
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4) What did Georgy steal from the farmer?

5) What was the reaction of the farmer when he saw that
Georgy had taken the clothes and had left the money?

6) Under what circumstances did the farmer meet Georgy
again?

7) Whom did the constables believe?

8) What was the end of the story?

Complete the sentences:

1) Georgy and the farmer shared a room in the inn be-
cause ) ‘

2) The people at the inn did not notice the disguise of
Georgy and the farmer because

3) Georgydid not take the farmer’s money because

4) The farmer did not give the alarm

5) Georgy and the false farmer needed to change clothes
because

6) Georgy’s sentence was comparatively light because

7) The deserter managed to escape because

Find in the text the English for:

1) KoMHarta (HOMep) Ha IBOMX;

2) He cneluTh MTOAHUMATh TPEBOTY;
3) caguTbhCS BEPXOM;

4) HWwmenem kopoins!;

5) WIYTKH paiu;

6) BOeHHasl BbIIIpPaBKa.

Fill in the gaps with the words and word combinations from the box.

trick by stealth
mole in the personal character
jade disguise
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1)

Georgy changed his for the strong horse of the
young farmer.

2) Georgy left the room

3) The false farmer was pleased with the of Georgy.

4) The two fellow-travelners touched the subject of

5) The deserter was a young man with a on his right
cheek. :

6) The deserter managed to escape of Georgy.

Say why:

1) Georgy offered the young farmer to stay in a little inn.

2) the young farmer started conversation about disguises.

3) the deserter was pleased to find his clothes gone and the
money left.

4) Georgy and the false farmer chose the by-lane, and not
the main road.

5) the constables did not believe Georgy’s words.

Agree or disagree.

)]
2)

3)

Georgy said to the constables that the idea of changing
clothes had been put into his head by the farmer.

The deserter proved to be Georgy’s match (IO0CTOMHBIA
COMNEPHUK). .

Georgy was lucky to get a light sentence.

Imagine that you are:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

George Crookhill. Say:

what you do for a living.

what kind of transaction you did at the fair.
where you met the young farmer.

what the young farmer looked like.

what you decided to do.

why your plan failed.
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7) whether your life has changed since this incident.

e farmer Jollice. Say:

1) where and when you met the deserter.

2) how the deserter was dressed.

3) what attracted you in the deserter.

4) why you got drunk.

5) what you felt when you realized that the deserter had
stolen your things.

6) whether you saw the scoundrel again.

Netty Sargent’s Copyhold

‘She continued to live with her uncle, in the lonely house by
the forest, just as at the time you knew her; a tall active young
woman. Ah, how well I remember her black hair and dancing eyes
at that time! Well, she was hardly out of short dresses before the
chaps were after her. Soon she was courted by a young man —
Jasper Cliff was his name — and, though there were better fellows
around her, she chose him. It was Jasper or nobody for her. But he
was a selfish customer', always thinking less of what he was going
to do than of what he was going to get by his doings. Jasper’s eyes
were fixed upon Netty, but his mind was upon her uncle’s house;
though he was fond of her in his way — I admit that.

‘This house, built by her great-great-grandfather, with its
garden and little field, was copyhold — granted upon lives’. Her
uncle’s was the last life upon the property; so that at his death, if
new lives were not admitted and copyhold was not extended’, it would
all fall into the hands of the squire. But it was easy to do so — it
was enough to pay a small “fine”, as it was called, of a few pounds.

‘Netty’s uncle needed to renew the copyhold long before,
because the Squire was very anxious to get hold of the house and
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land; and every Sunday when the old man came into the church
and passed the Squire’s pew, the Squire would say, “A little weaker
in his knees — and the copyhold not extended: ha! ha! I shall be
able to make this land completely clear some day!”

““It was extraordinary, now we look back upon it, that old
Sargent put off the visit to the Squire’s agent’s office with the fine
week after week, saying to himself, “I shall have more time next
market-day than I have now.” One unfortunate fact was that he
didn’t very much like Jasper Cliff; and as Jasper kept urging Netty,
and Netty on that account kept urging her uncle, the old man tried
to postpone the renewal as long as he could, to spite the selfish
young lover®. At last old Mr Sargent fell ill, and then Jasper could
bear it no longer: he produced the fine-money himself, and handed
it to Netty, and spoke to her.

““There’s the money. If you lose the house and ground, [ won’t
marry you! Those who can do such things don’t deserve a husband.”

“The worried girl took the money and went home, and told
her uncle that it was no house no husband for her. Old Mr Sargent
ignored the money, but he did not wish to make her unhappy, since
she was so determined to marry Jasper. So Mr Sargent made a
move at last. The documents were prepared. But as old Sargent
was now too weak to go to the agent’s house, the agent agreed to
bring the documents to the old man’s house for him to sign, and
in return get the fine-money.

‘The agent had promised to come to Mr Sargent’s house for
this purpose at five o’clock, and Netty put the money into her
desk to have it close at hand. While doing this she heard a weak cry
from her uncle, and turning round, saw that he had fallen forward
in his chair. She went and lifted him. She saw that help would be
useless. He was dead.

‘Netty was terrified. The house, garden, and field were lost
and with them a home for herself and her lover. She did not think
that Jasper would carry out his threat made in a moment of impa-
tience; but she trembled, nevertheless. Why could not her uncle
have lived a couple of hours longer, since he had lived so long?
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‘Then an idea came into the head of Netty how to achieve
her purpose in spite of her uncle’s negligence. It was a dull De-
cember afternoon. The first step in her scheme was to lock the
outer door. Then she put her uncle’s small, heavy oak table before
the fire. Then she went to her uncle’s body, sitting in the chair as
he had died, and wheeled the chair, uncle and all, to the table,
placing him with his back toward the window, as if he was bending
over the oak table. On the table she laid the large family Bible open
before him, and placed his forefinger on the page. Then she put
on him his spectacles, so that from behind he appeared for all the
world that he were reading the Bible. Then she unlocked the door
and sat down. When it grew dark she lit a candle, and put it on the
table beside her uncle’s book.

‘When the agent knocked at the door, she nearly jumped.
Then she quickly went to the door.

““] am sorry, sir,” she says, quietly; “my uncle is not so well
tonight, and I’m afraid he can’t see you.”

““H’m! — that’s a pretty tale,” says the agent. “So I’ve come
all this way about this little job for nothing®!”

““0 no, sir — | hope not,” says Netty. “l suppose the busi-
ness of granting the new document can be done just the same?”

‘““Done? Certainly not. He must pay the renewal money, and
sign the paper in my presence.”

‘She hesitated. “Uncle is so nervous about law business,”
says she, “that, as you know, he’s put it off and put it off for years;
and now today really I thought it would drive him out of his mind.
He always was afraid of agents, and people who come for rent.”

“Poor old fellow — I’'m sorry for him. Well, the thing can’t
be done unless | see him and witness his signature.”

““Suppose, sir, that you see him sign, and he doesn’t see you
looking at him? I can tell him that you weren’t strict about the
form of witnessing, and didn’t wish to come in. So if you see him
sign the paper it would be sufficient, would it not?

““If 1 see him sign, of course — that’s all I come for. But how
can I be a witness without his seeing me?”
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““Why, in this way, sir.” She conducted him a few yards to
the left, till they were opposite the window. The agent could see,
at the other end of the room, the back and side of the old man’s
head, and his shoulders and arm, sitting with the book and candle
before him, and his spectacles on his nose, as she had placed him.

‘“He’s reading his Bible, as you see, sir,” she says.

““Yes. I thought he was a careless sort of man in matters of
religion®.”

*“He was always fond of his Bible,” Netty assured him.
“Though I think he’s nodding over it just at this moment. How-
ever, that’s natural in an old man. Now you could stand here and
see him sign, couldn’t you, sir, as he’s such an invalid?”

“Very well,” said the agent, lighting a cigar. “You have ready
the sum you’ll have to pay for the admittance, of course?”

““Yes,” said Netty. “I'll bring it out.” She brought the cash
and handed it to him. The agent counted it and took from his breast
pocket the precious documents and gave one to her to be signed.

““Uncle’s hand is a little paralyzed,” she said. “And as he’s
half asleep, too, I really don’t know what sort of a signature he’ll
be able to make.”

““Doesn’t matter, so that he signs.”

‘“Might I hold his hand?”

*“Ay, hold his hand, my young woman — that will be near
enough.”

‘Netty re-entered the house, and the agent continued smok-
ing outside the window. Now came the ticklish part of Netty’s per-
formance. The agent saw her put the inkstand before her uncle,
and touch his elbow, and speak to him, and put the document on
the table. Then she pointed to show him where to sign and put the
pen into his hand. To hold his hand she artfully stepped behind
him, so that the agent could only see a little bit of his head, and
the hand she held; but he saw the old man’s hand trace his name
on the document. As soon as it was done she came out to the agent
withthe document in her hand. The agent signed as witness by the
light from the window. Then he gave her the copy signed by the
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Squire, and left. Next morning Netty told the neighbours that her
uncle had died in his bed.’

‘She must have undressed him and put him there.’

‘She must. Oh, that girl had a nerve’, I can tell ye! Well, to
cut a long story short, that’s how she got back the house and field
that were, strictly speaking, gone from her; and by getting them,
got her a husband.

‘Two years after they were married he started to beat her —
not hard, you know; just a smack or two, but enough to set her in a
temper®, and tell the neighbours what she had done to win him,
and how she repented of it. When the old Squire was dead, his son
inherited the property. He heard of this story, but Netty was a pretty
young woman, and the Squire’s son was a pretty young man at
that time, and wider-minded than his father; and he never took
any actions against her.’

There was now a pause in the conversation. Soon the van
arrived at the village. When the houses were reached the passen-
gers dropped off one by one, each at his or her own door. The
emigrant arrived at the inn, ate a light supper and went to see the
places he had known so well in his early days. He walked on, look-
ing at this chimney and that old wall, till he came to the church-
vard, which he entered.

The head-stones were easily seen in the moonlight; and now
for the first time Lackland began to feel himself amid the village
community that he had left behind him thirty-five years before.
Here, besides the Sallets, the Darths, the Pawles, the Privetts, the
Sargents, and others of whom he had just heard, were names he
remembered even better than those: the Jickses, and the Crosses,
and the Knights, and the Olds. Some representatives of these fami-
lies were yet among the living; but to him they would all be as
strangers. He realized that in returning to this place he would have
to re-establish himself from the beginning’, precisely as though he
had never known the place, nor it him.

The figure of Mr Lackland was seen at the inn, and in the
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village street, and in the fields for a few days after his arrival, and
then, ghost-like, it silently disappeared. He had told some of the
villagers that he had seen the place and had talked to the people.
As for coming to spend the rest of his days among them, this
purpose would probably never be carried out. It is now nearly

fifteen years since his visit was paid, and his face has not again
been seen.

Yocabulary

grant npeaocTaBIsTh

life 30. 3npaBCTBYIOLIMIA WieH ceMbH

fine wiTpac

put off oTK1aabIBATE

urge NoACTEruBaTh, MOATOHATH

negligence HeOPeXHOCTh, HEMPEAYCMOTPUTEIBHOCTD
forefinger yka3zarte/ibHblii naeir

ticklish TpynHbIit, IEKOTIUBHIT

repent (of smth) packanBaTbcs (B yeM-J1.)

Notes

1. he was a selfish customer — oH GbIT TapeHb cede Ha yMe

2. granted upon lives — mpenocTaBisiics 1Mo A0roBopy B
[10/1b30BaHUE YWICHOB CEMbM 10 UX CMEPTH

3. ifnew lives were not admitted and copyhold was not extended —
€CJTH HaCJIeIHUKH He BKJTIOYEHEI B IOFOBOP U apeH1a 1oMa
HE Mpo/ieHa

4.  to spite the selfish young lover — Ha3/10 KOPBICTOMIOOMBOMY
KEHUXY

5. for nothing — 3psi, 6e3 MOTB3BI

6. a careless sort of man in matters of religion — He oueHb
Ha0OXHBI YeToBeK
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that girl had a nerve — 37a 1eBuLa OblJIa HE U3 TPYCIMBOIO
necsiTka

to set her in a temper — BBIBECTH €€ U3 Ce0s

to re-establish himself from the beginning — 3aHOBO Ha-
JTAXXWBATDb CBSA3HU C JIIOJBMU

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) Who told the story of Netty Sargent?

2) What did Mr Sargent have to do to extend the copy-
hold?

3) When did he finally ask the squire to extend the copy-
hold?

4) What happened when Netty was putting the money into
her desk?

5) In what position did Netty place the body of her
uncle?

6) What did she say to the agent?

7) 'What did the agent see in the room?

8) What places did the stranger visit in the village?

Put the sentences in the right order.

1) Netty saw that her uncle had fallen forward in his
chair.

2) Mr Sargent putt off the visit to the Squire’s agent’s
office week after week.

3) Netty placed her uncle with his back toward the
window.

4) The agent counted the money and gave Netty the docu-
ment for her uncle to sign.

5) Netty made a signature moving her uncle’s hand.

6) Jasper threatened to leave Netty if she lost the house.
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Complete the sentences.

1
2)

3)

4)
5)

6)

7)

Jasper was interested in Netty because

The squire was anxious to get hold of Sargent’s house
because :

Mr Sargent postponed the renewal of the copyhold be-
cause

Jasper gave Netty the fine-money because

Mr Sargent finally asked to extend the copyhold because

When Mr Sargent died Netty felt terrified because

The new-comer felt uncomfortable in the village because

Find in the text the English for:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

0a3apHbIii 1€Hb,

XOPOIIEHBbKOE IEJT0!;

B MOEM IIPUCYTCTBUH;
3aCBUAETENbCTBOBATD MOAINUCH;
KOpOY€E TOBOPSI.

Fill in the gaps with prepositions affer, in, out, by, off, into, at, round.

I
2)
3)
4)
5)

6)

Netty was hardly of'short dresses before the young
chaps were her.
Old Sargent put the visit to the agent’s office to

spite the selfish Jasper.

Netty put the money _ her desk to have close

hand.
Netty turned and saw that her uncle had fallen
forward in his chair.
Netty found a way to achieve her purpose spite
of her uncle’s negligence.
The agent gave Netty the document signed the

squire.
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Give synonyms to the following words and word combinations:

1) selfish;

2) tocourt;

3) to put off;

4) to have a nerve;

5) the ticklish part;

6) to repent of smth.

Say why:

1) many young men were after Netty.

2) the agent agreed not to come into the house.

3) the story of Netty’s copyhold became known in the
village.

4) the new squire did not take action against Netty.

Prove that:

1) Netty Sargent had a nerve.

2) Netty was not happy in her marriage to Jasper.

3) Netty was a lucky woman.

4) the stranger had to re-establish himself from the begin-
ning in the village.

What do you think?

1) What do you feel about Netty? Was she a clever and cou-
rageous woman? Do you approve of her actions? Give
your reasons. What would you do if you were in Netty’s
shoes (ecm ObI BbI 0Ka3a1UCh B TAKOM X€ MOTOXKEHUH,
Kak Hertn)?

2) What kind of a man was Jasper? Did he appreciate
Netty’s efforts? What do you think their life was?

3) What can you tell about the stranger? Did he fulfill

his purpose? Do you think he ever returned to this
place?



On the Western Circuit

ONE

The man who played the disturbing part in the lives of two
quiet women depicted in this story first met them on an October
evening, in the city of Melchester. He had been standing in the
Close, trying to see in the darkness a mediaeval cathedral. The
walls of the cathedral were not seen, but they reflected sounds
which entered the Close by a street leading from the city square.

He postponed till the next morning his attempt to examine
the deserted building and turned his attention to the noise and
shouts. He went along a straight street, and into the square.

He might have searched Europe over for a greater contrast
between neighbouring scenes. The market square was occupied
by the fair. In front of the colourful booths the young man saw

80

three steam roundabouts. Lighting a short pipe, and putting his
hat on one side and one hand in his pocket, to throw himself into
harmony with his new environment, he went to the largest of the
steam circuses, as the roundabouts were called by their owners.

It could now be seen that he was unlike the majority of the
crowd. A gentlemanly young fellow, one of the type found in large
towns only, and London particularly, built on delicate lines, well,
though not fashionably dressed, he appeared to belong to the pro-
fessional class; he had nothing square or practical about his look,
much that was curvilinear and sensuous'.

The revolving figures on the horses passed before his eyes.
There were riders as young as six, and as old as sixty years, with
every age between. At first it was difficult to catch a personality,
but by and by the observer’s eyes centred on the prettiest girl out
of the several pretty ones revolving.

She was wearing the red skirt, dark jacket, brown hat and
brown gloves. She was absolutely unconscious of everything ex-
cept for the act of riding: for the moment she did not know her age
or her history, much less her troubles.

The young man studied her as well as he could, glancing in-
differently over the other riders, including the two plainer girls,
the old woman and child, the two youngsters, the newly-married
couple, the old man with a clay pipe, the pair of carpenters, and
others. He had never seen a fairer product of nature, and at each
round she made a deeper mark in his sentiments.

When the roundabout stopped, she stayed at her seat. People
began to take other seats, and clearly she was deciding to have
another turn. The young man came up to her and pleasantly asked
her if she had enjoyed her ride.

‘O yes!” she said, with dancing eyes. ‘It has been quite unlike
anything I have ever felt in my life before!”

It was not difficult to fall into conversation with her. Unre-
served — too unreserved — by nature, she was not experienced
enough to be reserved by art?, and answered his remarks readily.
She had come to live in Melchester from a village on the Great
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Plain, and this was the first time that she had ever seen a steam-
circus; she could not understand how such wonderful machines
were made. She had come to the city on the invitation of Mrs
Harnham, who had taken her into her household to train her as a
servant, if she showed any aptitude. Mrs Harnham was a young
lady who before she married had been Miss Edith White, living in
the country near the speaker’s cottage; she was now very kind to
her as she had known her in childhood so well. She was even tak-
ing the trouble to educate her. Mrs Harnham was the only friend
she had in the world, and as she had no children she had wished to
have her near her in preference to anybody else, though she had
only recently come; allowed her to do almost as she liked, and to
have a holiday whenever she asked for it. The husband of this kind
young lady was a rich wine-merchant of the town, but Mrs
Harnham did not care much about him. In the daytime you could
see the house from where they were talking. She, the speaker, liked
Melchester better than the lonely country, and she was going to
have a new hat for next Sunday that was to cost fifteen and
ninepence’.

Then she asked the young man where he lived, and he told
herin London, that ancient and smoky city, where everybody lived
who lived at all, and died because they could not live there. He
came into Wessex two or three times a year for professional rea-
sons; he had arrived from Wintoncester yesterday, and was going
on into the next county in a day or two. For one thing he did like
the country better than the town, and it was because there were
such girls as herself.

Then the pleasure-machine started again, and, to the light-
hearted girl, the figure of the handsome young man, the market-
square with its lights and crowd, the houses beyond, and the whole
world, began moving round as before. Each time that she ap-
proached the half of her orbit that lay nearest him they looked at
each other with smiles, and with that unmistakable expression
which means so little at the moment, yet so often leads up to love,
passion, heartache, union, devotion, disappointment and despair.
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When the horses slowed again he stepped to her side and
proposed another round. ‘I’ll pay!” he said.

She laughed till the tears came.

“Why do you laugh, dear?’ said he.

‘Because — you are so genteel that you must have plenty of
money, and only say that for fun!” she returned.

‘Ha-ha!” laughed the young man in unison, and gallantly
produced his money for another round.

As he stood smiling there in the crowd, with his pipe in his
hand, and wearing the rough jacket and a simple hat that he had
put on for his walk, who would have supposed him to be Charles
Bradford Raye, Esquire, stuff-gownsman, now going the Western
Circuit*, detained in Melchester by a small arbitration after his
colleagues had moved on to the next county-town?

TWO

The house, of which the young girl had spoken, was a digni-
fied residence of considerable size with several windows on each
floor. On the first floor, in a large drawing-room, sat a lady, in ap-
pearance from twenty-eight to thirty years of age. The room was
unlit from within, but enough of the light from the market-place
entered it to reveal the lady’s face. She was what is called an inter-
esting creature rather than a handsome woman; dark-eyed,
thoughtful, and with sensitive lips.

A man entered the room.

‘0, Edith, I didn’t see you,’ he said. ‘Why are you sitting
here in the dark?’

‘] am looking at the fair,” replied the lady in a low voice.

‘Oh? Horrid nuisance every year!’

‘I like it.”

‘“H’m. There’s no accounting for taste.’

For a moment he looked from the window with her, for po-
liteness’ sake, and then went out again.

In a few minutes she rang.

‘Hasn’t Anna come in?’ asked Mrs Harnham.
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‘No ma’am.’

‘She ought to be in by this time. I allowed her to go for ten
minutes only.’

“Shall I go and look for her, m’m?’ said the housemaid readily.

‘No. Itis not necessary: she is a good girl and will come soon.’

However, when the servant had gone Mrs Harnham arose,
went up to her room, put on her cloak and a hat, and went down-
stairs, where she found her husband.

‘I want to see the fair,” she said; ‘and I am going to look for
Anna. | have made myself responsible for her, and I must make
sure that she’s all right. Will you come with me?’

‘Oh, she’s all right. I saw her on one of those roundabouts,
talking to her young man as I came in. But I’ll go if you wish,
though I’d rather go a hundred miles the other way.’

“Then please do so. I shall go alone.’

She left the house and entered the crowd in the market-place,
where she soon discovered Anna, seated on the revolving horse.
As soon as it stopped Mrs Harnham advanced and said severely,
‘Anna, how can you be such a wild girl? You were only to be out
for ten minutes.’

Anna looked confused, and the young man who was stand-
ing near her, came to her assistance.

‘Please don’t blame her,” he said politely. ‘It is my fault that
she has stayed. She looked so graceful on the horse that I offered
her to go round again. I assure you that she has been quite safe.’

‘Inthat case I'll leave her in your hands,” said Mrs. Harnham,
turning to go away.

But this for the moment it was not so easy to do. Something
had attracted the crowd to this spot, and the wine-merchant’s wife,
found herself pressed against Anna’s acquaintance without power
to move away. Their faces were within a few inches of each other,
his breath fanned her cheek as well as Anna’s. They could do no
other than smile at the accident; but neither spoke, and each waited
passively. Mrs Harnham then felt a man’s hand clasping her fin-
gers, and from the look of consciousness on the young fellow’s
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face she knew the hand to be his: she also knew that from the po-
sition of the girl he had no other thought than that this hand was
Anna’s. What made her to refrain from telling him the truth she
could hardly tell. Several minutes passed before the crowd thinned
sufficiently to allow Mrs Harnham to move away.

‘How did they get to know each other, 1 wonder?’ she
thought.

She was so impressed by the stranger’s manner and voice, by
the tenderness of his touch, that instead of re-entering the house
she turned back again and observed the pair. She was little less
impulsive than Anna she argued that it was very excusable in Anna
to encourage him; he was so well-bred, so gentlemanly, so fasci-
nating, had such beautiful eyes.

Finally Anna and her acquaintance separated and Anna went
to Mrs Harnham’s house.

‘Anna,’ said Mrs Harnham, coming up. ‘I’ve been looking
at you! That young man kissed you at parting I am almost sure.’

‘Well,” stammered Anna; ‘he said, if I didn’t mind — it would
do me no harm, and, and, him a great deal of good!’

‘Ah, I thought so! And he was a stranger till to-night?’

“Yes ma’am.’

‘No doubt you told him your name and every thing about
yourself?’

‘He asked me.’

‘But he didn’t tell you his?’

~“Yes ma’am, he did!’ cried Anna victoriously. ‘It is Charles
Bradford, of London.’

‘Well, if he’s respectable, of course I’ve nothing to say against
him,” remarked her mistress. ‘But I must reconsider all that, if he
attempts to renew your acquaintance. A country girl like you, who
has never lived in Melchester till this month, to be so sharp as to
capture a young Londoner like him!’

- ‘I didn’t capture him. I didn’t do anything,” said Anna in
confusion.

The next morning the emotional Edith Harnham went to
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the usual weekday service in Melchester cathedral. As soon as she
had taken her seat he entered and sat down opposite her, inter-
ested in the architecture of the cathedral. He did not notice her,
but Mrs Harnham was continually occupying her eyes with him,
and wondered more than ever what had attracted him in her little
silly maid-servant. The young man left; and Mrs Harnham —
lonely, impressionable creature that she was — took no further in-
terest in praising the Lord. She wished she had married a London
man who knew the art of love as it was evidently known to him
who had mistakenly caressed her hand.

THREE

Feeling a violent attraction to the pretty country girl Anna,
Raye had remained in Melchester three days. He obtained walks
and meetings with the girl six or seven times during this interval;
had in brief won her, body and soul.

He supposed it was due to his loneliness that he had given
way to a passion for an artless creature whose inexperience had led
her to place herself unreservedly in his hands. He hated trifling
with her feelings for the sake of a passing desire; and he could only
hope that she would not suffer on his account.

She had begged him to come to her again. He had promised
that he would do so, and he meant to carry out that promise. Be-
sides the thought of her simple love might do him the negative
good of keeping him from pleasures in town when he wished to
work hard. His circuit journeys would take him to Melchester three
or four times a year; and then he could always see her.

The pseudonym, or rather partial name, that he had given
her as his before knowing how far the acquaintance was going to
carry him, had been spoken on the spur of the moment. He had
not afterwards told Anna his full name, but on leaving her he had
given her an address at a stationer’s® not far from his flat, at which
she might write to him under the initials ‘C. B.”

When he returned to London he sent her a letter asking her
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to write. In a few days the stationer handed to him a letter with the
Melchester postmark.

He was not anxious to open the letter, and in truth did not
begin to read it for nearly half-an-hour, expecting passionate ret-
rospect® and tender words. When at last he turned his feet to the
fireplace and unfolded the sheet, he was surprised and pleased to
find the most charming little letter he had ever received from
women. The language was simple and the ideas were simple; the
paper, too, was common. But what of those things? He had re-
ceived letters from women who were fairly called ladies, but never
so sensible, so human a letter as this. He could not single out any
one sentence and say it was at all remarkable or clever. The whole
letter impressed him.

Raye sent a short, encouraging line or two, signed with his
pseudonym, in which he asked for another letter, and cheeringly
promised that he would try to see her again on some near day, and
would never forget how much they had been to each other during
their short acquaintance.

FOUR

To return now to the moment at which Anna, at Melchester,
had received Raye’s letter.

The postman went away, but her look of embarrassment did
not leave her. She opened the envelope, kissed its contents, put
away the letter in her pocket, and remained thoughtful till her eyes
filled with tears.

A few minutes later she carried up a cup of tea to Mrs
Harnham in her bedroom. Anna’s mistress looked at her, and said:
‘How sad you look this morning, Anna. What’s the matter?’

‘I’m not sad, I’'m glad; only I —’ She stopped to stifle a sob.

“Well?’

‘I’ve got a letter — and what good is it to me, if | can’t read a
word in it!’

‘Why, I’ll read it, child, if necessary.’
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‘But this is from somebody — I don’t want anybody to read
it but myself!” Anna said.

‘I shall not tell anybody. Is it from that young man?’

‘I think so.” Anna slowly produced the letter, saying: ‘Then
will you read it to me, ma’am?’

This was the secret of Anna’s embarrassment. She could nei-
ther read nor write. She had grown up under the care of an aunt by
marriage, at one of the lonely cottages on the Great Mid-Wessex
Plain where, even in days of national education, there had been
no school within a distance of two miles. Her aunt was an ignorant
woman; there had been nobody to investigate Anna’s circum-
stances, nobody to care about her education; though, as often in
such cases, she had been well fed and clothed and not unkindly
treated. Since she had come to live at Melchester with Mrs
Harnham, her mistress who took a kindly interest in the girl, had
taught her to speak correctly. Mrs. Harnham also insisted upon
her getting a spelling and copy book, and beginning to practise in
these. Anna was slower in this branch of her education, and mean-
while here was the letter.

Edith Harnham read the short letter on to its concluding
sentence, which requested Anna to send him a tender answer.

‘Now — you’ll do it for me, won’t you, dear mistress?’ said
Anna eagerly. ‘Please? Because I couldn’t bear him to think [ am
not able to do it myself. I should sink into the earth with shame if
he knew that!’

From some words in the letter Mrs Harnham was led to ask
questions, and the answers she received confirmed her suspicions.
She blamed herself for not interfering in a flirtation which had
resulted so seriously for the poor little creature. However, what
was done could not be undone, and it was necessary for her now,
as Anna’s only protector, to help her as much as she could. She
agreed to compose and write the answer to this young London
man’s letter.

A tender reply was written in Edith Harnham’s hand. It was
the letter which Raye had received and liked so much. It was writ-
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ten in the presence of Anna, and on Anna’s bad note-paper; but
the life, the spirit, the individuality, were Edith Harnham’s.

“Won’t you at least put your name yourself?’ she said. “You
can manage to write that by this time?’

‘No, no,’ said Anna, terrified. ‘I should do it so bad. He’d be
ashamed of me, and never see me again!’

The note, as we have seen, brought an answer. Raye declared
it to be such a pleasure to hear from her that she must write every
week. The same process of writing was repeated by Anna and her
mistress, and continued for several weeks in succession. Each let-
ter was written and suggested by Edith; the girl was standing by.
The answer was read and commented on by Edith; Anna was stand-
ing by and listening again.

Late on a winter evening, after the sixth letter, Mrs Harnham
was sitting alone by the remains of her fire. Her husband had gone
to bed and she was thinking about a strange thing which she had
done that day. For the first time since Raye’s visit Anna had gone
to stay over a night or two with her cottage friends on the Plain,
and in her absence had arrived, out of its time, a letter from Raye.
To this Edith had replied on her own responsibility, from the depths
of her own heart, without waiting for her maid’s assistance.

Edith Harnham led a lonely life. Influenced by the belief of
the British parents that a bad marriage is better than free life with
its interests, dignity, and leisure, she had agreed to marry the eld-
erly wine-merchant at the age of twenty-seven — three years be-
fore this date — to find afterwards that she had made a mistake.

She was now clearly realizing that she had become captured
to the bottom of her soul with the image of a man to whom she
was hardly so much as a name. From the first he had attracted her
by his looks and voice; by his tender touch; and later the writing of
letter after letter and the reading of their soft answers had devel-
oped on her side an emotion which fanned his; till there was a
magnetic reciprocity between the correspondents, in spite of the
fact that one of them wrote in a character not her own.

They were her own passionate ideas — only made simple —
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that Edith put into letters signed with another name. Edith found
that the young barrister’ mainly responded to these, her own sen-
timents. The few sentences occasionally added from Anna’s own
lips made apparently no impression upon him.

Anna never discovered the letter-writing in her absence; but
on her return the next morning she declared she wished to see her
lover about something at once, and begged Mrs Harnham to ask
him to come. Sinking down at Edith’s knees, she made confession
that the result of her relations with her lover it would soon be seen.

Edith Harnham instantly wrote another Anna-note hinting
clearly though delicately the state of affairs.

Raye replied by a hasty letter to say how much he was con-
cerned at her news: he felt that he must run down to see her al-
most immediately.

But a week later the girl came to her mistress’s room with an-
other note. Raye informed her that after all he could not find time
for the journey. Anna was broken with grief; but Mrs Harnham asked
her to refrain from reproaches. It was necessary to keep the young
man’s romantic interest in her alive. Edith, in the name of her maid,
asked him not to worry about the looming event and not to hurry to
Melchester. She desired above everything to be no weight upon him
in his career. She had wished him to know what had happened. Then
he could dismiss it again from his mind. Only he must write ten-
derly as ever, and when he should come again on the spring circuit it
would be soon enough to discuss what had better be done.

When the letter had been sent off, and Edith Harnham was
left alone, she wept.

‘I wish his child was mine — [ wish it was!” she whispered.
“Yet how can I say such a bad thing!’

FIVE
The letter moved Raye considerably when it reached him.
The absence of any word of reproach, the devotion to his inter-
ests, the self-sacrifice was seen in every line, eveything showed a
noble character that he had never dreamt of finding in a woman.
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‘God forgive me!” he said. ‘I did not know she was such a
treasure as this!’

He wrote to her, declaring that he would not of course desert
her, that he would provide a home for her somewhere. Mean-
while she was to stay where she was as long as her mistress would
allow her.

But unfortunately Anna had to leave Mrs Harnham’s house
because her husband learned about her circumstances. She chose
to go back for a while to the cottage on the Plain. She asked Mrs
Harnham — the only well-to-do friend she had in the world — to
receive the letters and reply to them at once, sending them on af-
terwards to herself on the Plain, where she might at least get some
neighbour to read them to her.

Edith Harnham found herself in the strange position of hav-
ing to correspond, under no supervision by the real woman, with a
man not her husband, concerning a condition that was not Edith’s
at all; and the man was one for whom she felt a strong attraction.
She opened each letter, read it as if for herself, and replied from
her own heart.

For conscience’ sake Edith at first sent on each of his letters
to Anna, and even copies of her replies; but later on these so-called
copies were much shortened, and many letters on both sides were
not sent on at all.

Raye had really tender feelings for the country girl, and it
became more tender than ever when he saw that she could express
the deepest emotions in the simplest words. He finally decided to
consult his sister, an unmarried lady much older than himself. He
showed her some of the letters.

‘She seems fairly educated,” Miss Raye observed. ‘And bright
in ideas. She expresses herself with a taste that must be born.’

“Yes. She writes very prettily.’

The result of the discussion was that though he had not been
directly advised to do it, Raye wrote, in his real name that he
could not live without her, and would come down in the spring
and marry her.
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Mrs Harnham drove out immediately to the cottage on the
Plain to inform Anna of this. Anna jumped for joy like a little child.
‘O she groaned, as she wrote the answer. ‘Anna — poor good
little fool — hasn’t intelligence enough to appreciate him!’

It was now February. The correspondence had continued
altogether for four months. In his next letter Raye said that he was
sure that, with her powers of development, after a little private
training under his supervision, and a little help from a governess if
necessary, she would make a good wife for a barrister.

‘O — poor fellow, poor fellow!” said Edith Harnham.

Edith was deeply worried. It was she who had caused that
marriage which meant his ruin; yet she could not, in mercy to her
maid, do anything to hinder his plan.

Anna came, and her mistress took her into her own room for
privacy. Anna began by saying that she was glad the wedding was
SO near.

‘O Anna!’ replied Mrs Harnham. ‘I think we must tell him
all — that I have been doing your writing for you.’

‘O mis’ess, dear mis’ess — please don’t tell him now!” cried
Anna. ‘Perhaps he would not marry me; and what should I do then?
And I am getting on with my writing, too. I have brought with me
the copybook you had given me, and I practise every day.’

Edith looked at the copybook. The progress as the girl had
made looked as grotesque imitations. But even if Edith’s neat words
were reproduced the inspiration would be another thing.

“Very well,” said Edith. ‘But you must concentrate your at-
tention on writing your name as I write it here.’

SIX
Soon Raye wrote about the wedding. He wished to have the
ceremony in London, for greater privacy. Edith Harnham would
have preferred it at Melchester; Anna was passive. His reasoning
prevailed, and Mrs Harnham began preparations for Anna’s de-
parture. In a last desperate feeling that she must be in at the death
of her dream and see once again the man who by a kind of telepa-
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thy had had such an influence on her, she offered to go up with
Anna and be with her through the ceremony — ‘to see the end of
her,” as her mistress said. Anna accepted the offer; for she had no
other friend capable of playing the part of companion and witness
in the presence of gentlemen. '

It was a muddy morning in March when Raye, Anna and
Mrs Harnham arrived in a cab at the door of a registry-office. A
young man — a friend of Raye’s — met them at the door. Anna
looked attractive in the somewhat fashionable clothes which Mrs
Harnham had helped her to buy, though not quite so attractive as,
an innocent child, she had appeared in her country dress on the
back of the wooden horse at Melchester Fair.

Till an hour before the ceremony Raye had never known the
wine-merchant’s wife, except for that first short meeting. But
somehow at the registry Raye discovered a strange and secret gravi-
tation between himself and Anna’s friend.

When the ceremony was, the four went in one cab to Raye’s
lodgings in a new suburb in preference to a house, the rent of which
he could not afford just then. Here Anna cut the little cake which
Raye had bought on his way home the night before. But she did
not do much besides. Raye’s friend had to leave almost immedi-
ately, and when he had left the only ones virtually present were
Edith and Raye who exchanged ideas with much interest. The
conversation was indeed theirs only. Anna behaved as a domestic
animal who heard but did not understand. Raye did not like that.

They had planned to start early that afternoon for Knollsea,
to spend the few opening days of their married life there. Raye
asked his wife if she would go to the writing-desk in the next room
and write a little note to his sister, who had been unable to come
because of her illness and thank her for her present.

‘Say it in the pretty poetical way you can,’ he added, ‘I want
you to win her; both of you are dear to me.’

Anna looked uneasy, but left the room. She was absent for a
long time, and her husband suddenly went to look for her.

He found her at the writing-table, with tears in her eyes; and
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he looked down upon the sheet of note-paper with some interest.
To his surprise she had written a few lines, in the characters and
spelling of a child of eight, and with the primitive ideas.

‘Anna,’ he said, ‘what’s this?’

‘It only means — that I can’t do it any better!’ she answered,
through her tears.

‘Eh? Nonsense!”

‘I can’t!’ she insisted, with miserable sobbing. ‘I — [ — didn’t
write those letters, Charles! I only told her what to write! And not
always that! But I am learning so fast, my dear, dear husband! And
you’ll forgive me, won’t you, for not telling you before?’

He stood a few moments, then turned, and left the room.

‘Do I guess rightly?” he asked Edith, with quietly. * You wrote
the letters?’

‘It was necessary,” said Edith.

‘Did she dictate every word you ever wrote to me?’

‘Not every word.’

“You wrote a great part of those pages every week from your
own heart, though in her name!’

“Yes.’

‘Perhaps you wrote many of the letters when you were alone,
without communication with her?’

‘1did.’

He turned to the bookcase.

“You have deceived me — ruined me!’ he said.

‘0, don’t say it!” she cried, jumping up and putting her hand
on his shoulder. ‘I can’t bear that!’

‘Why did you do it — why did you!”

‘I began doing it in kindness to her! How could I try to save
such a simple girl from misery? But I admit that I continued it for
pleasure to myself.’

Raye went up to her, and took her unresisting hand. “Well, to
think of such a thing as this!” he said. “Why, you and I are friends
— lovers — devoted lovers — by correspondence!”’

‘Yes; I suppose.’
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‘Legally I have married her — and in soul and spirit I have
married you, and no other woman in the world!’

‘Hush!”

‘But 1 will not hush! Yes, it is between you and me that the
bond is — not between me and her! Now I'll say no more.’

He drew her towards him.

‘Ifit was all pure invention in those letters,’ he said, ‘give me
your cheek only. If you meant what you said, let it be lips. It is for
the first and last time, remember!’

She put up her mouth, and he kissed her long. ‘You forgive
me?’ she said crying.

‘Yes.’

‘But you are ruined!’

‘What matter!” he said shrugging his shoulders. ‘It serves me
right!’

‘She wiped her eyes and went to say good-bye to Anna, who
had not expected her to go so soon, and was still struggling with
the letter. Raye followed Edith downstairs, and in three minutes
she was in a cab driving to the Waterloo station.

He went back to his wife. ‘Never mind the letter, Anna, to-
day,” he said gently. ‘Put on your things. We, too, must be off.’

The simple girl, happy that she was indeed married, was glad
to find that he was as kind as ever. She did not know that in his
eyes the unlettered country girl was chained to his side for the re-
mainder of his life.

Edith travelled back to Melchester that day with a face that
showed deep grief. Her lips still remembered the pressure of his
kiss. The end of her passionate dream had come.

Entering the house she went in the dark to the drawing-room,
and not knowing what she did, fell on the floor.

‘1 have ruined him!” she kept repeating. ‘I have ruined him;
because | helped her!’

A figure opened the door of the room.

‘Ah — who’s that?’ she said.

*Your husband — who should it be?’ said the merchant.
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‘Ah — my husband! I forgot I had a husband!’ she whispered
to herself.

‘How is Anna?’

‘Anna is married.’

Anna and her husband were sitting at the opposite windows
of a second-class carriage which hurried to Knollsea. In his hand
was a pocket-book full of sheets closely written over. Unfolding
them one after another he read them in silence, and sighed.

“What are you doing, dear Charles?’ she said from the other
window, and drew nearer to him as if he were a god.

‘Reading over all those sweet letters to me signed “Anna”,’
he replied in a sad and dull voice.

Vocabulary

close 30. TeppuTOpHsI, IpUerampIias K cobopy
booth k1oCK, 30. spMapo4YHbIii OanaraH
revolving Bpaiatouics

aptitude criocobHOCTH

light-hearted 6e33a00THBII, padIOCTHBIH
nuisance HEMPUATHOCTb WIU ITOMEXA, JOCTABIISIOLLAS HEY100CTBO
well-bred xopoliio BocniMTaHHbii

fan pasznyBath, pa3kxurathb

reciprocity B3aMMHOCTb

looming rpsinyiuit

unlettered HerpaMoTHBII, HeOoOpa30BaHHbI

Notes

1. built on delicate lines, well, though not fashionably dressed, he
appeared to belong to the professional class; he had nothing square
or practical about his look, much that was curvilinear and sensu-
OUS — TOHKUI, XOPOLIO, XOTSI U HE MOIHO OJEThI, OH MOT
ObITh BpauoM, CBSILLIEHHUKOM WM IOpUcTOM. HuuTo He
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o v

yKa3bIBajJ0O Ha TO, YTO B HEM MOIJIH OBITH IpyOBIe W
MPAKTUYECKWE HAaKIOHHOCTH. Ero BHeUIHU BHI HAallPOTHB
CBMIETEIBCTBOBAJ O HATYPE MSATKOM U 4yBCTBUTE/IBHOM.

she was not experienced enough to be reserved by art — y Hee
OBLIO TAK MAJO XW3HEHHOTO OITbITAa, YTO OHa €IIE HE
Hay4mrJ1aCh UCKYCCTBY CAE€PXaHHOCTH

fifteen and ninepence — NMATHAaAUATh NIWUIAHIOB W IE€BATH
NECHCOB

stuff-gownsman, going the Western Circuit — mononoi
JOPUCT, YY4ACTBYIOLIUH B BBIE3[IHOM CECCHHM 1O 3ananiHoMy
CcyniebHOMY OKpyTY

at a stationer’s — B MarasuHe KaHLTOBapoB

passionate retrospect — TbLIKME BOCIIOMUHAHWUA

barrister — Gpum. GappycTep; aIBOKAT, MMEIOIIVH 11paBo
BBICTYIATh B BBICLLIUX CYIAX

Exercises

Answer the following questions.

1) When and where did Raye meet Anna?

2) What can you tell about Anna’s background ?

3) Why did Raye give Anna only part of his name?

4) When did Edith meet Raye?

5) When did Edith see Raye next time?

6) Who wrote the letters to Raye?

7) What did Raye do when he learned of Anna’s pregnancy?

8) When and where did Raye understand that he had cor-
responded with Edith?

Put the sentences in the right order and make a summary using
these sentences and additional information.

1) Mrs Harnham had taken Anna into her house to train
as a servant.
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2)
3)
4)
)
6)
7)
8)

Raye proposed to marry Anna in the spring.

Raye was detained in Melchester by a small arbitration.
Mrs Harnham went to the fair to look for Anna.

Mrs Harnham helped Anna to buy fashionable clothes.
Edith agreed to write letters to Raye in the name of Anna.
Raye selected the prettiest girl on the roundabout.
Raye mistakenly caressed Edith’s hand.

Find in the text the English for:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7
8)

MOJIOAOXEHBI,

0 BKYCax He CIIOpSIT;

YCTYNaTh CTPacTH;

WTpaTh C YyBCTBAMU;

MOOABUTh PhIIaHUS;

4YTO CleJIaHO, TOrO He BOPOTHILID;
BLIOPOCHUTDL M3 I'OJIOBHI;

CITaCTH OT CTpPaTaHUM.

Fill in the gaps with prepositions under, up, by, on, into, for, of.

1y

2)
3)

4)
5)
6)

7)
8)

At first it was difficult to catch a personality, but then
hiseyescentred  the prettiest girl on the roundabout.
Raye easily fell ____ conversation with the girl.

Anna had come to Melchester  the invitation of Mrs
Harnham.

Mr Harnham looked at the fair with his wife  po-
liteness’ sake.

Raye used the pseudonym __ the spur of the moment.
Raye thought that Anna’s simple love might do him the
negative good ____ keeping him from pleasures in town
where he wished to work hard.

Anna had grown ____the care of anaunt _ marriage.
Anna jumped ___ joy when Raye proposed marriage
to her.
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Imagine that you are:

Edith Harnham. Say:
a few words about your family life and interests.

2) what you felt when you met Raye at the fair.

3) why you decided to help Anna with the letters.

4) what you felt when Raye learned the truth.

®  Charles Raye. Say:

1) what you were doing in Melchester.

2) what you liked in Anna and why you proposed to
marry her.

3) what you felt when you understood that you had mar-
ried the wrong woman.

What do you think?

1) Why did Edith agree to correspond with Raye in the
name of Anna? Do you think that she was right to do
so? Did she realize that her help could ruin Raye’s life?
Would you do the same if you were Edith?

2) What can you tell about the feelings between Edith and
Raye? Was it real love and understanding? Could they
be happy together? Why do you think Edith never
thought about having Raye for herself?

3) What do you think about Raye? Could you imagine his
future life with Anna?

4) What do you feel about Anna? Did she understand that
lies can’t bring happiness? What would you do if you
were her?

5) Do you think that many people now write letters? Do

letters help people to know each other better? Do you
like to write and receive letters? What other means of
correspondence can we use now?
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To Please his Wife

ONE

The interior of St. James’s Church, in Havenpool Town, was
slowly darkening under the low clouds of a winter afternoon. It
was Sunday: service had just ended, and the congregation were
rising from their knees to leave.

At that moment the dark figure of a man in a sailor’s clothes
appeared in the doorway.

The sailor closed the door gently behind him, and moved to
the pulpit. The parson looked up from the private little prayer-
book, rose to his feet, and stared at the intruder.

‘I beg your pardon, sir,” said the sailor, addressing the man
in a voice. ‘I have come here to offer thanks for my narrow escape
from shipwreck'. I understand that it is a proper thing to do, if you
have no objection?’

The parson, after a moment’s pause, said hesitatingly, ‘I have
no objection, certainly. It is usual to mention any such wish before
service, so that the proper words may be used in the General
Thanksgiving’. But, if you wish, we can read from the form for use
after a storm at sea.’

‘Ay, sure,’ said the sailor.

The clerk directed the sailor to the page in the prayer-book
and the parson began reading it. The sailor was standing on his
knees and repeating the prayer after him word by word.

When his thanksgiving had come to an end he rose and went
out of church. As soon as the sailor came out, and the remaining
daylight fell upon his face, old inhabitants began to recognize him
as Shadrach Jolliffe, a young man who had not been seen at
Havenpool for several years. His parents had died when he was quite
young, and he had early gone to sea, in the Newfoundland trade’.

He talked with this and that townsman as he walked, inform-
ing them that, since leaving his native place vears before, he had
become captain and owner of a small boat, which had been saved
from the storm as well as himself. Then he came up to two girls
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who were going out of the churchyard in front of him; they had
watched him in the church with deep interest, discussing him as
they moved out of church together. One was a slight and gentle
creature, the other a tall and deliberative girl. Captain Jolliffe
looked at the loose curls of their hair, their backs and shoulders,
down to their heels, for some time.

‘Who are these girls?’ he whispered to his neighbour.

“The little one is Emily Hanning; the tall one Joanna
Phippard.’

‘Ah! I recollect ’em now, to be sure.’

He advanced to their elbow, and looked at them.

‘Emily, you don’t know me?’ said the sailor, turning his smil-
ing brown eyes on her.

‘I think I do, Mr Jolliffe,” said Emily shyly.

The other girl looked straight at him with her dark eyes.

“The face of Miss Joanna I don’t remember so well,” he con-
tinued. ‘But I know her family.’

They walked and talked together till they reached the corner
of Sloop Lane, where Emily Hanning lived, and, with a nod and
smile, she left them. Soon the sailor parted also from Joanna, and
turned back towards Emily’s house. She lived with her father, who
called himself an accountant, but she had to keep a little stationery-
shop as a supplemental provision for the gaps of his somewhat un-
certain business.* On entering Jolliffe found father and daughter
about to begin tea.

‘O, I didn’t know it was tea-time,’ he said. ‘Ay, I'll have a
cup with much pleasure.’ .

He remained to tea and long afterwards, telling tales of his
life at sea. Somehow Emily Hanning lost her heart to the sailor
that Sunday night, and in the course of a week or two there was a
tender understanding between them.

One moonlight evening in the next month in the street
Shadrach saw a figure before him whom, from her manner of glanc-
ing back, he took to be Emily. But, on coming up, he found §he was
Joanna Phippard. He gave a gallant greeting, and walked beside her.
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“You’ d better go,’ she said, ‘or Emily will be jealous!’

He seemed not to like the suggestion, and remained.

What was said and what was done on that walk Shadrach
never clearly remembered; but in some way or other Joanna
managed to win him away from her gentler and younger rival®.
From that week Jolliffe was seen more and more with Joanna
Phippard and less in the company of Emily; and soon people
began to say that old Jolliffe’s son, who had come home from
sea, was going to be married to Joanna, to the great disappoint-
ment of her friend.

One morning Joanna dressed herself for a walk and started
for Emily’s house. She-had also heard the rumours, and her con-
science reproached her for winning Shadrach away.

Joanna was not completely satisfied with the sailor. She liked
his attentions, and she would like to become a married woman;
but she had never been deeply in love with Jolliffe. For one thing,
she was ambitious, and socially his position was hardly so good as
her own, and there was always the chance of an attractive woman
mating considerably above her®. It had long been in her mind that
she would not strongly object to give him back again to Emily if
her friend felt so very badly about him. So she had written a letter
to Shadrach, intending to send it if personal observation of Emily
convinced her that her friend was suffering.

Joanna entered the stationery-shop. Emily’s father was never
at home at this hour of the day, and it seemed as though Emily
were not at home either. Joanna waited in the shop till she saw a
figure outside the window. It was Captain Shadrach Jolliffe. Moved
by an impulse of reluctance to meet him in a spot which breathed
of Emily, Joanna slipped into the backroom.

Jolliffe entered the shop. Through the thin curtain over the
glass door she could see that he was disappointed at not finding
Emily there. He was about to go out again, when Emily appeared
in the doorway. At sight of Jolliffe she started back.

‘Don’t run away, Emily; don’t!” said he. ‘Why are you
afraid?’
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‘I’m not afraid, Captain Jolliffe. Only — only I saw you all
of a sudden, and — it made me jump!” Her voice showed that her
heart had jumped even more than the rest of her.

‘I just called as I was passing,’ he said.

‘For some paper?’ She hastened behind the counter.

‘No, no, Emily; why do ye get behind there? Why not stay
by me? You seem to hate me.’

‘I don’t hate you. How can I?’

“‘Then come out, so that we can talk like friends.’

Emily obeyed with a nervous laugh, till she stood again be-
side him in the open part of the shop. ,

‘Emily, 1 have the best of feelings for Joanna, but [ know
that from the beginning she hasn’t cared for me more than in a
friendly way; and I see now the one I ought to have asked to be my
wife. You know, Emily, when a man comes home from sea after a
long voyage he’s as blind as a bat — he can’t see who’s who in
women. They are all alike to him, beautiful creatures, and he takes
the first that comes easy, without thinking if she loves him, or if he
might not soon love another better than her. From the first liked
you better, but you were so shy that I thought you didn’t want me
to bother you, and so | went to Joanna.’

‘Don’t say any more, Mr Jolliffe, don’t!” said she. “You are -
going to marry Joanna next month, and it is wrong to — to —’

‘0, Emily, my darling!’ he cried, and clasped her little figure
in his arms before she was aware.

Joanna, behind the curtain, turned pale, tried to withdraw
her eyes, but could not.

‘It is only you I love as a man ought to love the woman he is
going to marry; and I know this from what Joanna has said, that
she will willingly let me off! She wants to marry higher [ know, and
only said “Yes” to me out of kindness. A fine, tall girl like herisn’t
the sort for a plain sailor’s wife: you be the best suited for that.’

He kissed her and kissed her again.

‘I wonder — are you sure — Joanna is going to break off with
you? O, are you sure? Because — ’
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‘1 know she would not wish to make us miserable. She will
release me.’

‘O, I hope — I hope she will! Don’t stay any longer, Captain
Jolliffe!”

He stayed, however, till a customer came for a penny stick of
sealing-wax, and then he left.

Green envy’ had captured Joanna at the scene. Emily should
not know about her visit. She noiselessly escaped out of the house
into the street.

At the sight of that caress Joanna changed her mind. She
could not let Shadrach go. Reaching home she burnt the letter,
and told her mother that if Captain Jolliffe came she was too un-
well to see him.

Shadrach, however, did not come. He sent her a note ex-
pressing in simple language the state of his feelings; and asked to
be allowed to take advantage of the hints she had given him that
her feelings, too, were little more than friendly, by cancelling the
engagement®.

He waited and waited in his lodgings for an answer that did
not come. Finally after dark he went up the High Street to learn
his fate.

Joanna’s mothersaid her daughter had been upset by his let-
ter. Shadrach, feeling guilty, said that he had misunderstood her
attitude to him, and if he was wrong she was to think of the letter
as never having been written.

Next day he met Joanna. She said:

‘It is all the same as before between us, isn’t it, Shadrach?
Your letter was sent in mistake?’

‘It is all the same as before,” he answered, ‘if you say it
must be.’

‘I wish it to be,’ she said angry with Emily.

Shadrach was a religious and honest man, who respected his
word as his life. Shortly afterwards the wedding took place, Jolliffe

told Emily as gently as possible that he had been wrong to esti-
mate Joanna’s mood as one of indifference.
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TWO

A month after the marriage Joanna’s mother died, and the
couple were obliged to turn their attention to very practical mat-
ters. Now that she was left without a parent, Joanna did not like
the idea of her husband going to sea again, but the question was,
What could he do at home? They finally decided to buy a grocer’s
shop in High Street. Shadrach knew nothing of shopkeeping, and
Joanna very little, but they hoped to learn.

To the management of this grocery business they now de-
voted all their energies, and continued to conduct it for many years,
without great success. Two sons were born to them, whom their
mother adored, although she had never passionately loved her
husband; and she gave them all her love and care. But the shop did
not thrive, so she could not give her sons good education. Living
by the sea, they grew alert in all such nautical arts and enterprises
as were attractive to their age’.

The great interest of the Jolliffes’ married life, outside their
own problems, was in the marriage of Emily. At last the gentle girl
had been seen and loved by a thriving merchant of the town, a
widower, some years older than herself, though still in the prime of
life!. At first Emily had declared that she never, never could marry
any one; but Mr Lester was insistent and had at last she agreed to
marry him. Two children also were the fruits of this union, and, as
they grew and prospered, Emily declared that she had never sup-
posed that she could be so happy.

The merchant’s home, one of those large brick houses, stood
opposite to the grocery shop of the Jolliffes, and it now became
the pain of Joanna to think that the woman whose place she had
taken out of envy, was looking down from her position of com-
parative wealth. Joanna was obliged to serve in the shop herself;
and it upset and humiliated her that when she was trying to please
rare customers Emily was walking with her children and her gov-
erness, and talking with the nicest people of the town. This was
what she had gained by not releasing Shadrach Jolliffe, whom she
had so faintly loved.
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Shadrach was a good and honest man, and he was faithful to
her. His love for Emily gave way to the devotion to the mother of
his sons. Emily had become nothing more than a friend. It was the
same with Emily’s feelings for him.

Shadrach did not have the character necessary for develop-
ing a retail business in the face of many competitors.

‘Shadrach, the truth is, you are not a businessman,’ his wife
said one summer day. ‘You were not brought up to shopkeeping,
and it is impossible for a man to make a fortune at an occupation
he has jumped into, as you did into this.’

Jolliffe agreed with her, in this as in everything else. ‘Not
that I care about making a fortune,’ he said cheerfully. ‘1 am happy
enough, and we can manage somehow.’

She looked again at Emily’s the great house across the street.

‘Manage — yes,’ she said bitterly. ‘But see how rich Emmy
Lester is, who used to be so poor! Her boys will go to College, no
doubt; and think of yours — obliged to go to the Parish School!’

Shadrach’s thoughts had flown to Emily.

‘Nobody,” he said good-humouredly, ‘ever did Emily a bet-
ter turn than you did, Joanna, when you put an end to that little
nonsense between us, so as to leave it in her power to marry Lester.’

This almost maddened her.

‘Don’t speak of the past!” she said sadly. ‘But think, for the
boys’ and my sake, if not for your own, what are we to do to get
richer?’

"Well,” he said, becoming serious, ‘to tell the truth, I have
always felt myself unfit for this business, though I've never liked to
say so. I could get rich as well as any man, if I tried my own way.’

‘I wish you would! What is your way?’

“To go to sea again.’

She had been the very one to keep him at home, hating the
semi- widowed existence of sailors’ wives. But her ambition was
stronger than her instincts now, and she said: ‘Do you want to go,
Shadrach?’

“Not for the pleasure of it, I can tell you. There’s no such
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pleasure at sea, Joanna, as I can find in my backroom here. But if
it comes to a question of a fortune for you and the lads, it is an-
other thing. That’s the only way to it for a born sailor as I.’

‘Would it take long to earn?’

‘Well, that depends; perhaps not.’

The next morning Shadrach put on jacket he had worn dur-
ing the first months of his return, and walked down to the port.
The port still did a fair business in the Newfoundland trade, though
not so much as before.

It was not long after this that he invested all he possessed in
purchasing a part-ownership in a brig'', of which he was appointed
captain. In the spring the brig sailed for Newfoundland.

Joanna lived on at home with her sons, who were now grow-
ing up into strong lads, and occupying themselves in various ways
about the port.

‘Never mind, let them work a little,” their fond mother said
to herself. “When Shadrach comes home they will be only seven-
teen and eighteen, and they shall be removed from the port. With
the money they’ll have they will perhaps be as near to gentlemen
as Emmy Lester’s precious two, with their algebra and their Latin!’

When Sahdrach returned, he pulled out an enormous can-
vas bag, untied it, and shook the contents out into her lap as she
sat in her low chair by the fire. A mass of golden coins fell into her
lap, weighing down her

dress to the floor.

‘There!’ said Shadrach satisfied. ‘I told you, dear, I'd do it;
and have I done it or no?’

Somehow her face, after the first excitement of possession,
showed disappointment.

‘It is a lot of gold, indeed,’ she said. ‘And — is this a/[?’

‘All? Why, dear Joanna, do you know you can count to three
hundred in that heap? It is a fortune!’

“Yes — yes. A fortune — judged by sea; but judged by land —°
‘Well, you see, Shadrach,’ she said, ‘we count by hundreds;
they count by thousands (nodding towards the other side of the
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Street).” My dear Shadrach, you don’t know how the world moves.
However, we’ll do the best we can with it. But they are rich, and
we are poor still!’

Life went on. Joanna moved sadly about the house and shop,
and the boys were still occupying themselves in and around the
port.

‘Joanna,’ said Shadrach one day, ‘I see by your movements
that it is not enough.’

‘It is not enough,’ said she. ‘My boys will have to live by
steering the ships that the Lesters own; and I was once above her!’

Jolliffe was not an argumentative man, and he only said that
he thought he would make another voyage.

He thought for several days, and coming home from the port
one afternoon said suddenly:

‘I could do it for you, dear, in one more trip, for certain,
if —if —~

‘If what?’

‘If I might take the boys.’

She turned pale.

‘Don’t say that, Shadrach,’ she answered hastily.

‘Why?’

‘I don’t like to hear it! There’s danger at sea. I want them to

- be gentlemen, and no danger to them. I couldn’t let them risk
their lives at sea. O, | couldn’t ever, ever!’

“Very well, dear, it shan’t be done.’

Next day, after a silence, she asked a question:

‘If they were to go with you it would make a great deal of
difference, I suppose, to the profit?’

‘It would me much more what 1 should get single-handed.
Under my eye they would be as good as two more of myself. The
boys are almost as clever as master-mariners in handling a craft."
They’ve practised here from their youth. And they are so steady
and reliable.’ :

‘And is it very dangerous at sea; now, too, there are rumours
of war?’ she asked uneasily. '
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‘0, well, there be risks. Still ...’

The idea grew, capturing the mother’s heart. Shadrach’s wife
could not help thinking about their comparative poverty. The young
men, friendly as their father, were ready to sail; and though they,
like their father, had no great love for the sea, they became quite
enthusiastic when the proposal was discussed in detail.

At last Joanna gave the word: the young men might accom-
pany their father. Shadrach was unusually cheerful about it.

All that the Jolliffes possessed in the world was put into the
enterprise. The grocery stock was cut down to the least that possi-
bly could let Joanna live through their absence'.

THREE
The brig sailed on a Monday morning in spring; but Joanna
did not witness its departure. When she came down she saw the
words chalked on the surface of the bureau but no husband or sons.
In the hastily-written lines Shadrach said they had gone off like
that because they did not want to upset her; and the sons had

chalked under his words: ‘Good-bye, mother!’

She ran to the harbour, but she could only see the masts and
sails of the Joanna; no human figures. ‘1 have sent them!’ she said
wildly, and burst into tears. In the house the chalked ‘Good-bye’
nearly broke her heart. But when she had re-entered the front
room, and looked across at Emily’s, her thin face was lit with tri-
umph.

To do Emily Lester justice, her superiority was mainly the
result of Joanna’s imagination. The merchant’s wife was, of course,
more well-off than Joanna, but whenever the two met, which was
not very often now, Emily tried to hide the difference by every
means in her power.

Emily was, in truth, her only large customer; and Mrs Lester’s
kind readiness to buy anything and everything without question-
ing the quality hurt Joanna. Once Emily came to see her ex-friend.
She had heard that Joanna began to worry; she had received no
letter from husband or sons for some months.

109



‘ You are all success, and [ am all the other way!’ said Joanna.

‘But why do you think so?’ said Emily. ‘They may bring back
a fortune, I hear.’

‘Ah! will they come? The doubt is more than a woman can
bear. All three in one ship — think of that! And I have not heard of
them for months!’

‘But the time is not up.’

‘Nothing will repay me for the grief of their absence!’

“Then why did you let them go? You were doing fairly well.’

‘I made them go!’ she said, turning angrily upon Emily. ‘And
I'll tell you why! I could not bear that we are so poor, and you so
rich and thriving! Now 1 have told you, and you may hate me if
you will”’

‘I shall never hate you, Joanna.’ ;

And she proved the truth of her words afterwards. The end of
autumn came, and the brig should have been in port; but nothing
like the Joanna appeared in the channel between the sands. Joanna
Jolliffe sat by the fire. She had always feared and hated the sea. To
her it was a cruel creature. ‘Still,” she said, ‘they must come!’

Nevertheless they did not come. Her sufferings were her pun-
ishment for the sin of making them the slaves of her ambition.
Months had passed, but the brig had not returned.

, Joanna’s shop had as it were, eaten itself hollow.'* In the apa-
thy which had resulted from her loneliness and grief she had
stopped to take in the smallest supplies, and as a result had sent
away her last customer.

Emily Lester tried by every means in her power to help the
poor woman; but she met with constant rejection.

_ ‘I don’t like you! I can’t see you!” Joanna would whisper an-
grily when Emily came to her.
- ‘But I want to help you, Joanna,” Emily would say.

“You are a lady, with a rich husband and fine sons! What do
you want with an unhappy old woman like me!’

‘Joanna, I want this: I want youto come and live in my house,
and not stay alone in this lonely place any longer.’
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‘And suppose they come and don’t find me at home? You
wish to separate me and mine! No, I'll stay here. I don’t like you,
and I can’t thank you, whatever kindness you do me!’

However, as time went on Joanna could not afford to pay the

tent of the shop and house without an income. She was assured

that there was no hope of the return of Shadrach and his sons, and
she reluctantly agreed to move to the Lesters’ house. Here she was
given a room of her own on the second floor, and she went and
came as she chose, without contact with the family. Her hair greyed
and whitened, deep lines appeared on her forehead. But she still
expected the lost ones, and when she met Emily on the staircase
she would say: ‘I know why you've got me here! They’ll come, and
be disappointed at not finding me at home, and perhaps go away
again. You want to revenge on me for my taking Shadrach away
from you!’

Emily Lester was sure — all the people of Havenpool were
sure — that Shadrach and his sons had gone to the bottom.

It was a damp and dark December night, six years after the
departure of the brig Joanna. Joanna had prayed her usual prayer
for the absent ones and had fallen asleep about eleven. It must
have been between one and two when she suddenly heard steps
in the street, and the voices of Shadrach and her sons calling at
the door of the grocery shop. She got up and ran down Emily’s
large and carpeted staircase into the street. She came up to the
shop in a moment. Nobody stood there. The unhappy woman
walked wildly up and down with her bare feet — there was not a
soul. She returned and knocked at the door which had once been
her own.

Several minutes later the young man who now kept the shop
looked out of an upper window, and saw the skeleton of some-
thing human standing below half-dressed.

‘Has anybody come?’ asked the form.

‘O, Mrs Jolliffe, 1 didn’t know it was you,’ said the young
man kindly. He knew of her baseless expectations.

‘No; nobody has come.’
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Vocabulary

congregation npuxoxaHe

pulpit xadeapa B LUepPKBU, C KOTOPOH CBALIEHHHUK YUTACT
NIPOTIOBENHU -
deliberative roBop/iMBEI

care for 30. 1o6UTH

release oTmmyckarn

slip mpoCKONb3HYTh, HE MPUBJIEKast BHUMaHUSA

indifference Oe3pa3uune, paBHOLYILINE

shopkeeping Toprosis

humiliate yHuxarb

retail pO3HUYHBIN

argumentative J1004 111 CIIOPUTH

enterprise rpeanpusiTHe

Notes

1.  for my narrow escape from shipwreck — 3a 10, 4TO MO/
KOpalJib uyaoM u3bexan KopabieKpyleHus

2.  General Thanksgiving — o0muit 6;1aroqapcTBEHHbIN MO-
JTlebeH

3. in the Newfoundland trade — nmoctynuB Ha KOpa0OJb,
COBepIIaBLIKI TOProBbie peiickl B HprodayHuieH

4.  She lived with her father, who called himself an accountant,
but she had to keep a little stationery-shop as a supplemental
provision for the gaps of his somewhat incertain business. —
OHa XuJia BMECTE C OTLIOM, KOTOPBIW Ha3biBaj ceds
(pMHAHCOBBIM KOHCYJIBTAHTOM, HO TaK KaK 3TO 3aHATHEC
JaBaJ10 €My HETMOCTOSIHHBIM 10X01, TO HOYb JAepxaja
HeOONBLION Mara3uHYKMK KaHIEISIPCKUX TOBAPOB.

5. to win him away from her gentler and younger rival — oTOuTh
€ro y cBoeit 60jee CMUMINATUYHOM M MOJIOIOM COMEPHHUIIBI

6. there was always the chance of an attractive woman mating
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10.
11.
12,

13.

14.

considerably above her — oHa, KaK KpacHBasi XEHIIMHA,
MOTJIa PACCYMUTHIBATD, UTO 01aronaps 3aMyXeCcTBy CMOXeT
BBILLE MOAHATHCS TIO 001IECTBEHHOM JIECTHULIE

green envy — Xry4asi 3aBUCTh

by cancelling the engagement — pacTOprHyB MTOMOJIBKY
they grew alert in all such nautical arts as were attractive to
their age — OHM HaJIOBYMUIHUCH BO BCEM, YTO OTHOCHJIOCH K
MOpEIIaBaHUI0, TaKOMY TMPHUBIEKATETbBHOMY [/
MaJIBYMKOB MX BO3pacTa

in the prime of life — B pacuBeTe cui

in purchasing a part-ownership in a brig — B nokynky Opura
Ha masix '

The boys are almost as clever as master-mariners in handling
a craft.— MajpyuKy YMEIOT BOIMTh CYAHO HE XYX€ HHOTO
IIKMIIEpa.

The grocery stock was cut down to the least that possibly could
let Joanna live through their absence. — 3anacel ToBapa st
TaBKM OBUTH CBEIEHB K MUHUMYMY — JIUIIb Obl JIXXOaHHE
TIPOXXUTD 10 BO3BPALLEHUS MYXa U CbIHOBEM.

Joanna’s shop had, as it were, eaten itself hollow. — Marasux
JI;KOaHHBI KaK-TO caMm coboil repectal cylleCTBOBATS.

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) Why did Shadrach Jolliffe come to the church?

2) Which of the two girls did Shadrach choose at first?
3) What happened after his meeting with Joanna?

4) Why did Joanna come to Emily’s shop?

5) What did Shadrach say to Emily?

6) What was the reaction of Joanna?

7) What did Shadrach do for a living after his marriage?
8) What happened to Emily?
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9)

What made Shadrach go to sea again?

10) Did Joanna believe that Shadrach and her sons were

dead?

Say whether the statement is true or false. If it is false, give the
right answer.

a)

b)
c)

d)
€)

f
g)

Shadrach lost his parents when he was young and went
to sea, in the Newfoundland trade.

Emily lived with her father and kept a grocer’s shop.
Joanna liked Shadrach’s attention but she had never
been deeply in love with him.

Shadrach did not have the character necessary for de-
veloping a retail business.

Joanna agreed at once to let her husband and sons go
to sea.

Emily hated Joanna for her taking Shadrach’s away.
Joanna refused to live in Emily’s house.

Find in the text the English for:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

MOJIMTBEHHMK,
OTBECTH B3TJISAI,
paszborareTh;

0Ka3aTh XOPOLIYIO YCIIYIY;
YIIPaBJIATL KOpadIIMHU.

Fill in the gaps with the verbs from the box.

to adore to object
to afford  to care
to win to misunderstand
1) Joanna’s conscience reproached her for Shadrach

2)

away from her friend. _
Shadrach was sure that Joannadid not  for him more
than in a friendly way.
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3)
4)

5)

6)

Joanna ___ her sons although she had never passion-
ately loved her husband. '

Joanna could not __ to pay the rent of the shop and
house without an income.

Joanna decided that she would not ____ to give Shadrach
back again to Emily if her friend felt so very badly about
him.

Joliffe told Emily as gently as possible that he ___
Joanna'’s feelings.

Change the sentences to reported speech.

1)

‘I didn’t know it was teatime’, said Shadrach to Emily
and her father. ‘I’ll have a cup with much pleasure.’

2) ‘Don’t run away, Emily!” said Shadrach.

3) ‘Afine, tall girl like her isn’t the sort for a plain sailor’s
wife,’ said Shadrach to Emily.

4) ‘Shadrach, you are not a businessman,’ his wife said
one day.

5) ‘Why did you let them go to sea?’ asked Emily, looking
at her friend.

Prove that:

1) Shadrach Joliffe was a good and honest man.

2) Joanna was an ambitious woman.

3) Emily Lester did not hate Joanna.

4) Shadrach and his sons became the slaves of Joanna’s
ambition.

What do you think?

1) Why do you think Shadrach at first choose Emily? Why

was he then attracted to Joanna? Did he make the right
choice? Do you think that Emily suited him better?
Why?
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2) What can you say about Joanna? Was she a good friend,
wife and mother? Give your reasons.

3) Why did she win Shadrach away from her friend? Did
her envy do her good? Can envy do people good? Give
your reasons.

4) What do you think of Joanna’s ambition? Was she right
to sacrifice the lives of her husband and sons for the sake
of her boundless ambition? Is it good to be an ambi-
tious person? Can you name ambitious people?

5) Would you like to make a fortune? Say how people made
fortunes in the past and how they make fortunes now.
Do you think that anybody can make a fortune? What
can help to make a fortune: luck or hard work?

The Son’s Veto

ONE

To the eyes of a man viewing it from behind, the nut-brown
hair was a wonder and a mystery. Under the black hat with black
feathers the long locks, arranged like the rushes of a basket', com-
posed a rare example of ingenious art.

And she had done it all herself, poor thing. She had no maid,
and it was almost the only accomplishment she could boast of.

She was a young invalid lady, sitting in a wheeled chair, which
had been pulled up close to a bandstand, where a concert was go-
ing on, during a warm June afternoon. It took place in one of the
minor parks or private gardens that you can find in the suburbs of
London, and was organized by a local association to raise money
for some charity.

During the concert many of the listeners observed the chaired
lady. When the lady turned her head, she proved to be not so hand-
some and less young than the people behind had had fancied her
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tobe. Yet her face was unquestionably attractive and not at all sickly.
Its details were seen each time she turned to talk to a boy of twelve
or thirteen who stood beside her. The shape of his hat and jacket
showed that he belonged to a well-known public school. Some
people could hear that he called her ‘Mother’.

When the concert was over, she was conducted out of the
gardens, and passed along the pavement till she disappeared from
view. The schoolboy was walking beside her. To inquiries made by
some persons who watched her away, the answer came that she
was the second wife of the incumbent of a neighbouring parish,
and that she was lame. She was generally believed to be a woman
with a story — an innocent one, but a story of some sort or other.

On their way home the boy who walked at her elbow said
that he hoped his father had not missed them.

‘He have been so comfortable these last few hours that [ am
sure he cannot have missed us,’ she replied.

‘Has, dear mother — not have!” exclaimed the public-school
boy. ‘Surely you know that by this time!’

His mother hastily adopted the correction, and did not resent
his making it. After this the pretty woman and the boy went in silence.

That question of grammar was connected with her history,
and rather sad one.

In North Wessex, forty miles from London, near the thriv-
ing county-town of Aldbrickham, there stood a pretty village with
its church, which she knew well enough, but her son had never
seen. It was her native village, Gaymead, and the first event re-
lated to her present situation had happened at that place when she
was only a girl of nineteen.

How well she remembered it, that first act in her little tragi-
comedy, the death of her husband’s first wife. It happened on a
spring evening, and she who now and for many years had taken
that first wife’s place was then parlour-maid in the parson’s house.

When everything had been done that could be done, and the
death was announced, she had gone out in the evening to visit her
parents, who were living in the same village, to tell them the sad
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news. As she opened the white swing-gate and looked towards the
trees, she saw, without much surprise, the figure of a man standing
in the hedge, though she exclaimed as a matter of form’ , ‘Oh,
Sam, how you frightened me!’

He was a young gardener. She told him the particulars of the
event, and they stood silent, these two young people, in that calmly
philosophic mind which comes when a tragedy has happened close
at hand®, and has not happened to the philosophers themselves.

‘And will you stay on now at the Vicarage, just the same?’
asked he.

She had hardly thought of that. ‘Oh, yes — I suppose!” she
said. ‘Everything will be just as usual, I imagine?’

He walked beside her towards her mother’s house. Then his
arm stole round her waist. She gently removed it; but he placed it
there again, and she let it stay there. ‘You see, dear Sophy, you
don’t know that you’ll stay on; you may want a home; and I shall
be ready to offer one some day, though I may not be ready just yet.’

“Why, Sam, how can you be so fast! I've never even said 1
liked you; and it is all your own doing, running after me!’

‘Still, it is nonsense to say I can’t have a try at you like the
rest.” He wanted to kiss her good-bye, because they had reached
her mother’s door.

‘No, Sam; don’t do this!’ she cried, putting her hand over
his mouth. “You ought to be more serious on such a night as this.’
And she left him.

The vicar just left a widower was at this time a man about
forty years of age, of good family, and childless. For many months
after his wife’s death the economy of his household remained as
before; the cook, the housemaid, the parlour-maid, and the man
out-of-doors* performed their duties or left them undone. It was
then proved to the parson that his servants seemed to have nothing
to do in his small family of one. He was struck with the truth of
this, and decided to cut down his establishment. But he was fore-
stalled by Sophy, the parlour-maid, who said one evening that she
wished to leave him.
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‘And why?’ said the parson.

‘Sam Hobson has asked me to marry him, sir.’

‘Well — do you want to marry?’

‘Not much. But it would be a home for me. And we have
heard that one of us will have to leave.’

A day or two after she said: ‘I don’t want to leave just yet, sir,
if you don’t wish it. Sam and I have quarrelled.’

He looked up at her. He had hardly ever observed her be-
fore, though he had been frequently conscious of her soft pres-
ence in the room. What a kitten-like, tender creature she was! What
should he do if Sophy were gone? _

Sophy did not go, but one of the others did, and things went
on quietly again.

When Mr Twycott, the vicar, was ill, Sophy brought up his
meals to him, and she had no sooner left the room one day than he
heard a noise on the stairs. She had slipped down with the tray,
and so twisted her foot that she could not stand. The village sur-
geon was called in; the vicar got better, but Sophy stayed in bed for
along time. Then she was informed that she must never again walk
much or stand long on her feet. As soon as she was comparatively
well she spoke to him alone. Since she was forbidden to walk and
bustle about, and, indeed, could not do so, it became her duty to
leave. She could very well work at something sitting down, and she
had an aunt a seamstress.

The parson had been very greatly moved by what she had
suffered on his account, and he exclaimed, ‘No, Sophy; lame or
not lame, I cannot let you go. You must never leave me again!’

He came close to her, and, though she could never exactly
tell how it happened, she felt his lips upon her cheek. He then
asked her to marry him. Sophy did not exactly love him, but she
had a respect for him, and she agreed to become his wife.

Mr Twycott knew perfectly well that he had committed
social suicide by this step, despite Sophy’s spotless character,
and he had taken necessary measures. An exchange of livings
had been arranged with a man who was incumbent of a church
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in the suburb of London, and as soon as possible the couple
moved there, abandoning their pretty country home, with trees
and shrubs, for a narrow, dusty house in a long, straight street.
They were now away from every one who had known her former
position.

Sophy the woman was a charming partner, though Sophy
the lady was not perfect. She showed a natural aptitude for little
domestic refinements, so far as related to things and manners; but
in what is called culture she was less intuitive.’ She had now been
married more than fourteen years, and her husband had taken
much trouble with her education; but she still held confused ideas
on the use of ‘was’ and ‘were’, which did not bring her respect for
her among the few acquaintances she made. Her great grief in this
relation was that her only child, on whose education no expense
had been and would be spared®, was now old enough to see these
deficiencies in his mother, and not only to see them but to feel
irritated at their existence.

She lived on in the city, and wasted hours in doing her beauti-
ful hair. Her foot had never regained its natural strength after the
accident, and she was mostly obliged to avoid walking altogether.
Her husband had begun to like London for its freedom and its do-
mestic privacy; but he was twenty years older than Sophy, and had
recently fallen ill. On this day, however, he had seemed to be well
enough to let her accompany her son Randolph to the concert.

TWO

Mr Twycott had never recovered from his illness. The boy had
dutifully followed him to the grave, and was now again at school.

Sophy was left with no control over anything that had been
her husband’s beyond her modest personal income. Her husband
had been afraid that her inexperience could be overreached and had
safeguarded with trustees all he possibly could.” He had arranged
that his son would complete the course at the public school, to be
followed in due time by Oxford and ordination. Sophy really had
nothing to occupy her in the world but to eat and drink and go on
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doing her the nut-brown hair. She could only keep a home open
for the son whenever he came to her during vacations.

Her husband realized that he would probably die long vears
before her, so in his lifetime he had purchased for her use a small
villa in the same long, straight road. She could live in it as long as
she wanted. Here she now lived, looking at the never-ending traffic.

Her boy, with his aristocratic school-knowledge, drifted fur-
ther and further away from her. He preferred his wealthy and titled
friends. In her son’s eyes Sophy was a mother with village origin
and grammar mistakes which made him as a gentleman blush. He
did not need her love. If he had lived at home with her he would
have had it all; but now it remained stored.

Sophy’s life became very dull; she could not take walks, and
had no interest in going for drives, or, indeed, in travelling any-
where. Nearly two years passed without an event, and still she
looked on that suburban road, thinking of the village in which she
had been born, and where she would have gone back — O how
gladly! — even to work in the fields.

Taking no exercise, she often could not sleep, and would rise
in the night or early morning to look out upon the road. Early
every morning about one o’clock the country vehicles started to
pass with loads of vegetables for Covent Garden market.

They had an interest, almost a charm, for Sophy, these semi-
rural people and vehicles moving in an urban atmosphere, leading
a life quite different from that of the daytime travellers on the same
road. One morning a man who accompanied a wagon-load of po-
tatoes examined the house-fronts as he passed, and with a curious
emotion she thought he looked familiar to her. She looked out for
him again. His old-fashioned wagon with a yellow front, it was
easily recognizable, and on the third night after she saw it a sec-
ond time. The man alongside was Sam Hobson, formerly gardener
at Gaymead, who had asked her at one time to marry him.

She had occasionally thought of him, and wondered if life in
a cottage with him would not have been happier than the life she
had accepted. She had not thought of him passionately, but now

121



she was very lonely, and his reappearance interested her. She went
back to bed, and began thinking. When did these market-garden-
ers, who travelled up to town so regularly at one or two in the morn-
ing, come back? She remembered seeing their empty wagons,
hardly noticeable amid the ordinary day-traffic, passing down at
some hour before noon.

It was only April, but that morning, after breakfast, she had
the window opened, and sat looking out. She affected to sew, but
her eyes never left the street. Between ten and eleven the desired
wagon, now empty, reappeared on its return journey. But Sam was
not looking round him then, and drove on deep in thought.

‘Sam!’ cried she.

He turned, his face lighted up. He called to him a little boy
to hold the horse, and came and stood under her window.

‘I can’t come down easily, Sam, or I would!” she said. ‘Did
you know I lived here?’

‘Well, Mrs Twycott, I knew you lived along here somewhere.
| have often looked out for you.’

He briefly explained his own presence on the scene. He had
long since given up his gardening in the village near Aldbrickham,
and was now manager at a market-gardener’s® on the south side of
London. It was part of his duty to go up to Covent Garden with
wagon-loads of produce two or three times a week. He admitted
that he had come to this particular district because he had seen in
the Aldbrickham paper, a year or two before, the announcement
of the death in South London of the former vicar of Gaymead and
he decided to find her.

They spoke of their native village in dear old North Wessex,
the spots in which they had played together as children. She tried
to feel that she was a dignified personage now, that she must not be
too confidential with Sam. But she could not keep it up, and the
tears hanging in her eyes were indicated in her voice.

“You are not happy, Mrs Twycott, I'm afraid?’ he said.

‘0, of course not! I lost my husband only the year before last.’

‘Ah! I meant in another way. You’d like to be home again?’
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“This is my home — for life. The house belongs to me. But I
understand’ — she let it out then. ‘Yes, Sam. I long for home —
our home! I should like to be there, and never leave it, and die
there.” But she remembered herself. ‘That’s only a momentary
feeling. I have a son, you know, a dear boy. He’s at school now.’

‘Somewhere handy, I suppose? I see there are lots of them
along this road.’

‘O no! Not in one of these holes! At a public school — one of
the best in England.’

' ‘Of course! I forget, ma’am, that you’ve been a lady for so
many years.’

‘No, I am not a lady,” she said sadly. ‘I never shall be. But
he’s a gentleman, and that — makes it — O how difficult for me!’

THREE

The acquaintance so oddly reopened continued. She often
looked out to get a few words with him, by night or by day. Her
sorrow was that she could not accompany her one old friend on foot
a little way, and talk more freely than she could do while he paused
before the house. One night, at the beginning of June he entered
the gate and said softly, ‘Now, wouldn’t some air do you good? I've
only half a load this morning. Why not ride up to Covent Garden
with me? There’s a nice seat on the cabbages, where I've spread a.
sack. You can be home again in a cab before anybody is up.’

She refused at first, and then, trembling with excitement,
hastily finished her dressing, and wrapped herself up in cloak and
veil and came downstairs with the help of the handrail in a way she
could adopt on an emergency. When she had opened the door she
found Sam on the steps, and he lifted her on his strong arm across
the little court into his vehicle. Not a soul was seen or heard. The
air was fresh as country air at this hour, and the stars shone, except
to the north-east, where there was a whitish light — the dawn.
Sam carefully placed her in the seat, and drove on.

They talked as they had talked in old days. Sam pulled him-
self up now and then, when he thought himself too familiar, More
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than once she wondered if she ought to have stayed at home. ‘But
I am so lonely in my house,’ she added, ‘and this makes me so
happy?’

It grew lighter and lighter. The sparrows became busy in the
streets. When they approached the river it was day, and on the bridge
they saw the full blaze of morning sunlight in the direction of St.
Paul’s, the river glistening in the sun, and not a boat stirring.

Near Covent Garden he put her into a cab, and they parted,
looking into each other’s faces like the very old friends they were.
She reached home without adventure, limped to the door, and let
herself in with her key unseen.

The airand Sam’s presence had revived her; her cheeks were
quite pink — almost beautiful. She had something to live for in
addition to her son.

Soon she gave way to the temptation of going with him again,
and on this occasion their conversation was more tender, and Sam
said he had never forgotten her, though that she had served him
rather badly at one time. After much hesitation he told her of a
plan he wanted to carry out, since he did not care for London work:
it was to set up as a master greengrocer down at Aldbrickham, the
county-town of their native place. He knew of a shop kept by aged
people who wished to retire.

‘And why don’t you do it, then, Sam?’ she asked.

‘Because I'm not sure if — you’d join me. I know you
wouldn’t — couldn’t! Such a lady as ye’ve been so long, you
couldn’t be a wife to a man like me.’

‘I hardly suppose I could!’ she agreed, also frightened at the
idea.

‘If you could,’ he said eagerly, ‘you’d only have to sit in the
back room and look through the glass partition when I was away
sometimes — just to keep an eye on things ... I'd keep you as gen-
teel as ever | could, dear Sophy — if  might think of'it!” he pleaded.

‘Sam, I'll be frank,’ she said, putting her hand on his. ‘If it
were only myself I would do it, and gladly, though everything |
possess would be lost to me by marrying again.’
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‘I don’t mind that! It’s more independent.’

“That’s good of you, dear, dear Sam. But there’s something
else.  have ason ... He is so much educated and I so little that I do
not feel dignified enough to be his mother ... Well, he would have
to be told.’

“Yes. Unquestionably.” Sam saw her thought and her fear.
*Still, you can do as you like, Sophy — Mrs Twycott,” he added. ‘It
is not you who are the child, but he.’

‘Ah, you don’t know! Sam, if I could, I would marry you,

‘some day. But you must wait a while, and let me think.’

It was enough for him, and he was happy at their parting.
Not so she. To tell Randolph seemed impossible. She could wait
till he had gone up to Oxford, when what she did would affect his
life but little. But would he ever tolerate the idea? And if not, could
she defy him?

It was on an evening when they were alone in their plain
suburban residence, where life was not blue but brown®, that she
told her son of a probable second marriage. She assured him that
it would take place when he would be living quite independently
of her.

The boy thought the idea a very reasonable one, and asked if
she had chosen anybody? She hesitated.

He hoped his stepfather would be a gentleman? he said.

‘Not what you call a gentleman,” she answered. ‘He’ll be
much as I was before I knew your father;” and she him the rest.
The youth’s face remained fixed for a moment; then leant on the
table and burst into passionate tears.

His mother went up to him, kissed all of his face that she
could get at, and patted his back as if he were still the baby he once
had been. When he had somewhat recovered he went hastily to his
own room and locked the door.

Sophy waited and listened. It was long before he would talk
to her, and when he did it was to say sternly at her from his room:
‘I am ashamed of you! It will ruin me! A miserable boor!'* a churl'
It will degrade me in the eyes of all the gentlemen of England!’
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‘Say no more — perhaps I am wrong! I will struggle against
it!” she cried miserably.

Before Randolph left her that summer a letter arrived from
Sam to inform her that he had got the shop. It was the largest shop
in the town, combining fruit with vegetables, and he thought it
would form a home worthy even of her some day. Might he not run
up to town to see her?

She met him by stealth, and said he must still wait for her
final answer. When Randolph was home at Christmas for the holi-
days she touched the matter again. But the young gentleman was
inexorable.

It was dropped for months; renewed again; abandoned; again
attempted. In the whole the gentle creature reasoned and pleaded
till four or five long years had passed. Sophy’s son, now an under-
graduate, was down from Oxford one Easter, when she again
opened the subject. As soon as he was ordained, she argued, he
would have a home of his own, and she, with her bad grammar
and her ignorance, would be an obstacle to him.

He showed a more manly anger now, but did not agree. She
on her side was more persistent, and he had doubts whether she
could be trusted in his absence. He took her before a little cross
and altar that he had erected in his bedroom for his private prayers
and made her swear that she would not marry Samuel Hobson
without his consent. ‘I do it for the sake of my father!” he said.

The poor woman swore, thinking he would soften as soon as
he was ordained and busy with his clerical work. But he did not.
His education had by this time sufficiently ousted his humanity to
keep him quite firm''; though his mother might have led an idyllic
life with her faithful fruiterer and greengrocer.

Her lameness became stronger as time went on, and she sel-
dom or never left the house. ‘Why mayn’t I say to Sam that I’ll
marry him? Why mayn’t I?” she would say to herself when nobody
was near.

Some four years after this date a middle-aged man was stand-
ing at the door of the largest fruiterer’s shop in Aldbrickham. He
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was the owner, but today, instead of his usual business clothes, he
wore a black neat; and his window was partly shuttered. From the
railway-station a funeral procession was seen approaching: it passed
his door and went out of the town towards the village of Gaymead.
The man, whose eyes were wet, held his hat in his hand as the
vehicles moved by; while from the coach a young smooth-shaven
priest in a high waistcoat'> looked black as a cloud at the shop-
keeper standing there.

Yocabulary

ingenious OpUIrUHATBHBIN

incumbent pUXOICKMIA CBAILIEHHUK
parlour-maid ropanuHas

parson nacTop, NMPUXOACKMii CBAIIEHHUK
vicarage 1OM CBsIIEeHHUKA

forestall onepexars

bustle about x10moTaTE, CYeTUTHCH
living e pKOBHBIN TTpUXO

deficiency HemocTaTok

defy npoTuBOCTOSTEL

inexorable HenpekTOHHBIIA

ordain mocBsAIIATE B IYXOBHBIi caH

Notes

the rushes of a basket — npyTea Kop3uHbI

as a matter of form — g npunnuusg

close at hand — psinom, Henonanexy

the man out-of-doors — cagoBHUK

She showed a natural aptitude for little domestic refinements,
so far as related to things and manners; but in what is called
culture she was less intuitive. — OHa Jierko ycsanBana Bcé,

L —
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10.
11.

12.

YTO KacaJoCh JIOMAIlIHETO yiOTa M MaHEpP, HO 3TOrO IpH-
POIHOIO YyThsl OKa3aJoCh HEJOCTATOUHO IS MPHOOpE-
TEHUS TOIO, YTO Ha3bIBAETCS KYIBTYPOIA.

on whose education no expense had been and would be
spared — Ha 00y4eHWE KOTOPOTO CPEACTB HE Xalean

Her husband had been afraid that her inexperience could be
overreached and he had safeguarded with trustees all he pos-
sibly could. — 13 onacenust, yto Codu 110 ee HEOTTBITHOCTH
MOTYT OOMaHyTh, OH OPYYUJI ONEKYHAM KOHTPOJIUPOBATH
BCE OCTaJIbHOE.

at a market-gardener’s — y bepmepa, KoTophiil 3aHUMaeTCs
BBIpalllMBaHUEM OBOILEMA Ha Npoaaxy

where life was not blue but brown — rzne o6¢cTaHoBKa 6bL1a
JaJIeKO HE apUCTOKPAaTHYHOM, a HA0DOPOT, caMOi CKpoM-
HOW

A miserable boor! — Xankwuit kpecTbsiHuH, 1epeBeHIIHA!
His education had by this time sufficiently ousted his human-
ity to keep him quite firm — OH ocraBayics HenokoAeOUM:
YYEHOCTb yXe YCTeJla BBITPAaBUTh B HEM YEJIOBEYECKUE
YYBCTBa

in a high waistcoat — B omexne cBAlIEHHUKA

Exercises

Answer the questions.

1) Why did Sophy attract attention of many people in the
park?

2) How did Sophy become the wife of the vicar?

3) Inwhat way did Sophy spend her life after the death of
her husband?

4) What did Sam propose to Sophy?

5) Where did Randolph study and work?

6) Where was Sophy buried?
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Complete the sentences.

1) Sophy did her long hair herself because g

2) Mr Twycott knew that he committed social suicide by
marrying Sophy so he :

3) Sophy told herself that she must not be too confidential
with Sam because

4) Randolph made his mother swear that

5) Sophy thought that her son would soften as soon as

Find in the text the English for:

1) OnaroTBOpUTe/IbHAA aKIIUsl,
2) TIOABEPHYTH HOTY,

3) yCTYNnuTb COOJIa3HYy;

4) nomwbexaTh B FOPOL;

5) yKpaakom.

Match the words in two columns and say in what situations they are
used in the story.

1) tocall in a) no expense

2) to oust b) money

3) to spare ¢) establishment
4) to cut down d) humanity

5) to raise €) a surgeon

Fill in the gaps with the verbs from the box.
retire be degraded
fancy forestall affect

1) Sophy turned her head, and the people at the concert
saw that she was less young that they her to be.

2) The parlourmaid the vicar telling him that she
wished to leave.
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3)
4)

5)

Sophy to sew, but her eyes never left the street.
Sam bought a shop kept by aged people who wished to

Randolph was sure that if his mother had married a
greengrocer he in the eyes of his wealthy and titled
friends.

Choose the appropriate attributes from the box and give character
sketches of:

Sophy Twycott  Sam Hobson Randolph Twycott

poor kind inexperienced

sad friendly attentive

young selfish respectful

cruel weak charming

insistent unhappy gentlemanly
dignified proud educated
lonely faithful miserable

What do you think?

I)

2)

3)

4)

Did Sophy live a happy life? What kind of relations did
she have with her husband and son? Would her life have
been happier if she had married Sam?

What kind of a person was Randolph? Why did he for-
bid his mother to get married again? Did he have the

right to do it? Do we have the right to demand sacrifices

from other people?

Why do you think Sophy did not defy her son? Did she
do it out of love for him? Do you approve of such love?
Do you think that Sophy needed to be more firm? Is it
important to defend your own happiness?

What do you think of Sam’s feelings? Is it possible nowa-
days to meet people who could be so faithful? Are you
capable of such faithfulness and patience?

An Imaginative Woman

When William Marchmill had finished his inquiries for lodg-
ings at the well-known watering-place of Solentsea in Upper
Wessex, he returned to the hotel to find his wife. She, with the
children, had rambled along the shore, and Marchmill followed
in the direction indicated by the military-looking hall-porter.

‘How far you’ve gone! I am quite out of breath,” Marchmill
said, rather impatiently, when he approached his wife, who was
reading as she walked, the three children being considerably fur-
ther ahead with the nurse.

“Will you come and see if what I’ve found? There is not much
choice, 1 am afraid. The town is rather full.”

The pair left the children and nurse to continue their ramble,
and went back together.
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The husband’s business was that of a gunmaker in a thriving
city, and his soul was in that business always; the lady was best
characterised as ‘a votary of the muse' *. An impressionable crea-
ture was Ella, suffering from detailed knowledge of her husband’s
trade whenever she thought that everything he manufactured had
for its purpose the destruction of life.

In spite of this, she had never regarded this occupation of his
as any objection to having him for a husband. Indeed, the neces-
sity of getting life-leased at all cost?, a cardinal virtue which all
good mothers teach, kept her from thinking of it at all till she had
married William, had passed the honeymoon. Then she came to
some vague conclusions, and since then had kept her heart alive
by pitying her husband’s obtuseness, pitying herself, and letting
off her delicate emotions in imaginative occupations, day-dreams,
and night-sighs.

Her figure was small and elegant. She was dark-eyed, and
had that bright sparkle in her eyes which characterises persons of
Ella’s cast of soul’, and is too often a cause of heartache to men.
Her husband was a tall, long-featured man, with a brown beard;
and was, it must be added, usually kind and tolerant to her.

Husband and wife walked till they had reached the house
they were in search of, which stood in a terrace facing the sea. It
had a small garden of wind-proof and salt-proof evergreens, with
stone steps leading up to the porch. The spot was bright and lively
now; but in winter it became necessary to place sandbags against
the door, and to stuff up the keyhole against the wind and rain.

The householder, who had been waiting for the gentleman’s
return, met them in the passage, and showed the rooms. She in-
formed them that she was a professional man’s* widow, left in needy
circumstances by the rather sudden death of her husband.

Mrs Marchmill said that she liked the house; but it was small,
and she wanted to have all the rooms. The landlady was disap-
pointed. She wanted the visitors to be her tenants very badly, she
said. with obvious honesty. But unfortunately two of the rooms
were occupied permanently by a gentleman. He kept on his rooms
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all the vear round, and was an extremely nice and interesting young
man, who gave no trouble. So she did not like to turn him out for
amonth’s ‘let,’ even at a high figure. ‘Perhaps, however,” she added,
‘he might offer to go for a time.’

They would not hear of this, and went back to the hotel, in-
tending to inquire further. When they had sat down to tea the land-
lady called. Her gentleman, she said, had been so nice as tp offer
to give up his rooms for three or four weeks rather than drive the
Newcomers away.

‘Tt is very kind, but we won’t inconvenience him in that way,’
said the Marchmills.

‘0, it won’t inconvenience him!” said the landlady. ‘You see,
he’s a different sort of young man from most — dreamy, lonely,
rather melancholy — and he cares more to be here when the winds
are beating against the door, and there’s not a soul in the place,
than he does now in the season. He’s going temporarily to a little
cottage on the Island opposite, for a change.’

The Marchmill family took possession of the house next day,
and it seemed to suit them very well. After lunch Mr Marchmill
went towards the pier, and Mrs Marchmill, having sent the chil-
dren to their outdoor amusements on the sands, settled herself in
more completely, examining this and that object.

In the small back sitting-room, which had been the young
gentleman'’s, she found furniture of a more personal nature than
in the rest. Shabby books, of correct rather than rare editions’, were
piled up in corners.

‘I’Il make this my own little room,’ said Mrs Marchmill to
the landlady, ‘because the books are here. By the way, the person
who has left seems to have many books. He won’t mind my read-
ing some of them, Mrs Hooper, 1 hope?’

‘O no, ma’am. Yes, he has many books. You see, he isa poet —
yes, really a poet — and he has a little income of his own, which is
enough to write verses on, but not enough for cutting a figure®.’

‘A poet! O, I did not know that.’

Mrs Marchmill opened one of the books, and saw the owner’s
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ngme written on the title-page. ‘Dear me!” she continued; ‘I know
his name very well — Robert Trewe — of course I do; and his writ-
ings! And it is his rooms we have taken, and him we have turned
out of his home?’ '

Ella Marchmill, sitting down alone a few minutes later,
thought with interested surprise of Robert Trewe. Her own history
will best explain that interest. She herself had during the last year
or two started writing poems, trying to escape from emotional stag-
nation caused by practical responsibilities and dull life. These po-
ems, subscribed with a masculine pseudonym, had appeared in
various magazines. Once on the page which had her poem at the
bottom, in small print, at the top, in large print, there were pub-
lished a few verses on the same subject by this very man, Robert
Trewe. Both of them had, in fact, been struck by a tragic incident
_reported in the daily papers, and had used it simultaneously as an
inspiration. The editor remarked in a note upon the coincidence,
saying that he had given them together because both were very
good.

After that event Ella, otherwise ‘John Ivy’, had watched with
much attention the appearance anywhere in print of poems with
the signature of Robert Trewe. Mrs Marchmill passed herself off
as a man because she was sure that nobody would believe in her
inspiration if they found that the sentiments came from a pushing
tradesman’s wife and mother of three children.

Trewe’s verse contrasted with that of the rank and file’ of re-
cent minor poets in being very passionate. He was little attracted
py excellences of form and rhythm apart from content, his feel-
ings were often very strong.

With sad and hopeless envy Ella Marchmill had often and
often scanned the rival poet’s work, so much stronger as it always
was than her own lines. She had imitated him, and her inability to
touch his level sent her into despair. Then she learned from the
publishers’ list that Trewe had collected his pieces into a volume,
which was issued, and was much praised, and had a sale quite suf-
ficient to pay for the printing.
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This step had suggested to John Ivy the idea of making up a
book of her own rhymes. A ruinous charge was made for costs of
publication® ; a few reviews noticed her poor little volume; but no-
body talked of it and nobody bought it.

Fortunately she was going to have a third child, and the col-
lapse of her poetical venture had perhaps less effect upon her mind
than it might have done if she had been domestically unoccupied.
Her husband had paid the bills of the publisher and the doctor,
and there it all had ended for the time. But later on Ella began to
feel the old inspiration again. And now by an odd coincidence she
found herself in the rooms of Robert Trewe.

She thoughtfully rose from her chair and searched the apart-
ment with interest. Yes, the volume of his own verse was among
the rest. She called up Mrs Hooper, the landlady, for some small
service, and asked again about the young man.

‘Well, I'm sure you'd be interested in him, ma’am, if you
could see him, only he’s so shy that | don’t suppose you will. He is
mostly writing or reading, and doesn’t see many people, though
he is such a good, kind young fellow that people would be glad to
be friendly with him if they knew him. You don’t meet kind-hearted
people every day.’

‘Ah, he’s kind-hearted ... and good.’

“Yes. Still he’s odd in some things. Once when he had fin-
ished a poem of his composition late at night he walked up and
down the room rehearsing it. The floors are so thin — jerry-built
houses’, you know, though — he kept me awake up ... But we get
on very well.’

This was but the beginning of a series of conversations about
the rising poet. On one of these occasions Mrs Hooper attracted Ella’s

attention to what she had not noticed before: minute scribblings in
pencil on the wallpaper behind the curtains at the head of the bed.

‘O! let me look,” said Mrs Marchmill, unable to conceal cu-
riosity as she bent her pretty face close to the wall.

“These,’ said Mrs Hooper, with the manner of a woman who
knew things, ‘are the very beginnings and first thoughts of his verses.
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He has tried to rub most of them out, but you can read them still.
I believe that he wakes up in the night, you know, with some rhyme
in his head, and writes it down there on the wall because he doesn’t
want to forget it by the morning. Some of these very lines you see
here I have seen afterwards in print in the magazines. Sovme are
newer; indeed, I have not seen that one before. It must have been
done only a few days ago.’

‘Ovyes! ..

Ella Marchmill suddenly wished her companion would go
away. She felt personal interest rather than literary, She wanted to
read the inscription alone. .

Ella’s husband spent his time sailing. He went without his
wife, who was a bad sailor. The life of Ella was monotonous enough,
and mainly consisted in bathing and walking up and down the
shore. But the poetic flame was strong again, and she did not no-
tice the things around her.

She had read till she knew by heart Trewe’s last little volume
of verses, and spent a great deal of time trying in vain to rival some
ofthem. She was surrounded day and night by his customary envi-
ronment, which literally whispered of him to her at every moment:
but he was a man she had never seen. Ella did not realize that all
that moved her was the instinct to specialize a waiting emotion on
the first suitable thing on her path.'

One evening she had a further talk with the landlady.

“You are interested in Mr Trewe, I know, ma’am,’ said the
landlady; ‘he has just sent to say that he is going to call tomorrow
afternoon. He needs some of his books. May he take them from
your room?’

‘O yes!’

“You could very well meet Mr Trewe then, if you like!’

She promised with secret delight, and went to bed thinking
of him.

Next morning her husband observed: ‘1 have gone sailing a
good deal and left you without much to amuse you. Today, as there’s
not much sea'', I’ll take you with me on board the yacl‘vtt.’
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For the first time in her experience of such an offer Ella was
not glad. Now she was clearly in love with the poet, and her desire
to see him overpowered all other considerations.

She told her husband that she did not want to sail. He was
indifferent, and went his way.

For the rest of the day the house was quiet. The children had
gone out upon the sands. Mrs Marchmill became impatient. The
books were in the room where she sat; but nobody came up. Then
Mrs Hooper came in.

‘So disappointing!’ she said. ‘Mr Trewe is not coming after
all! I forgot to tell you that Mr Trewe sent a note just before lunch
to say that he would not need the books, and wouldn’t come to
get them.’

Ella was miserable, and for a long time could not even re-
read his ballads. So aching was her little heart, and so tearful were
her eyes. When the children came in with wet stockings, and ran
up to her to tell her of their adventures, she could not feel that she
cared about them half as much as usual.

‘Mrs Hooper, have you a photograph of — the gentleman
who lived here?”

‘Why, yes. It’s in frame on the mantelpiece in your own bed-
room, ma’am.’

‘No; the Royal Duke and Duchess are in that.’

‘Yes, so they are; but he’s behind them. As he went away he
said: “Cover me up from those strangers that are coming, for God’s
sake. I don’t want them staring at me, and I am sure they won’t
want me staring at them.” So I put the Duke and Duchess in front
of him. If you take ’em out you’ll see him under. No, ma’am, he
wouldn’t mind if he knew it! He didn’t think the next tenant would
be such an attractive lady as you.’

Just then a telegram was brought up. It came from her hus-
band, who had gone down the Channel as far as Budmouth with
his friends in the yacht, and would not be able to get back till

next day.
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Ella refrained from running upstairs and opening the pic-
ture-frame. She preferred to see the photo alone, in a more ro-
mantic evening atmosphere.

Ella went to her room when it was not yet ten o’clock. First
she put on her dressing-gown, then arranged a chair in front of the
table and read several pages of Trewe’s tender verses. Next she
brought the portrait-frame to the light, opened the back and took
out the photograph.

It was a remarkable face. The poet had a luxuriant black
moustache and beard, and a hat, which shaded the forehead. The
large dark eyes were sad.

Ella fell into thought, till her eyes filled with tears, and she
touched the picture with her lips. Then she laughed with a ner-
vous lightness, and wiped her eyes.

She thought how bad she was, a woman having a husband
and three children, to spend much time thinking about a stranger.
No, he was not a stranger! She knew his thoughts and feelings as
well as she knew her own; they were, in fact, the same thoughts
and feelings as hers, which her husband lacked.

She put his book and the picture on the table and re-read
those of Robert Trewe’s verses, which she had marked from time
to time as most touching and true. Then she set up the photo-
graph on its edge on the bed and scanned again by the light of the
candle the pencillings on the wallpaper beside her head. No doubt,
they had often been written up by the light of the moon, in the
rays of the lamp, in the blue-grey dawn, and perhaps never in full
daylight. And now she was here, feeling the very essence of him.

While she was dreaming, she heard her husband’s heavy steps.
‘Ell, where are you?’ '

She could not have described her feelings, but, she did not
want to let her husband know what she had been doing. She slipped
the photograph under the pillow just as he opened the door, with
the air of a man who had dined not badly.

‘How is it you’ve come?’

‘Well, we found we could get back in very good time after all.”
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Next morning Marchmill woke up at six o’clock. Ella heard
him saying to himself: ‘What is this that’s been crackling under
me?’ He searched round him and found something. Through her
half-opened eyes she saw that it was Mr Trewe.

*What’s that?” her husband exclaimed.

‘What, dear?’ said she.

‘A photograph of a man — a friend of our landlady, I suppose.’

‘1 was looking at it yesterday, and it must have dropped on
the bed then.’ .

‘0, he’s a friend of yours? Looks picturesque!’

Ella’s loyalty to the object of her admiration could not en-
dure to hear him ridiculed. ‘He’s a clever man!’ she said, with a
tremor in her gentle voice which she herself felt to be absurdly
uncalled for. ‘He is a rising poet — the gentleman who occupied
two of these rooms before we came, though I've never seen him.’

‘How do you know, if you’ve never seen him?’

‘Mrs Hooper told me when she showed me the photograph.’

‘0, well, I must go. Sorry I can’t take you today, dear.’

A week later the Marchmill family were sitting in the train
leaving the place which had produced so much passion in Ella.
She could no longer see the deep blue sea, and with it her poet’s
home. Heavy-hearted, she tried to read, and wept instead.

Mr Marchmill and his family lived in a large new house a
few miles outside the city where he carried on his trade. Ella’s life
was lonely here, and she had much time to write poems. She had
hardly got back when she saw a piece by Robert Trewe in the new
number of her favourite magazine, which must have been written
almost immediately before her visit to Solentsea. It contained the
very lines she had seen pencilled on the wallpaper by the bed. Ella
could resist no longer. She seized a pen impulsively and wrote to
him as a brother-poet, using the name of John Ivy, congratulating
him in her letter on his latest poetic success as compared with her
own poor efforts in poetry.

To this address there came a response in a few days, in which
the young poet stated that, though he was not well acquainted with
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Mr Ivy’s verse, he remembered the name as being the author of
some very promising pieces; that he was glad to gain Mr lvy’s ac-
quaintance by letter, and should certainly look with much interest
for his productions in the future. '

Their correspondence continued for two months or more.
Ella Marchmill sent him from time to time some that she con-
sidered to be the best of her pieces, which he very kindly ac-
cepted, but he did not send her any of his own in return. A flat-
tering little voice told her that if he saw her, matters would be
different. A friend of her husband’s, the editor of the most im-
portant newspaper in their city and county, who was dining with
them one day, said during their conversation about the poet that
his (the editor’s) brother, the landscape-painter, was a friend of
Mr Trewe’s, and that the two men were at that very moment in
Wales together.

Ella was slightly acquainted with the editor’s brother. The
next morning she sat down and wrote, inviting him to stay at her
house for a short time on his way back, and asking him to bring
with him, if possible, his companion Mr Trewe, whom she wanted
to meet. The answer arrived some days later. Her correspondent
and his friend Trewe would have much satisfaction in accepting
her invitation on their way back, which would be on such and such
a day in the following week.

Ella was happy. Her plan had succeeded; her beloved though
as yet unseen one was coming.

It was about five in the afternoon when she heard a ring at
the door and the editor’s brother’s voice in the hall. Soon her visi-
tor entered the drawing-room, but nobody else came through the
door. Where, in the name of the God of Love, was Robert Trewe?

‘0O, I’'m sorry,” said the painter, after their introductory words
had been spoken. ‘Trewe is a curious fellow, you know, Mrs
Marchmill. He said he’d come; then he said he couldn’t. He’s
rather dusty, and he wanted to get on home.’

‘He — he’s not coming?’

‘He’s not; and he asked me to make his apologies.’
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She wanted to run away from this dreadful bore and cry her
eyes out.

“The truth is, he’s a little bit depressed just now, and doesn’t
want to see anybody. He’s a very good fellow, and a warm friend,
but a little uncertain and gloomy sometimes. His poetry is rather
too erotic and passionate, you know; and he hasbeen severely criti-
cized by the Review that was published yesterday; he saw a copy of
it at the station by accident. Perhaps you’ve read it?’

‘No.’

‘So much the better. O, it is not worth thinking of; just one
of those articles written to order. But he’s upset by it. He can stand
a fair attack'?, but he can’t stand lies that he’s powerless to refute
and stop from spreading. That’s just Trewe’s weak point. He lives
so much by himself that these things impress him too much.’

“Has he never said anything about getting letters from this
address?’

“Yes, yes, he has, from John Ivy — perhaps a relative of yours,
he thought, visiting here at the time?’

‘Did he — like Ivy, did he say?’

‘Well, 1 don’t know that he was much interested in Ivy.’

‘Or in his poems?’

‘Or in his poems — so far as | know, that is.’

Robert Trewe was not interested in her house, in her poems,
or in their writer. As soon as she could get away she went into the
nursery and tried to let off her emotion by unnecessarily kissing
the children, till she had a sudden sense of disgust at being re-
minded how ordinary-looking they were, like their father.

A day or two later, when she was sitting upstairs alone one
morning, she glanced over the London paper and read the follow-
ing paragraph:

SUICIDE OF A POET
M Robert Trewe, who has been favourably known for some years
as one of our rising poets, committed suicide at his lodgings at
Solentsea on Saturday evening by shooting himself in the right
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temple with a revolver. Readers hardly need to be reminded that
Mr Trewe has recently attracted the attention of the public by his
new volume of verse, mostly of a passionate kind, entitled Lyrics
to a Woman Unknown, which has been made the subject of a se-
vere criticism in the Review. It is supposed that the article may
have been the reason of his death, as a copy of the review was
found on his writing-table; and he has been observed to be in a
somewhat depressed state of mind since the critique appeared.

Then came the report of the inquest, at which the following
letter was read. It was addressed to a friend at a distance:

DEAR —, I will not trouble you by giving my reasons for the step
I have taken, though I can assure you they were sound and logi-
cal. Perhaps if | had had a mother, or a sister, or a female friend
of another sort tenderly devoted to me, I might have thought it
worthwhile to continue my present existence. | have long dreamt
of such an unattainable creature, as you know, and she, this unmet
one, inspired my last volume; the imaginary woman alone, be-
cause, in spite of what has been said by some people, there is no
real woman behind the title. Tell my landlady that [ am sorry to
trouble her; but my occupancy of the rooms will soon be forgot-
ten. There are sufficient funds in my name at the bank to pay all
expenses. R, TREWE.

Ella sat for a while, then rushed into her bedroom in tears.

Her grief shook her to pieces; she lay on the bed more than
an hour. Broken words came every now and then from her trem-
bling lips: ‘O, if he had only known of me — known of me — me!
... 0, if I had only once met him — only once; put my hand upon
his hot forehead — kissed him — let him know how I loved him —
that I would have lived and died for him! Perhaps it would have
saved his dear life! ...~

She wrote to the landlady at Solentsea, sending some money
and asking Mrs Hooper to get a small portion of his hair before his
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coffin was closed down, and send it her as a memorial of him, as
also the photograph that was in the frame.

By the return-post a letter arrived containing what had been
requested. Ella cried over the portrait and locked it in her private
drawer; the hair she tied with white ribbon and put in her bosom.
She drew it and kissed it every now and then.

‘What’s the matter?’ said her husband, looking up from his
newspaper on one of these occasions. ‘Crying over something? A
lock of hair'*? Whose is it?’

‘He’s dead!” she whispered.

‘Who?’

‘] don’t want to tell you, Will, just now!” she said, with a sob
in her voice.

‘0, all right.’

Mr Marchmill, too, was aware of a suicide at the house they
had occupied at Solentsea. He had seen the volume of poems in
his wife’s hand and heard fragments of the landlady’s conversa-
tion about Trewe when they were her tenants, and now he all at
once said to himself, ‘Why of course it’s he! ... How did she get to
know him? What sly animals women are!’ '

By this time Ella at home had come to a determination. Mrs
Hooper had informed her of the day of the funeral. Caring very
little now what her husband or anyone else might think of her ec-
centricities, she wrote Marchmill a brief note, stating that she was
called away for the afternoon and evening, but would return on
the following morning. This she left on his desk. Then she gave
the same information to the servants and went out of the house on
foot.

When Mr Marchmill reached home early in the afternoon
the servants looked worried. Marchmil drove to the railway-sta-
tion, and took a ticket for Solentsea.

It was dark when he reached the place. He asked the way to
the Cemetery, and soon reached it. The gate was locked, but the
keeper let him in, declaring, however, that there was nobody there.
Although it was not late, the autumnal darkness had now become
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intense; and he found some difficulty in keeping to the path. Fi-
nally he saw an object beside a newly made grave. Ella heard him,
and sprang up.

‘Ell, how silly this is!” he said indignantly. ‘It is too ridicu-
lous that you, a married woman with three children and a fourth
coming, should go losing your head like this over a dead lover! ...
Do you know you were locked in? You might not have been able to
get out all night.’

She did not answer.

‘I won’t tolerate any more of this sort of thing; do you hear?’

‘Very well,’ she said.

He conducted her out of the Cemetery.

The months passed, and neither of them ever ventured to
start a conversation upon this episode. Ella seemed to be only too
frequently in a sad mood. The time was approaching when she

“would have to undergo the stress of childbirth for a fourth time,
and that apparently did not raise her spirits.

‘1 don’t think I shall get over it this time!” she said one day.

‘Pooh! What childish thinking! Why shouldn’t it be as well
now as ever?’ ¢

She shook her head. ‘I feel almost sure I am going to die;
and I should be glad, if it were not for Nelly, and Frank, and Tiny.’

‘And me!’

“You’ll soon find somebody to take my place,’ she said, with a
sad smile. ‘And you’ll have a perfect right to do it; [ am sure of that.’

‘Ell, you are not thinking still about that — your poetical
friend?’

She neither admitted nor denied it.

In fact, six weeks later she was lying in her room, pulseless
and bloodless, with hardly strength enough left. The boy for whose
life she was slowly parting with her own was fat and well. Just be-
fore her death she spoke to Marchmill softly —

“Will, I want to confess to you the entire circumstances of that
time we visited Solentsea. I can’t tell what had happened to me —
how I could forget you so, my husband! I thought you had been un-
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kind; that you hadn’t paid attention to me; that you weren’t up to my
intellectual level, while he was, and far above it. I wanted somebody
who could appreciate me, perhaps, rather than another lover —’

She could get no further then because she was tired. She died
a few hours later, without having said anything more to her hus-
band on the subject of her love for the poet. William Marchmill
then was little disturbed by retrospective jealousies, but a couple
of years after her death, when he was looking through some for-
gotten papers that he wished to destroy before his second wife en-
tered the house, he found a lock of hair in an envelope, with the
photograph of the poet. The date was written on the back in his
wife’s hand. It was that of the time they spent at Solentsea.

Marchmill looked long at the hair and portrait, because
something struck him. He went to the nursery and came up to the
little boy who had been the reason of his mother’s death. He took
him on his knee, held the lock of hair against the child’s head, and
set up the photograph on the table behind, so that he could closely
compare the features of two faces.

By a known but inexplicable trick of Nature there was un-
doubtedly strong resemblance to the man Ella had never seen; the
child had the same dreamy expression of the poet’s face, and the
hair was of the same colour.

‘Then she did play me false with that fellow at the lodgings!’
said Marchmill. ‘Let me see: the dates — the second week in Au-
gust ... the third week in May ... Yes ... yes ... Get away! You are
nothing to me!’

Vocabulary

ramble nporyimeaTtscs

thriving npouBeTarOMNAN

obtuseness rJ1yrnocTb, OrpaHUYEHHOCTh
tenant xumen

pushing sHepruYHbIA, MPEANIPUUMYHBBIA
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despair oTuasiHue

luxuriant nblLHbIH

picturesque >XUBONUCHbII

uncalled for HeyMecTHbLIA

refute orrpoBeprarp

inquest criencTeue

bosom rpyab

sly XUTpblii, KOBapHBIFi

venture pucKOBaHHas 3aTest, OTBAXKUBATLCH

1.
12,
13.

Notes

a votary of the muse — 1100MTe1bHMLIA TTO33UHU

the necessity of getting life-leased at all cost — Heobxonu-
MOCTb J11000ii LieHO# 0becTieunTh CBOE Oyayliiee

persons of Ella’s cast of soul — poacTeeHHbIe ¢ DT0MH AyIIm
professional man — uyenoBek cBOGOIHOM TTpodeccum
(amBoKar, Bpay, CBSALICHHUK U M. A.)

of correct rather than rare editions — 0OBIUHbIE, HE PENKHE
U31aHHUs1

for cutting a figure — uTOOLI IPOMKO 3aBUTL O cebe

the rank and file — ocHoBHas macca, OOJIBLTUHCTBO
jerry-built houses — HemnpouHbIe TOMa, MOCTPOEHHDIE
KOe-Kak

Aruinous charge was made for costs of publication — U3nanue
KHWTH 00O0LLJIOCH B Pa30PUTENBHYIO CYMMY

Ella did not realize that all that moved her was the instinct to
specialize a waiting emotion on the first suitable thing on her
path. — Dnya He oco3HaBania, YTO €10 ABUTaI0 MHCTHHK-
TUBHOE XeJaHME MCIOAb30BaTh UIS BBHIPAXKEHHUS HAKO-
ITUBILIMXCS YYBCTB MEPBBIU MOTIABLUIMICS ITOBOI.

there’s not much sea — Ha Mope CIIOKOitHO

stand a fair attack — cTepnerb cripaBel/IMBYIO KPUTHKY
lock of hair — nokon
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Exercises

Answer the questions.

1)  Where did the Marchmills go for their vacation?

2) Can you describe William Marchmill?

3) How did Ella spend her life at home?

4) What pseudonym did Ella use?

5) Who was Robert Trewe?

6) What was Mr Trewe’s weak point?

7)  Why did Mr Trewe commit suicide?

8) What made William Marchmill go to the watering-place
in autumn?

9) What did Wiliam say when he found the photograph of
the poet?

Say whether the statement is true or false. If it is false, give the
right answer,

1) Ella and William Marchmill had three children.

2) The landlady of the house in Solentsea was the mother
of the poet.

3) Ella’s book of rhymes was well received by the public
and literary reviews.

4) During their stay at Solentsea William Marchmill went
sailing without his wife who was a bad sailor.

5) On learning that her husband was to be absent Ella
rushed to see the photograph of the poet.

6) Ella wrote to the landlady at Solentsea informing her of
the poet’s death.

7)  When Mr Marchmill arrived to the cemetery, he found
Ella at the newly made grave.

Find in the text the English for:

1) BriewaTJuTENbHOE CO3AaHUE;
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2) rnaBHasi 10OpOMETENb;

3) BBITOHATDH paau CAA4yd BHAEM Ha MECHLL;

4) Heynaya 3areM ¢ NyOJIUKalUed CTUXOB;

5) Haamucu Ha 000sIX, CHEJIAHHBIE KapaHJalloM,;
6) TIepecUIMBaTh BCE OPYTHUE COOOPaKEHUS;

7) 3aKa3HbIe CTaTbH.

Suggest the Russian for:

1) to escape from emotional stagnation;

2) if she had been domestically unoccupied;

3) to let off her emotion;

4) you weren’t up to my intellectual level;

5) William was little disturbed by retrospective jealousies.

Fill in the gaps with the words from the box.

to affect in needy circumstances
lodgings to lack
play false

1) Terrible criticism could Robert Trewe less if he
did not live so much by himself.

2) William Marchmill spent much time inquiring for

3) Ella felt that Robert Trewe had the same thoughts and
feelings as hers, which her husband

4) Mrs Hooper was left by the sudden death of her
husband.

5) William Marchmill thought that his wife him

with the poet.
Say why:
1) Mrs Hooper asked the poet to give up his rooms for a

month.
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2) Ella preferred to stay in the poet’s room.

3) Ella chose a masculine pseudonym.

4) Ella decided to invite Mr Trewe to her house.

5) Robert Trewe stayed away from Ella.

6) Ella did not tell her husband what really happened in
Solentsea.

What do you think?

1) What do you think of William and Ella? Were they happy
together? Did they have common interests?

2) What do you feel about Ella? Do you like her? Give your
reasons. Was she strong or weak? Why was poetry so
important to her?

3) What kind of man do you think was Robert Trewe? Why
was he lonely? Could he love a real woman?

4) What do you think of Ella’s love for the poet? Would her

feelings have changed if she had got to know the real
Robert Trewe? Was she able to leave her husband and
children for the sake of her lover?
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